



Sezione di Patologia Generale

Insulin pathway and its correlation with ageing and longevity

Dottorato di ricerca in Biopatologia XXIV Ciclo SSD MED/04

Giulia Accardi

Tutor: Prof.ssa Giuseppina Candore Coordinatore: Prof. Calogero Caruso

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstr	act of papers produced during PhD course and relevant to this thesis	5
List o	fabbreviation	19
1.	Introduction	21
1.1	Ageing and longevity	21
1.2	Insulin /IGF-1 and NF-kB pathways: key role in ageing and longevity	29
1.3	Age related diseases	35
1.4	Different approaches to study ageing and longevity	39
1.41	Candidate gene approach	39
1.42	Genome-wide association study	42
1.43	Systematic review and meta-analysis	43
2.	Aim of the thesis	47
3.	Can Alzheimer Disease Be a Form of Type 3 Diabetes?	49
4.	NF-κB pathway activators as potential ageing biomarkers: targets for	new
therap	peutic strategies	55
5.	Association of KLOTHO polymorphisms with healthy ageing: a system	natic
reviev	v and meta-analysis	73
6.	Association between genetic variations in insulin/insulin-like growth f	actor
(IGF-	1) signaling pathway and longevity: a systematic review and metaanalys	is 95
7.	SHIP2: a "NEW" insulin pathway target for ageing research	125
8.	Discussion and conclusion	141
Refer	ences	151

ABSTRACT OF PAPERS PRODUCED DURING PhD COURSE AND RELEVANT TO THIS THESIS

 Accardi G, Caruso C, Colonna-Romano G, Camarda C, Monastero R, Candore G. Can Alzheimer disease be a form of type 3 diabetes? Rejuvenation Res. 2012;15:217-21.

Abstract

Alzheimer disease (AD) and metabolic syndrome are two highly prevalent pathological conditions of Western society due to incorrect diet, lifestyle, and vascular risk factors. Recent data have suggested metabolic syndrome as an independent risk factor for AD and pre-AD syndrome. Furthermore, biological plausibility for this relationship has been framed within the "metabolic cognitive syndrome" concept. Due to the increasing ageing of populations, prevalence of AD in Western industrialized countries will rise in the near future. Thus, new knowledge in the area of molecular biology and epigenetics will probably help to make an early molecular diagnosis of dementia. An association between metabolic syndrome and specific single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the gene INPPL1, encoding for SHIP2, a SH2 domain-containing inositol 5-phosphatase involved in insulin signaling, has been described. According to recent data suggesting that Type 2 diabetes represents an independent risk factor for AD and pre-AD, preliminary results of a case-control study performed to test the putative association between three SNPs in the SHIP2 gene and AD show a trend toward association of these SNPs with AD.

 Di Carlo M, Giacomazza D, Picone P, Nuzzo D, Vasto S, Accardi G, Caruso C, San Biagio P.L. A close connection: Alzheimer's disease and type 2 diabetes. Curr. Topics Biochem. Res. 2012; 14:1-13. Abstract

In the recent years a growing body of evidence links insulin resistance and insulin action to neurodegenerative diseases. especially Alzheimer's disease (AD). The importance of insulin in ageing as well as its role in cognition and other aspects of normal brain functions are well established. The hippocampus and cerebral cortex-distributed insulin and insulin receptor (IR) have been shown to be involved in brain cognitive functions. Conversely, deterioration of IR signaling is involved in ageing related brain degeneration such as in AD and cognitive impairment in type 2 diabetes patients. Insulin administration, while maintaining euglycemia, improves memory in both healthy adults and Alzheimer's disease patients. In the present review, some common links between AD and type 2 diabetes are presented. Furthermore, several biochemical aspects existing in both pathologies are highlighted.

 Balistreri CR, Candore G, Accardi G, Bova M, Buffa S, Bulati M, Forte GI, Listì F, Martorana A, Palmeri M, Pellicanò M, Vaccarino L, Scola L, Lio D, Colonna-Romano G. Genetics of longevity. data from the studies on Sicilian centenarians. Immun Ageing. 2012; 9:8. Abstract

The demographic and social changes of the past decades have determined improvements in public health and longevity. So, the number of centenarians is increasing as a worldwide phenomenon. Scientists have focused their attention on centenarians as optimal model to address the biological mechanisms of "successful and unsuccessful ageing". They are equipped to reach the extreme limits of human life span and, most importantly, to show relatively good health, being able to perform their routine daily life and to escape fatal age-related diseases, such as cardiovascular diseases and cancer. Thus, particular attention has been centered on their genetic background and immune system. In this review, we report our data gathered for over 10 years in Sicilian centenarians. Based on results obtained, we suggest longevity as the result of an optimal performance of immune system and an overexpression of anti-inflammatory sequence variants of immune/inflammatory genes. However, as well known, genetic, epigenetic, stochastic and environmental factors seem to have a crucial role in ageing and longevity. Epigenetics is associated with ageing, as demonstrated in many studies. In particular, ageing is associated with a global loss of methylation state. Thus, the aim of future studies will be to analyze the weight of epigenetic changes in ageing and longevity.

4. Caruso C, Accardi G, Virruso C, Candore G. Sex, gender and immunosenescence: a key to understand the different lifespan between men and women? Immun Ageing. 2013;10:20.

Excerpta

Gender and sex are known to be associated with longevity. While males are usually stronger, females live longer. In the Western world, the life expectancy of individual born between 2005 and 2010 is 80.4 for women and 73.4 for men [1]. Potential factors have been examined to explain this disagreement. It is possible distinguish advantage in longevity related to biological traits and factors related to socio-cultural characteristics of the population. Males and females have different behavioural tendencies, social responsibilities and expectation. So, differences in mortality between men and women can be not only a matter of sex that refers to biological differences, but also a matter of "socially constructed sex", i.e. gender [2,3]. One of the main interaction between gender and longevity is linked to the kind of job. Indeed, in the to-day elderly, professional exposure to stressors was stronger in males rather than in females [4].

 Incalcaterra E, Accardi G, Balistreri CR, Caimi G, Candore G, Caruso M, Caruso C. Pro-inflammatory genetic markers of atherosclerosis. Curr Atheroscler Rep. 2013;15:329.

Abstract

Atherosclerosis (AS) is a chronic, progressive, multifactorial disease mostly affecting large and medium-sized elastic and muscular arteries. It has formerly been considered a bland lipid storage disease. Currently, multiple independent pathways of evidence suggest this pathological condition is a peculiar form of inflammation, triggered by cholesterolrich lipoproteins and influenced both by environmental and genetic factors. The Human Genome Project opened up the opportunity to dissect complex human traits and to understand basic pathways of multifactorial diseases such as AS. Population-based association studies have emerged as powerful tools for examining genes with a role in common multifactorial diseases that have a strong environmental component. These association studies often estimate the risk of developing a certain disease in carriers and non-carriers of a particular genetic polymorphism. Dissecting out the influence of proinflammatory genes within the complex pathophysiology of AS and its complications will help to provide a more complete risk assessment and complement known classical cardiovascular risk factors. The detection of a risk profile will potentially allow both the early identification of individuals susceptible to disease and the possible discovery of potential targets for drug or lifestyle modification; i.e. it will open the door to personalized medicine.

 Balistreri CR, Candore G, Accardi G, Colonna-Romano G, Lio D. NFκB pathway activators as potential ageing biomarkers: targets for new therapeutic strategies. Immun Ageing. 2013;10:24. Abstract

Chronic inflammation is a major biological mechanism underpinning biological ageing process and age-related diseases. Inflammation is also the key response of host defense against pathogens and tissue injury. Current opinion sustains that during evolution the host defense and ageing process have become linked together. Thus, the large array of defense factors and mechanisms linked to the NF- κ B system seem to be involved in ageing process. This concept leads us in proposing inductors of NF- κ B signaling pathway as potential ageing biomarkers. On the other hand, ageing biomarkers, represented by biological indicators and selected through apposite criteria, should help to characterize biological age and, since age is a major risk factor in many degenerative diseases, could be subsequently used to identify individuals at high risk of developing age-associated diseases or disabilities. In this report, some inflammatory biomarkers will be discussed for a better understanding of the concept of biological ageing, providing ideas on eventual working hypothesis about potential targets for the development of new therapeutic strategies and improving, as consequence, the quality of life of elderly population.

7. Caruso C, Candore G, **Accardi G**, Virruso C, Di Bona D. Association of Klotho polymorphisms with healthy ageing: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Rejuvenation Res. 2013. [Epub ahead of print].

Abstract

Nowadays is clearly evident that genetic background constitutes integral part of ageing and longevity. Many studies on long lived people have been conducted emphasizing the role of certain genes in long life. Classic case-control studies, genome wide association studies and high throughput sequencing have permitted to identify a variety of genetic variants seemingly associated with longevity. Over the years, ageing research has focused on insulin/IGF-1 signaling pathway because of its evolutionary conserved correlation with life-span extension in model animals. Indeed, many single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), associated with longevity were identified in genes encoding proteins that take part in this metabolic pathway. Closely related to this pathway is the Klotho gene. It encodes a type-I membrane protein expressed in two forms, membrane and secreted. The last form acts suppressing oxidative stress and growth factor signaling and regulating ion channels and transporters. In particular, its over-expression seems to be able to suppress insulin/IGF-1 signaling extending life span. Thus, our aim was to put together the results showed in literature concerning the association between the functional variant of KLOTHO "KL-VS" stretch that contains six polymorphisms in linkage disequilibrium and successful ageing to quantify the possible effect of the variants. The results of our systematic review indicate that Klotho KL-VS variant is associated with healthy ageing.

 Virruso C, Accardi G, Colonna Romano G, Candore G, Vasto S, Caruso C. Nutraceutical properties of extravirgin olive oil: a natural remedy for age-related disease? Rejuvenation Res. 2013. [Epub ahead of print].

Abstract

The health benefits of the Mediterranean Diet can be largely ascribed to the nutraceutical properties of extra-virgin olive oil (EVOO). Monounsaturated fatty acids and various phenolic compounds such as oleocanthal, oleuropein, hydroxytyrosol and tyrosol are the main nutraceutical substances of EVOO. These substances have been suggested to have the ability to modulate ageing- associated processes. In experimental models, it was shown that EVOO with high concentration of poliphenols has anti-inflammatory and antioxidant properties. Indeed, it was observed that hydroxytyrosol, as well as oleocanthal, inhibit the cyclooxygenases (COX-1 and 2), responsible for prostaglandin production; oleuropein is a radical scavenger that blocks the low-density lipoproteins oxidation. Due to the relevance of the olive oil in the economy of Sicily, our group has been funded to assess the nutraceutical properties of different kinds of olive oil. Indeed, the aim of the study is to evaluate effects of EVOOs, with low and high polyphenols content, on the immuno- inflammatory and oxidative stress responses in young and old people. Further objective of our group is to evaluate effects of EVOO, with low and high polyphenols content, on the expression of genes encoding proteins that take part in Insulin/Insulin-like growth factor-1 signaling pathway involved in longevity. The results of the study will be useful to produce olive oil enriched in nutraceutical properties, likely helpful in the prevention of age-related diseases.

 Accardi G, Virruso C, Balistreri CR, Emanuele F, Licastro F, Monastero R, Porcellini E, Vasto S, Verga S, Caruso C, Candore G. SHIP2: a "NEW" insulin pathway target for ageing research. Rejuvenation Res. 2013. [Epub ahead of print].

Abstract

Strong evidence suggests that systemic inflammation and central adiposity contribute to and perpetuate metabolic syndrome. All of these alterations predispose individuals to type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), cardiovascular disease, as well as Alzheimer's disease (AD), all characterized by chronic inflammatory status. On the other hand, extensive abnormalities in insulin and insulin growth factor(IGF)-I and IGF-II signaling mechanisms in brains with AD have been demonstrated, hence suggesting that AD could be a third form of diabetes. The Src homology domain-containing inositol 5phosphatase(SHIP)2, has an important role in insulin pathway because its over-expression causes impairment of insulin/IGF-1 signaling. Since some single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) of the gene encoding SHIP2, were significantly associated in T2DM patients with metabolic syndrome and some related conditions, we decided to conduct a casecontrol study on this gene, analyzing AD and T2DM subjects as cases and young, old and centenarians as controls. Our results suggest a putative correlation between the rs144989913 SNP and ageing, both successful and unsuccessful, rather than age-related diseases. Since this SNP is an insertion/deletion of 28 base pairs, it might cause an alteration in SHIP2 expression. It is noteworthy that SHIP2 has been demonstrated to be a potent negative regulator of insulin signaling and insulin sensitivity. Many studies demonstrated the association of speculate that the found association with SHIP2 and ageing might depend on its effect on insulin/IGF-1 pathway.

 Balistreri CR, Accardi G, Buffa S, Bulati M, Martorana A, Candore G, Colonna-Romano G, Lio D, Caruso C. Centenarian Offspring: a model for Understanding Longevity. Curr Vasc Pharmacol. 2013. [Epub ahead of print].

Abstract

A main objective of current medical research is the improving of life quality of elderly people as priority of the continuous increase of ageing population. This phenomenon implies several medical, economic and social problems because of dramatic increase in number of not autonomous individuals affected by various pathologies. Accordingly, the research interest is focused on understanding the biological mechanisms involved in determining the positive ageing phenotype, i.e. the centenarian phenotype. In achieving this goal the choice of an appropriate study models is fundamental. Centenarians have been used as an optimal model for successful ageing. However, it is characterized by several limitations, i.e. the selection of appropriate controls for centenarians and the use itself of the centenarians as a suitable model for healthy ageing. Thus, the interest has been centered on centenarian offspring, healthy elderly people. They may represent a model for understanding exceptional longevity for the following reasons: to exhibit a protective genetic background, cardiovascular and immunological profile as well as a reduced rate of cognitive decline than age-matched people without centenarian relatives. Several of these aspects are summarized in this review based on the literature and the results of our studies.

 Di Bona D, Accardi G, Virruso C, Candore G, Caruso C. Association Between Genetic Variations In The Insulin/Insulin-Like Growth Factor (Igf-1) Signaling Pathway And Longevity: A Systematic Review And Meta-Analysis. Curr Vasc Pharmacol. 2013. [Epub ahead of print]. Abstract

Some studies have shown that polymorphisms in the insulin growth factor-1 (IGF-1) signaling pathway genes could influence human longevity. However, the results of different studies are often inconsistent. Our aim was to investigate by systematic review and meta-analysis the association of the common polymorphisms defining the genetic variability of the IGF-1 signaling pathway associated with human longevity. Eleven studies investigating the association between the polymorphisms in the IGF-1 signaling pathway genes (IGF-1, IGF-1 receptor (IGF-1R), Forkhead box O3A (FOXO3A) and Silent mating type information regulation 1 (SIRT1) and longevity were found and analyzed. The model-free approach was applied to meta-analyze these

studies. No association was reported between the single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) of IGF-1 and longevity in the available study. The meta-analysis of available data from four studies, showed a significant association with the IGF-1R polymorphism rs2229765, suggesting that subjects with the A-bearing genotype have greater chance of longevity. Concerning the five studies on FOXO3A SNPs, for the rs2764264 significant association with longevity was observed for C allele when only males were included in the analysis. Statistically significant results were obtained for other SNPs as well, i.e. rs2802292 (G allele), rs9400239 and rs479744 (T and A alleles, respectively). For rs9400239 the association was observed in male long lived with a lower odds ratio than in centenarians while in rs479744 it was highlighted a significant association in centenarians. Concerning SIRT1, no association between the SNPs under study and longevity was observed in the only available report. Current findings suggest that both IGF-1R and FOXO3A polymorphisms could be associated with longevity. The high degree of between-study heterogeneity and the low number of available studies underline the need for further methodologically adequate analyses to confirm these evidences.

 Balistreri CR, Accardi G, Candore G. Probiotics and Prebiotics: Health Promotion by Immune Modulation in the Elderly. In "Bioactive Food as Dietary Interventions for Arthritis and Related Inflammatory Diseases". Edited by Ronald Ross Watson and Victor R. Preedy. 2013; pp 257-269.

Excerpta

Human subjects may be described as 'metaorganisms' because of their symbiotic relationship with indigenous gut microbiota close (Turnbaugh et al., 2007). This postulation proposes aging as the result of a cross-talk between environment, intestinal microbiota, and host immune system. Among these, the gut microbiota plays the principal role, in addition to maintaining human health (Chung and Kasper, 2010). Its homeostasis is inexorably altered by age-related physiological changes in the gastrointestinal tract induced not only by the aging process itself, but also by modifications in lifestyle, nutritional behavior, and functional reduction of the host immune system (Biagi et al., 2011). In turn, the age-related gut microbiota alterations influence the aging process in the host, principally, immunosenescence, age-dependent inflammatory status and its complications from metabolic syndrome - diabetes, cardiovascular diseases (CDs), and cancer – and cognitive decline – dementia and Alzheimer's disease (AD).

 Accardi G, Balistreri CR, Caruso C, Candore G. Diet and Immunosenescence. In "Immunology of Aging". Edited by Springer. 2014; pp 285-293.

Ageing is a systemic condition leading to a gradual loss of molecular and cellular fidelity. A feature of ageing is immunosenescence, consisting in several modifications that increase morbidity and mortality in elderly. Environment, genetic background, immune system, and intestinal microbiota play a fundamental role in immunosenescence. The development of a chronic, low-grade,

16

inflammatory status, known as "inflamm-ageing," is a typical aspect of immunosenescence mostly due to the pro-inflammatory cytokine production linked to the chronic antigenic load. Nutrition can act on ageing, immunity, and health in general. Unbalanced diet with an insufficient intake of micro- and macronutrient and vitamins is a major nutritional problem among elderly, resulting in a dramatic change in gut microbiota. Calorie restriction and long-term adherence to Mediterranean diet could prevent or manage age-related diseases and immunosenescence.

 Balistreri CR, Accardi G, Caruso C, Candore G. Biomarkers and Inflammatory Network in Aging: Targets for Therapies. In "Inflammation, advancing age and nutrition". Edited by Elsevier. 2014; pp. 1-11.

Excerpta

Aging is recognized as a complex process, induced by intricate interactions between genetic, epigenetic, stochastic, and environmental factors. These factors contribute to a loss of molecular fidelity that results from the random accumulation of damage (particularly to nuclear and mitochondrial DNA) at the cellular, tissue, and organ levels and/or to the whole body, compatible with the "disposable soma" theory of aging [1]. This theory states that both the architecture and functioning of physiological processes and regulatory (*immune and endocrine*) systems are modified during aging, which leads to a deterioration of homeostatic capacity.

LIST OF ABBREVIATION

AD Alzheimer's diseases

APO Apolipoprotein

Bcl-3 B-cell CLL/lymphoma 3

CAMKIV Calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IV

CO Centenarian offspring

CVD Cardiovascular disease

EVOO Extra virgin olive oil

FOXO Forkhead box O

GSK3 Glycogen synthase kinase 3

GWAS Genome wide association study

HDL High density lipoprotein

HSP Heat shock protein

IGF Insulin-like growth factor

IGF-1R Insulin growth factor-1 receptor

IkB inhibitor of kB

IkK inhibitor of kB kinase

IR Insulin resistance

IRS Insulin responsive substrate

LDL Low density lipoprotein

LLI Long lived individuals

MI Myocardial infarction

MUFA Monounsatured fatty acid

MD Mediterranean diet

MS Metabolic syndrome

NF-kB Nuclear factor kappa beta

OR Odd ratio PD Parkinson's disease PI3K Phosphoatidyl inositol 3-kinase PIP2 Phosphoatidyl inositol 2-phosphate PIP3 Phosphoatidyl inositol 3-phosphate RAS Rat sarcoma protein SASP Senescence-associated secretory phenotype SHIP2 Src homology domain-containing inositol 5-phosphatase 2 SIRT1 Silent mating type information regulation 1 SNP Single nucleotide polymorphism SOD Superoxide dismutase T2DM Type 2 diabetes mellitus TF Transcription factor TLR Toll like receptor

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 AGEING AND LONGEVITY

Ageing is a complex phenomenon or "trait" than cannot be exhaustively defined. Thus an integrated approach (biologic, demographic, antropologic and historic) is needed to try to understand the different ageing processes. Ageing is unavoidable and leads to the reduction of the ability to adapt to the environment, involving the organism at all levels (DNA, cells, tissues and whole systems). The "onset" of ageing is due to the loss of molecular fidelity that varies from subject to subject, in terms of rate and time of onset. Some phenotypic features of the old are not dangerous or life threatening whereas others are life threatening and increase the vulnerability leading to death (**Table 1**) (*Troen 2003*).

Table 1. FEATURES OF AGEING. The loss of molecular precision causes wide range of age-related modifications.

- Changes in cells, tissues and organs after maturation
- Progressive reduction in physiologic function of tissues and organs
- Reduced ability to respond to environmental stimuli due to the loss of homeostasis
- Increased susceptibility and vulnerability to pathologies
- Increased risk of death

Not dangerous: grey hair, liver spots, presbyopia, hearing loss, short memory loss and increase of time of reaction.

Potentially dangerous: molecular changes of cells, tissues and organs that increases the susceptibility to cancer, ictus, cardiovascular diseases, Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease.

In 2012, a group of scientists, drafted a panel statement to summarize, clarify and highlight features of ageing, longevity and exceptional longevity, three phenotypes that are spreading rapidly worldwide. They analyzed the ageing theories taking into account the evolutionary perspective and listed the biomarkers associated with the three phenotypes. On these basis, they discussed on the possible treatments to counteract or slow down ageing (**Box 1**) (*Avery et al 2013*).

The difference among people has a multifactorial origin depending on genetic background, stochastic and environmental variables with a strong component dependent on the life-style (*Mitnitski et al 2001; Kirkwood* 2005). Ageing results in compromised stress response, greater homeostatic imbalance and elevated risk of disease (*Rakyan et al 2010*). All these elements lead people to reach different ages in different conditions, therefore different life-span. Ageing itself is associated with progressive homeostatic/homeodynamic dysregulation that makes the organism less, and eventually, non-resilient (*Yates 2002; Lipsitz 2004*). This leads to the incapacity to adapt to stress and to a decline in functional capacity.

The ageing condition itself changes the performance of physiological systems and increases the susceptibility to death but new evidences suggest that the process is modifiable thus becoming possible to delay age-related diseases en bloc (*Fontana et al 2010*) (See below).

There are two main ways to become old: with success (successful ageing) and without success (unsuccessful or pathological ageing) (**Figure 1**). This latter is manifested by people that from 60 years old, develop one or more age-related diseases: neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's disease (AD) and Parkinson's disease (PD), metabolic diseases such as

metabolic syndrome (MS) and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), cardiovascular diseases (CVDs), cancer.

On the other hand, the successful ageing is represented by centenarian people since most subjects reach the age of 100 or more without any age-related disease, in good physical and mental condition. They represent the best model to study successful ageing and longevity although they have different genetic features and life-style thus, borrowing a concept from physics, they cannot be considered a "close system".

Figure 1. FLOWCHART OF SUCCESSFUL AND UNSUCCESSFUL AGEING. Random molecular damage determines the accumulation of cellular defects, hence causing frailty, disability and onset of age-related pathologies. Nutrition, life-style and environmental stimuli act on the efficiency of DNA repair mechanisms leading to successful or unsuccessful ageing.



Flowchart of successful and unsuccessful ageing

Therefore, demographic selection has permitted to identify the centenarians as healthy survivors thus offering a "natural" selected population in which studying the effect of specific polymorphisms and genetic loci associated or not associated with longevity.

Undoubtedly, all these individuals are able to respond very well to the stressors and to repair damages thanks to "positive genes" involved in many cell functions (**Table 2**).

Table 2. EVOLUTION, AGEING AND LONGEVITY.

_	The damage is intrinsic in life		
_	The loss of maintenance and repair systems are the evolutive causes of ageing		
-	Longevity can be regulated by genes involved in repair and maintenance processes		
such as	genes involved in growth, oxidative stress, apoptosis, cell cycle, DNA repair,		
metabolism and immune-inflammatory response			

Many of these, highlighted by association studies of candidate genes, revealed a wide range of data but not always repeatable (*Capri et al 2006*). This is probably due to the different genetic combination, the "genetic mosaic", and the interaction with the environment (**Figure 2**).

Figure 2. RATE OF SURVIVAL IN DIFFERENT ENVIRONMENTS. The histogram shows the survival rate (from 0 to 100%) in natural and in protected environment with age. The reaching of longevity is under both genetic and environmental control and depends on the correct action of antioxidant defenses, DNA repair mechanisms and protein turnover.



The increased ability to reach the age of 100 in Westernized countries over the last 150 years and the reduction in the overall mortality clearly reflect the improvement of hygienic condition, thus the reduced exposure to infection and inflammation; the treatment of infectious diseases that has reduced both child and maternal deaths; the improvement in general of the quality of life; the attention to the diet and the advent of preventive medicine (*Kirkwood 2005*). During the last 2 centuries their number has grown and the average life span has increased at a rate of approximately 3 months/year in both sexes (*Oeppen et al 2002*). Obviously, the increase of average life-span has raised the number of nonagenarians (people that reach 90 or more years) and centenarians. In the USA, it has gone from 3,700 in 1940 to approximately 61,000 centenarians in 2006 (*Sonnega 2006*) In Italy and in a small area of Sicily, in the Sicani Mountain, the centenarian figures are higher, 2.4/10,000 and 10.37/10,000 respectively (*Vasto et al 2012a*).

These differences are probably due to life-style, healthier in Italy and in Sicily that in USA. Looking at the Italian ratio of centenarians per inhabitants, in some zones of Sicily there is more than a four-fold increase.

Since Sicilian population genetic structure is very homogeneous, in particular in the countryside, the explanation for these data probably resides in the environmental characteristics of the study sample. In particular, the area of Sicani Mountain was extensively studied in its dietary habits leading to the conclusion that this high rate of centenarians is strictly related to the adherence to the Mediterranean diet (MD) (*Vasto et al 2012a; Vasto et al 2012b*). As we discussed in our papers (*Virruso et al 2013; Accardi et al 2014*), the MD consists in plant foods (fruit, vegetables, legumes, wholemeal bread and other forms of cereals, nuts and seeds), fresh fruit, olive oil as the principal source of fat, dairy products (principally cheese and yogurt), and poultry consumed in low to moderate amounts (fish only by coast inhabitants), zero to four eggs weekly, red meat in very low amounts, and wine in low to moderate amounts, normally during meals. This diet is hypocaloric with no sweeteners and sweet beverages and a low intake of animal proteins (*see the papers for references, abstract* $n^{\circ}8$ *and* $n^{\circ}13$).

However, a "favourable" genetic background is essential to live longer (*Balistreri et al 2012; Balistreri et al 2013, abstract n°10; Incalcaterra et al 2013*). Indeed, siblings and offspring of centenarian (CO), but not their spouses, show an increased odd ratio (OR) between 4- and 17fold for longevity compared with appropriate controls thus they have a good chance to live approximately 100 years or over compared with the average population. CO have an advantageous genetic background characterized by favourable alleles, i.e. in Apolipoprotein (APO) C3 promoter (homozygosity for the -641 C or rs2542052), by a reduction in telomere attrition associated with the presence of synonymous and intronic variants in human-telomerase reverse transcriptase gene, and heteroplasmic T152C variant in mt-DNA.

Protective genetic background, immunological profile and clinical history seem to be exhibited by CO when compared with age-matched people without centenarian relatives. They show a favorable lipid, immunological and cardiovascular profile and a decreased cognitive decline (lower serum levels of APOC3, Heat shock protein (Hsp) 70 and low density lipoprotein (LDL) C, and higher amount of high density lipoprotein (HDL) C, all features that consent them to escape morbidity and mortality for pathological events, including atherothrombosis, myocardial infarction, stroke and heart failure (*see the papers for references, abstract* $n^{\circ}3$, $n^{\circ}5$ and $n^{\circ}10$).

However, from the evolutionary point of view, longevity is not a random process but is a stage that depends of the residual physiological functions after reproduction. Ageing is dependent by stochastic events and the ageing phenotype occurs after the accumulation of cellular damages that cannot be repaired at all by exhausted cellular systems. Thus longevity depends on the survival after reproduction and genes that lead to longevity are, for this theory, "survival genes" rather than "longevity genes" (*Hayflick 2007*).

Box 1. PANEL STATEMENT SUMMARY. Summary of the statement for ageing, longevity, exceptional longevity and related genetic and non genetic markers.

Ageing:

causes- breakdown of self organizing system and reduced ability to adapt to the environment; **where**- primarily in economically developed countries;

what- process that increases the vulnerability and leads to death;

news- chronological and biological ageing: two sides of the same coin. They do not necessary have correspondence intra and inter individuals because of the different rate of ageing of tissues and organs of the same body;

contributing factors- cultural, anthropological, socio-economic status, sex, gender, ethnic differences, healthcare, environmental status, genetics, life occupation, stochastic events;

successful ageing: avoidance (or late onset) of age-related diseases and disability, preservation of desirable cognitive and physical function and social activities.

Longevity:

definitions- no consensus definition has been established;

exceptional longevity- defined in *relative* and *absolute* terms:

"relative": longevity is concept country/population specific and must take into consideration the life expectancy of the different populations/countries, which show great variability owing to historical, anthropological and socio-economic differences. "Absolute": longevity could be defined according to the maximum lifespan attained and scientifically validated by human beings in the planet;

familial longevity: family with at least two living members $aged \ge 90$ (long lived individuals (LLI), based on demographic data in Europe);

LLI study limits: enrolment of large number of phenotypically well characterized long living people (centenarians) thus small cohort groups; validation in different cohorts; enrolment of matched controls (same time but different life span duration); lack of information (environmental factors, lifestyle, quality of life, presence and duration of disabilities and diseases).;

Genetics in ageing and longevity:

Genes involved: genes that take part in: nutrient-sensing pathways, e.g. insulin/insulin-like growth factor (IGF-1), nutrient-sensing (mTOR); oxidative stress and anti-oxidant systems; control of immune-inflammatory responses; lipid metabolism and mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA).

Epigenetic changes caused by environmental factors (diet, life style, emotional stress, physical activity).

Study strategies in ageing/longevity

Gene knock down; human genetic population-based studies, family-based studies, "omics" studies, calorie restriction, hormonal replacement, antioxidant treatments, engineered negligible senescence, nucleic acid therapy, gene cloning, prevention of vascular events, cancer screening, healthy life style.

Goal: decrease morbidity and mortality associated with ageing, increase healthy life span.

1.2 INSULIN/IGF-1 AND NF-kB PATHWAYS: KEY ROLE IN AGEING AND LONGEVITY

The correlation between nutritional, hormonal and immune-inflammatory pathways is particularly evident in ageing and longevity (**Figure 3**).

Figure 3. CORRELATION BETWEEN NUTRITIONAL, HORMONAL AND IMMUNE-INFLAMMATORY PATHWAYS IN AGEING AND LONGEVITY. Insulin-like growth factor (IGF) 1 constitutes the perfect link between nutritional, hormonal and immune-inflammatory pathways. IGF-1 levels are related to inflammatory markers, oxidative stress and specific nutrients.



In particular, we focused our attention on insulin/insulin-like growth factor (IGF) 1 and the downstream nuclear factor kappa beta (NF-kB) signaling cascades.

The insulin/IGF-1 signaling cascade starts from the binding to insulin or IGF-1 to the insulin or IGF-1 receptor. Consequently, inside the cell, the intracellular substrate proteins, known as insulin responsive substrates (IRSs), act as mediators for the intracellular effect of insulin, binding specific src-homology-2 domain proteins, which include important enzymes such as phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) and other intracellular signaling systems, e.g. the adaptor protein growth factor receptor-bound protein 2 which connects with the rat sarcoma protein (RAS) pathway. PI3K activates the via of the second messenger phosphoatidyl inositol 3-phosphate (PIP3) leading to the activation of AKT, that acts on glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK3). In the brain, the deregulation of GSK3 activity determines neuronal cell death, hyperphosphorylation of tau protein and the production of amyloid protein.

Moreover AKT promotes the translocation of glucose transporter proteins (GLUT). The pathway activates transcription factors (TFs) and stimulates the growth promoting actions of insulin. Thus broadly, PI 3-kinase mediates insulin metabolic effects, e.g. cellular glucose uptake, while RAS significantly mediates insulin mitogenic effects (*see the papers for references, abstract* $n^{\circ}2$).

On the other hand, AKT can also stimulates the NF-kB signaling activating the inhibitor of kB kinase (IkK) complex (IkK alpha e beta). The NF-kB pathway is involved in immune inflammatory mechanisms that can result in both positive or negative effects (*Gilmore et al 2012; Newton et al 2012*). NF-kB components (p50/p105 and p52/p100) and the members of the Rel family (RelA/p65, c-Rel and RelB) form dimers in the cytoplasm that are linked to the inhibitor of kappa B (IkB) proteins (IkBalpha, IkBbeta, IkBgamma, Ikbepsilon and B-cell CLL/lymphoma 3, known as Bcl3). The complex activation can be evocated both by immune insults and external and internal danger signals associated with cell senescence and ageing process, such as oxidative and genotoxic stress, tissue injuries and DNA damages. When specific immune receptors, such as Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and cytokine receptors, transduce the upstream signals, the kinases,

mainly IkKbeta, phosphorilate the IkB proteins which are released from the complex and then degraded by the proteasome. This leads to the translocation of NF-kB to the nucleus. Its binding to the DNA triggers the transcription of a number of genes including pro-inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, adhesion molecules, eicosanoids, growth factors, metallo-proteinases, nitric oxide, etc (*Gilmore et al 2012*).

Emerging experimental data principally performed on human skin fibroblasts have convincingly demonstrated the role of NF-κB signaling as the major pathway stimulating the senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP) (*Chien et al 2011; Rovillain et al 2011; Salminen et al 2012*).

The cellular senescence consists in a state of irreversible cell cycle arrest even if a mitotic stimulus occurs caused by stresses that are potentially oncogenic. Senescent cells are apoptosis resistant and acquire different functions and features respect to the cell line group. DNA damages, oncogenes expression, oxidative stress and mitogenic signals are some of the stresses that cause this condition (Ben-Porath et al 2005; Campisi et al 2005; Lombard et al 2005; Braig et al 2006; Collado et al 2006; Campisi et al 2007). Interestingly, senescent cells remain metabolic active releasing pro-inflammatory factors that determines the occurrence of the SASP. Emerging data has revealed that NF-κB signaling is the major signaling pathway which stimulates the appearance of SASP. With advancing age, increased cellular and tissues injuries determine a sustained NF-κB activation. In turn, SASP, found in several cells, such as fibroblasts, epithelial cells, endothelial cells, astrocytes, preadipocytes, leukocytes and postmitotic cells contributes, together with inflammageing, to the low chronic inflammation condition and consequently to the establishment of the negative feedback typical of ageing process and to the onset of inflammatory age-related diseases (*Salminen et al 2010; Salminen et al 2012*). Indeed, the SASP of astrocytes, has been suggested to initiate or contribute to neuroinflammation, responsible of many neurodegenerative diseases, such as AD (*Campisi et al 2011*).

Many genetic mutations, in particular single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), that extend life-span act on nutrient-sensing pathways such as insulin/IGF. A common evolutionary origin of ageing (meaning "survival" from the evolution) regulation probably exists. Indeed, models organisms, from yeast to mammals, highlight the role of these pathways in the modulation of life-span (*Longo et al 2003*). This may be due to the effect of the attenuation of these cascades that mimic calorie restriction, process well known to be involved in life-span extension from almost 80 years (*McCay et al 1935; Weindruch et al 1988*). In these models, calorie restriction, causing life-span extension and IGF-1 signaling reduction, is associated with decreased IGF-1 circulating levels (*Fontana et al 2008; Fontana et al 2010*).

IGF-1, IGF-1 receptor (IGF-1R), Forkhead box O (FOXO) 3A, Silent mating type information regulation 1 (SIRT1) and KLOTHO, all molecules directly or indirectly involved in insulin/IGF-1 pathway, are under reflectors of the ageing and longevity research for the association of their SNPs with ageing and longevity. In human beings, ageing is associated with lower IGF-1 circulating levels (*Bartke 2005*), and in longevous people IGF-1R has been correlated with modulation of human life-span through the attenuation of IGF-1 signaling (*Suh et al 2008*). Both IGF-1 and IGF-1R polymorphisms theoretically modulating the IGF-1 pathway have been studied for their correlation with longevity, but evidences to date are not conclusive (Suh et al 2008; Xie et al 2008; Bonafè et al 2003; Albani et al 2009; Barbieri et al 2012).

The IGF-1 pathway downstream TF, FOXO3A, has also been extensively studied for its role in longevity, as mentioned above. This gene belongs to the FOXO family and encodes a TF with the typical domain of this family, the forkhead box, a conserved DNA-binding domain. It is one of the orthologue of *daf-16* in *C.elegans*, a TF involved in stress resistance and longevity (*Gems et al 2003; Kenyon 2005*). In addition, FOXO3A interacts with sirtuins, a family of histone deacetylase enzymes, identified as antiageing molecules in model organisms. SIRT1, one of the seven human sirtuin isoforms, called SIRT1-SIRT7, deacetylates FOXO3A modulating its response to oxidative stress (*Brunet 2004*). On the basis of findings from experimental and animal models, some human studies sought to demonstrate an association between specific SNPs involved in modulation of Insulin/IGF and longevity. However, the sample size of most of the studies is inadequate and the results often inconsistent.

The gene KLOTHO, aptly named after one of the Greek goddesses Fates, believed by the ancients to spin the thread of life, encodes a type-I membrane protein expressed in two forms, membrane and secreted. It was discovered about fifteen years ago, as a gene which, if knocked out in mice, precipitates their accelerated ageing, including short lifespan, while its overexpression suppresses ageing and extends lifespan (*Kuro-o 2009; Wang et al 2009*). On this basis, some human studies sought to demonstrate an association between the functional variant of KLOTHO "KL-VS" and ageing and longevity. This variant is a stretch that contains six polymorphisms in linkage disequilibrium. However, conflicting results of the association between "KL-VS" and both ageing and longevity exist (Arking et al 2002; Novelli et al 2008; Invidia et al 2010; Majumdar et al 2010).

The Src homology domain-containing inositol 5-phosphatase 2 (SHIP2), has an important role in insulin pathway thus presumably in ageing and longevity but surely in age-related diseases. To regulate cellular levels of lipid secondary messengers such as PIP3, cells use two major classes of phosphoinositide phosphatases—the inositol polyphosphate 3-phosphatase PTEN and the SH2 domain-containing inositol 5-phosphatases 1 and 2 (SHIP1 and SHIP2) (*Dyson et al 2005*).

SHIP2 is a protein encoded by the gene inositol polyphosphate phosphatase-like 1 (INPPL1) that catalyzes the degradation of lipid secondary messenger PIP3 to produce phosphoatidil inositol 2 phosphate (PIP2). Thus, SHIP2 is an antagonist of PI3K. Because the PI3K pathway plays a key role in the biological effects of insulin, the attenuation of the PI3K mediated insulin signaling pathway could be associated with insulin resistance (IR) in T2DM and with neuropathology of AD (Steen et al 2005; Frisardi et al 2010). Many studies underline the role of SHIP2 as probable negative regulator of insulin signaling (Ferreira et al 2010; Porte et al 2005; Plum et al 2005; Wozniak et al 1993). A study conducted by Kaisaki et al in T2DM subjects demonstrated a significant association between SNPs of INPPL1 (rs2276047, rs9886, and rs144989913) and MS or correlated features (Kaisaki et al 2004), finding partly confirmed by another study (Kagawa et al 2005). Moreover, a study conducted in non-T2DM subjects with hypertension found no association, identifying the T2DM as condition probably necessary for the association (Marcano et al 2007).

1.3 AGE RELATED DISEASES

As mentioned above, MS, T2DM and AD are classified as agerelated diseases.

Human ageing and age-associated diseases are becoming one of the biggest challenges faced by developed and developing countries. In fact, the overall increase in average life expectancy is far greater than that for healthy life expectancy, as evidenced by the incremental burden of age-associated diseases, including cardiovascular disease, diabetes, hypertension and cancer. The financial burden caused by these chronic diseases is already overwhelming the healthcare and welfare systems of developed nations, and if present trends continue, the challenges could cause even larger problems.

MS represents a cluster of metabolic factors, such as IR due to an impairment in insulin signaling pathway, abdominal obesity, glucose intolerance, hypertension, hyperinsulinemia, and raised fasting plasma glucose, all conditions related to an increased risk for T2DM, AD and CVDs (*Wilcox 2005; Craft 2009; Sanz et al 2009; Ahtiluoto et al 2010; Elks et al 2010; Luchsinger 2010; Di Carlo et al 2012*). T2DM, the non-insulin dependent diabetes, is a lifelong, chronic, disease and is the most common form of diabetes account for 90–95% of all cases of diabetes (*Zimmet et al 2001*).

It is characterized mainly by IR with hyperglycemia. To date, many evidences exist about the association between T2DM and AD that has as link factor the IR. IR can be manifested in peripheral tissues or directly in the brain as an "insulin resistance brain state" that contributes to cognitive impairment and neurodegeneration (*Frisardi et al 2010*). When glucose accumulates in the blood, determine hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia. Hyperglycemia induces an increase of the peripheral use of insulin, which results in a reduction of insulin disposable for the brain and consequently in the alteration of tau and amyloid protein processing (*Plum et al 2005; Wozniak et al 1993*).

AD is the most common form of dementia, accounting for more than 50% of all cases of dementia. It is a neurodegenerative disorder that occurs primarily after the age of 65. The typical features are the impairment of memory, language, attention, executive functioning, apraxia, agnosia, and aphasia (*Lobo et al 2000; Alzheimer's Association et al 2011*). According to the amyloid hypothesis, AD is characterized by accumulation of senile plaques constituted by deposits of the abnormal form of amyloid protein (Ab₄₀₋₄₂ amino acids), present in common forms of dementia, and neurofibrillary tangles originating from hyperphosphorylation of microtubular tau protein.

However, today some different pathophysiological theories regarding AD exist, suggesting that the disease could be driven by inflammation, vascular changes, and metabolic disorders. These theories are not mutually exclusive, because inflammation plays a relevant role in both vascular lesions and metabolic disorders (*Vasto et al 2008; de la Torre 2004; Milionis et al 2008; Vasto et al 2007; Candore et al 2010a; Candore et al 2010b; Elks et al 2010*).

Indeed, several population-based studies have recently described MS and T2DM as a risk factors for AD. Furthermore, these data were also confirmed in the pre-AD status, the so-called mild cognitive impairment.

But from the age of 85 the association between MS and accelerated cognitive decline vanishes (*van den Berg et al 2007*). However, data are not
definitive and negative results have also been published (*Ahtiluoto et al 2010; Luchsinger 2010; Sanz et al 2009*).

In 2005, a new theory was proposed about the possibility to consider AD as a third form of diabetes. AD brains were analyzed postmortem, showing, in the frontal cortex, lower levels of insulin, IGF-1 and insulin receptor. These data showed that later stages of AD were associated with an up to 80% decrease of these parameters compared to healthy brain (*Steen et al 2005*). According to the latter association, some authors proposed the concept of "metabolic cognitive syndrome" when describing co-occurrence of AD and MS (*Frisardi et al 2010*).

Environmental elements like diet, lifestyle, smoking, and socioeconomic status are critical contributors in these disorders and, from a molecular point of view, an impairment in insulin signaling pathway has been suggested to have a key role in their pathogenesis (*Wilcox 2005*).

Insulin is known to be a peripheral regulator of nutrient storage, but it is also essential for the control of energy balance and for many other functions (neurotransmitter release, neuronal outgrowth, tubulin activity, neuronal survival, and synaptic plasticity) in the central nervous system by processes not linked to modulation of glucose uptake that occurs in peripheral tissues (*Wang et al 1992; Tanaka et al 1995; Cole et al 2007*).

Neuronal insulin signaling pathway has an important function in mammalian fat storage and in *C. elegans* and *Drosophila*, the cellular signaling systems mediating these effects bear remarkable homology to those described in mammals (*Porte et al 2005*).

The pathways described are depicted in Figure 4.

Figure INSULIN/IGF-1 PATHWAY AND AGEING, AGE-RELATED 4. **DISEASEAS AND LONGEVITY.** When insulin (or IGF-1) binds to its receptor the IRSs contact the PI3K. PI3K activates the via of the second messenger PIP3. SHIP2 is an antagonist of PI3K and together regulate the levels of the second messenger PIP3: PI3K phosphorylates PIP2 giving PIP3; conversely SHIP2 removes a phosphate from PIP3 to obtain PIP2. This second messenger leads to the activation of AKT that activates IKK that inhibits IkB linked to NF-kB. Thus NF-kB can translocate to the nucleus acting as TF for inflammatory genes. Moreover, AKT inhibits FOXO3A preventing the transcription of homeostatic genes and acts on GSK3 too. Also SIRT1 can act on FOXO3A. Outside the cell, a soluble form of KLOTHO can inhibit the insulin/IGF-1 signalin thus possibly contributing to the transcription of homeostatic genes and consequently to

longevity.



1.4 DIFFERENT APPROACHES TO STUDY AGEING AND LONGEVITY

The ageing and longevity are multi-factorial events in which genetic, epigenetic, stochastic and environmental factors seem to have a crucial role (*Caruso et al 2012; Montesanto et al 2012*).

Approximately 25% of the overall variation in human lifespan can be attributed to genetic factors, which become more relevant for extreme longevity. Conditioning factors, which arise in the first part of life account for another 25% of such variability; life circumstances at adult and old age may account for about the remaining 50% (*Herskind et al 1996; Ljungquist et al 1998; Skytthe et al 2003; Vaupel et al 1998*). Concerning the role of genetics, as we discussed in our paper (*Incalcaterra et al 2013*), three approaches are the most used and useful to assess biomarkers of ageing and longevity: the candidate gene approach, the meta-analysis and the genome-wide association studies (GWAS).

1.4.1 CANDIDATE GENE APPROACH

The candidate gene approach is a hypothesis-driven method widely employed by case–control studies. The case control study compares subjects with a specific disease or outcome of interest that represent the cases with subjects that do not have the disease or outcome that represent the controls.

The aim of this type of study is to analyzed if the different frequency of each event is manifested in a statistically significance manner, calculating the association with a chi square test to determine the relationship between the risk factor and the disease. It is an observational study because no interventions are made in the subjects analyzed. In particular, in our case, the genotype and allele frequencies of two populations are compared: one affected and one unaffected by a complex trait. If the identified allelic variants are more prevalent in the affected population as compared to unaffected, these genotypes are associated with the trait. Of course, consistent replication of study in different population is needed to validate the data and to identify the variant as a biomarker.

The lack of replication may not necessarily imply a false association, but might simply point to the need for more studies in certain populations or more detailed study of the function of a particular gene, taking into account different gene-environment interactions.

In the last years, our group has extensively investigated by candidate gene approach the role of inflammation and in particular of specific immune-inflammatory molecules in ageing and longevity (*Balistreri et al 2012; Incalcaterra et al 2013; Balistreri et al 2013*). In the Table below (**Table 3**), extracted from an our recent report, are depicted the data obtained from the association of genetic variants with the risk of myocardial infarction (MI) and with longevity using centenarians as healthy controls.

These data are obtained in a Sicilian homogeneous population but are only partially agree with data previous shown in different population. In particular, the approach of the so called "positive biology" was used for this study. CO are characterized by a reduction in the onset of CVDs thus alleles associated with these diseases would not be included in the genetic background favoring longevity. The aim of "positive biology" is to focus the attention on the cause of positive phenotypes rather than pathologic to understand the biological mechanism of healthy ageing. The results in the table clearly demonstrate that in MI subjects, the SNPs investigated are overrepresented respect to centenarians that, conversely, present variants that are protective against CVDs (see the paper for the references, abstract $n^{\circ}3$, $n^{\circ}5$ and $n^{\circ}10$).

Genes	Alleles of SNPs or genetic variants	Centenarians	Young controls (< 55 years)	MI patients(< 55 years)	Pp -value
TLR-4	+896A>G1(Asp299Gly; rs4986790)	NN=55 males	N=127 males	N=105 males	< 0.001
CCR5	WT> $\Delta 32^2$ (rs333)	N=123 males	N=136 males	N=133 males	=0.00006
Cox-2	-765G>C ³ (rs20417)	N=96 males	N=170 males	N=140 males	=0.000007
5-LO	-1078G>A4(rs2115819)21C>T	N=96 males	N=170 males	N=140 males	=0.00003
		N=96 males	N=170 males	N=140 males	=0.001
FLAP	-336G>A ⁵	N=96 male	N=170 males	N=140 males	=0.0007
Cx37	-1019C>T ⁶	N=56 males	N=196 males	N=97 males	=0.0035
IL-10	-1082G>A ⁷ (rs1800896)	N=52 males	N=110 males	N=90 males	=0.0003
α1AT	342G>L 8	N=143	N=255	N=127	=0.0000001
MEFV	694 M>V ⁹	N=68	N=196	N=121	=0.003

Table 3. GENETIC VARIANTS ASSOCIATED WITH MYOCARDIALINFARCTION AND LONGEVITY.

¹ This missense polymorphism alters the extracellular domain of TLR-4, so it attenuates the TLR4 signaling pathway and diminishes the inflammatory response to Gram-negative pathogens. In particular, it may influence inflammatory responses and the risk of major inflammatory age-related diseases, such as AS, by affecting the production of inflammatory mediators.

² A non functional allele, resulting from a 32-bp deletion in exon 4, determines a loss of expression of functional CCR5 receptor. So, this genetic variant may have a protective role against AMI as consequence of an attenuated inflammatory response that should determine a slower progression of atherosclerotic lesion among CCR5 Δ 32 carriers.

³ Located within a putative binding site for the transcription factor Sp1, associated with a different transcription of gene.

⁴ SNPs in promoter region and exon-1 of 5-LO gene, respectively, able to modify the gene transcription or the putative protein.

⁵ It has been claimed to be functional, modifying gene transcription or modifying the putative protein derived from gene translation.

 6 This SNP causes a shift from proline to serine at amino acid 319. In a mouse model of atherosclerosis, the mouse Cx37 protein was shown to be atheroprotective by properly regulating leukocyte recruitment, namely one of the first inflammatory steps in atherosclerotic process.

⁷ SNP in the IL-10 proximal gene region (considered potential target for transcription regulating factors) involved in genetic control of IL-10

production, even if contrasting literature data have been reported. In particular, the homozygous -1082GG genotype seems to be associated with higher IL-10 production

respect to G>A heterozygous and AA homozygous genotypes. Furthermore, this SNP seems to be functionally relevant. It has been demonstrated that A carriers (low producers) seem likely develop a major number of chronic inflammatory diseases.

⁸ It results in a severe protein deficiency that is characterized in the homozygote state by levels of plasma concentrations that are lower by 84 % when compared with levels in MM individuals and in the MZ heterozygote state, by intermediate levels that are lower by 17 %. It has been suggested that α 1AT deficiency could lead to less cleaved fragments of α 1AT (i.e. the pro-inflammatory peptide C-36) of α 1AT in atherosclerotic plaques, and thereby reduce AS inflammatory process.

⁹ This mutation in the pyrin gene is liable to lead to leukocyte survival otherwise designed to follow the apoptotic pathway, increasing the inflammatory response.

Reference in Incalcaterra et al 2013, abstract n°5.

1.4.2 GENOME-WIDE ASSOCIATION STUDY

As we discussed in our paper (*Incalcaterra et al 2013*), GWAS consists in a scanning of whole genome, analyzing markers to find variants associated with the trait of interest using a case-control study. It is important to note that the finding of common genetic variants with low allelic frequency across studies is consistently difficult because of the multitude of data to analyze.

Population admixture that may produce possible false positives due to different genetic backgrounds among ethnic groups is another limit. A family-based association study and the analysis of geographically isolated population could permit to improve the detection of true positive genetic association loci, in particular those of modest size (*see paper for the references, abstract* $n^{\circ}5$).

GWAS is a useful tool for the identification of longevity associated alleles with frequency above 5%. Each, taken singularly, has a moderate or null effect but, borrowing a concept from pharmacology, it is possible to speculate that more alleles have, en bloc, a synergic rather than an additional effect. It means a potentiated effect respect to the sum of alleles. On the other hand, GWAS is not the best tool to study longevity because it is necessary to collect thousands of individuals to identify the expected OR.

For this reason it could be preferred to use GWAS to formulate an hypothesis verifying it with different traditional research methods.

In this aspect, a GWAS on 410 long lived individuals (LLI) and 553 young control individuals investigated the relation between rs10491334 of the calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IV (CAMKIV) gene, a variant previously reported in association with diastolic blood pressure, and human longevity. To confirm this association *in vitro* study was conducted establishing that CAMKIV activates the survival proteins AKT, SIRT1, and FOXO3A, thus resulting indirectly involved in insulin pathway. Moreover, homozygous carriers of rs10491334 have a significant reduction in CAMKIV expression pointing to a detrimental role for the SNP and to its involvement with human longevity (*Malovini et al 2011*).

1.4.3 SYSTEMATIC REVIEW AND META-ANALYSIS

Systematic review and meta-analysis are two strictly linked very useful tools for the researchers. In particular, a systematic review permits to explore the existing literature to verify if data of different studies in different populations about the same variable have a significance if they are analyzed all together. It typically involves several steps: the identification of the question, the selection of databases, the choose of the adapt strategy, the management of the filters in the database to select paper that answer the original question (inclusion and exclusion criteria) and the extraction of the data in a standardized format. A "meta-analysis" provides a statistic tool to quantitatively synthesize and combine the data selected with the systematic review. Thus "every meta-analysis should be based on an underlying systematic review, but not every systematic review leads to a meta-analysis" (*http://researchcore.org/faq/answers.php?recID=5*).

Thus, the use of meta-analyses has recently become an important part of genetic research mainly to reconcile studies about the same genetic variant that gave inconsistent results.

One interesting "pro" of these is for example the possibility to overcome the limit of GWAS linking to the standard threshold of significance, highlighting genes or gene variants with weak effect on a specific phenotype as associated to that phenotype. This is particularly relevant in longevity research because it is well known that genetic background and longevity are strictly linked but few genetic variants associated with longevity exist.

With these approaches, besides our results on the association of specific allelic variants of IGF-1R, FOXO3A with longevity and KLOTHO with health ageing, many other genetic variant were pointed out to ageing and longevity research for a gain or a loss of association: the negative association with longevity in Italian centenarians of the GG genotype of interleukin-6 previous associated in European centenarians (*Di Bona et al 2009*) or the positive association with longevity of a specific haplotype (rs915179, rs2485662, rs4641, rs1468772) from LMNA gene (*Conneely et al 2012*).

Moreover, putting together similar genetic data of 5 studies of centenarians from USA, Europe and Japan, the result was that many of the variants analyzed in these studies were associated to extremely long life

44

(*Sebastiani et al 2013*). However, a weakness of meta-analysis is that it does not overcome problems that were inherent in the design and execution of primary studies.

Combining studies of poor quality with those that were more rigorously conducted is not useful and can lead to worse estimates of the real effect.

2. AIM OF THE THESIS

The new frontier in ageing investigation is the promotion of healthy ageing and longevity, rather than the intervention on specific age-related diseases. In a recent consensus workshop held in Erice, it has been talk about possible interventions to slow ageing (<u>http://longevityinstitute.usc.edu/SicilyMeetingProgramFINAL2013.pdf</u>)

(Figure 5).

Figure 5. MECHANISMS THAT DELAY AGEING PROCESS. The main source of damage for the macromolecules, including the DNA, is the metabolism that determines over production of radical oxygen species (ROS) due to the reduction of efficiency of the mithocondria. Low levels of GH/IGF-1 likely increase the efficiency of mitochondria with a consequent reduction of ROS production. At the same time, the low levels mean prevention of insulin resistance and consequently control of inflammation process. Limited levels of ROS are also due to antioxidant mechanism physiologically active inside the cells. P53 is usually inactive because of is binding with MDM2. Stress and environmental stimuli determine the activation of p53 that has the role to maintain genomic stability. All these systems contribute to delay ageing process.



Hence, the new goal is to increase lifespan but in healthy condition: the "heal thspan". It is well known that reduction of nutrient sensing pathway signaling increases lifespan in model organisms.

In rodents, calorie restriction without malnutrition, reduces insulin/IGF-1 signalling, increasing maximal lifespan up to 50%. Indeed, in model animals, long-term calorie restriction, reduces metabolic factors associated with some age-related diseases: oxidative stress, sex hormones and insulin levels, adiposity and inflammation (*Longo et al 2010*).

However, since calorie restriction is difficult to realize in human beings, it may be preferred to reach healthy ageing acting on modifiable lifestyle factors as diet and nutrition. Moreover, further target should be the control of pro-inflammatory status, characteristic of ageing, as extensively discussed in our reports (*Balistreri et al 2013, abstract n°12; Accardi et al 2014; Balistreri et al 2014*).

Thus the aim of my PhD was to explore the mechanisms that drive ageing and longevity focusing the attention on the role of insulin/IGF-1 pathway and of inflammatory mechanisms, well known to be among the main driver to these phenotypes. Through reviews we explored the literature to summarize the existing data up to date. With systematic reviews and meta-analyses we identified some genetic variants of proteins that take part in the insulin/IGF-1 pathway, both directly or indirectly. Moreover, we conducted a case-control study to verify the association of two SNPs of the protein SHIP2 to T2DM and AD.

The obtained results will be discussed in the light of the methods to slow ageing.

48

3. Can Alzheimer Disease Be a Form of Type 3 Diabetes?

Can Alzheimer Disease Be a Form of Type 3 Diabetes?

Giulia Accardi,¹ Calogero Caruso,¹ Giuseppina Colonna-Romano,¹ Cecilia Camarda,² Roberto Monastero,² and Giuseppina Candore¹

Abstract

Alzheimer disease (AD) and metabolic syndrome are two highly prevalent pathological conditions of Western society due to incorrect diet, lifestyle, and vascular risk factors. Recent data have suggested metabolic syndrome as an independent risk factor for AD and pre-AD syndrome. Furthermore, biological plausibility for this relationship has been framed within the "metabolic cognitive syndrome" concept. Due to the increasing aging of populations, prevalence of AD in Western industrialized countries will rise in the near future. Thus, new knowledge in the area of molecular biology and epigenetics will probably help to make an early molecular diagnosis of dementia. An association between metabolic syndrome and specific single-nucleotide polylmorphisms (SNPs) in the gene INPPL1, encoding for SHIP2, a SH2 domain-containing inositol 5-phosphatase involved in insulin signaling, has been described. According to recent data suggesting that Type 2 diabetes represents an independent risk factor for AD and pre-AD, preliminary results of a case–control study performed to test the putative association between three SNPs in the SHIP2 gene and AD show a trend toward association of these SNPs with AD.

Introduction

A LZHEIMER DISEASE (AD) IS THE MOST COMMON FORM of dementia, accounting for more than 50% of all cases of dementia.¹ It occurs primarily after age 65, and for this reason it is classified as an age-related disease. The exception is the familiar early-onset form (with Mendelian inheritance) that represents about 1% of all cases.² Its prevalence is approximately 1% between 65 and 69 years and is higher than 50% in individuals above 95 years.³ AD is a neurodegenerative disorder with the typical features characterized by the impairment of memory, language, attention, executive functioning, apraxia, agnosia, and aphasia. Cognitive, but also behavioral, symptoms cause a reduction of functional activities compared to a previous level of functioning.^{1–3}

According to the amyloid hypothesis, AD is characterized by accumulation of senile plaques constituted by deposits of the abnormal form of amyloid β (A β) protein (A β_{40-42} amino acids), present in common forms of dementia, and neurofibrillary tangles originating from hyperphosphorylation of microtubular tau protein. These structures accumulate progressively in the brain starting from the hippocampus and then spreading to the cerebral cortex, where neurons are lost, causing memory, language, and general cognitive impairment.³ However, today some different pathophysiological theories regarding AD exist, suggesting that the disease could be driven by inflammation, vascular changes, and metabolic disorders. These theories are not mutually exclusive, because inflammation plays a relevant role in both vascular lesions and metabolic disorders.^{3–8} Indeed, several population-based studies have recently described Type 2 diabetes as a risk factor for AD. Furthermore, these data were also confirmed in the pre-AD status, the so-called mild cognitive impairment. However, data are not definitive and negative results have also been published.^{9–11}

Most recently, metabolic syndrome, which represents a cluster of metabolic factors—insulin resistance, abdominal obesity, glucose intolerance, hypertension, hyperinsulinemia, and raised fasting plasma glucose—has also been described in association with an increased risk of AD.^{12,13} Interestingly, strong evidence suggests that systemic inflammation and central adiposity contribute to and perpetuate metabolic syndrome.⁸ All of these alterations predispose individuals to type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease.^{8–14}

Genetic background, age, sex, diet, physical activity, and habits in general all influence the prevalence of the metabolic syndrome and its components. Twenty years ago in the Mediterranean area, it was assessed that 70% of adults have at least one of the disorders characterizing metabolic syndrome. However, in the European population, the rate

¹Department of Biopathology and Medical and Forensic Biotechnologies, and ²Department of Experimental Biomedicine and Clinical Neuroscience (Bionec), University of Palermo, Palermo, Italy.

of metabolic syndrome is 7%–30%.^{15,16} Worldwide there are 1.1 billion overweight people with a body mass index (BMI) between 25 kg/m^2 and 30 kg/m^2 and 312 million with a BMI >30 kg/m.¹⁴ In the last 40 years, the rate of obesity in the United States has increased, and today 66% of adults have a BMI >25 kg/m² and half of those have a BMI >30 kg/m.¹⁷

Another link between obesity, inflammation, insulin signaling, and dementia is the amyloid precursor protein (APP),¹⁸ a transmembrane protein from which the A β_{40-42} fragment that forms senile plaques originates.³ APP is considered an adipokyne, producing and processing A β_{40-42} in adipose tissue. This fragment is expressed in fat tissues and overexpressed in abdominal adipocytes of obese patients.¹⁸

Recent data support an increased susceptibility for AD in patients with metabolic syndrome,¹⁹ but from the age of 85 the association between metabolic syndrome and accelerated cognitive decline vanishes.²⁰ On the other hand, some American scientists hypothesize that AD is a third form of diabetes.²¹ This hypothesis was formulated in 2005 when 45 AD patients were analyzed postmortem, showing lower levels of insulin in the brain. In particular, the authors analyzed the frontal cortex of AD individuals, calculating the concentration of insulin, insulin-like growth factor 1, and insulin receptor. Data showed that later stages of disease were associated with an up to 80% decrease of these parameters compared to healthy brain.²¹ According to the latter association, some authors proposed the concept of "metabolic cognitive syndrome" (MCS) when describing co-occurrence of AD and metabolic syndrome. Indeed, dementia and metabolic syndrome present some overlap both in predisposition factors and in altered signaling cascade. Environmental elements like diet, lifestyle, smoking, and socioeconomic status are critical contributors in these disorders. Altered insulin signaling pathway has a key role in their pathogenesis. In particular insulin resistance might be the first step toward both disorders, constituting a bridge between AD and metabolic syndrome.22

Metabolic-Cognitive Syndrome: Insulin and the Central Nervous System

Insulin is known to be a peripheral regulator of nutrient storage, but it is also essential for the control of energy balance in the central nervous system (CNS). Neuronal insulin signaling pathway has an important function in mammalian fat storage and in *Caenorhabditis elegans* and *Drosophila*, the cellular signaling systems mediating these effects bear remarkable homology to those described in mammals.²³

There is substantial evidence demonstrating insulin action in the control of neuronal function in cortical and hippocampal areas, which are involved in memory processing and cognitive functioning.^{24,25} Insulin directly influences neurons by processes not linked to modulation of glucose uptake. Neurotransmitter release, neuronal outgrowth, tubulin activity, neuronal survival, and synaptic plasticity are all directly modulated by insulin.^{26–29} The insulin signaling pathway modulates synaptic plasticity, promoting the recruitment of γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) receptors on postsynaptic membranes, influencing *N*-methyl D-aspartate receptor (NMDA) conductance (neuronal Ca2⁺ influx) and regulating receptor α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) cycling.^{30,31}

The MCS was elaborated on 2010 by Frisardi and his colleagues. It is based on the co-existence, in patients, of metabolic syndrome and cognitive impairment of degenerative or vascular origin.²² Insulin resistance can be manifested in peripheral tissues or directly in the brain as an insulin resistance brain state that contributes to cognitive impairment and neurodegeneration for the reason described above.²²

Many molecules participate in the regulation of the insulin signaling pathway; therefore, an alteration in the function or expression of some of these proteins causes a reduction in glucose uptake. Consequently, glucose accumulates in the blood, determining hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia. Hyperglycemia induces an increase of the peripheral use of insulin, which results in a reduction of insulin disposable for the brain. Because insulin is essential for memory, learning, neuronal survivor, and longevity processes, the alteration of its concentration might cause important consequences on tau and A β processing.^{24,25} For example, an impairment of insulin signaling pathway causes a reduction of the activity of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) and consequently a reduction in AKT/protein kinase B (PKB) pathway. This leads to an increase of glycogen synthase kinase $3 \alpha / \beta$ (GSK- $3 \alpha / \beta$) activity that phosphorylates tau protein and causes intraneuronal A β accumulation.²¹

Moreover, glucose metabolism plays a role in the protein posttranslational modification involving the hexosamine biosynthetic pathway, which leads to the generation of *O-N*-acetylglycosamine (O-Glc-NAc). If insulin resistance is established, intraneuronal glucose metabolism is impaired. Consequently, the amount of O-Glc-NAcylation is reduced. This posttranslational modification competes with the phosphorylation process, thus more phosphate groups are added with an increase of the amount of phosphorylated tau protein.³²

Insulin is also involved in the APP metabolism.³³ APP competes with the insulin receptor. Thus, its inefficient degradation might play a key role in AD brain insulin resistance.³⁴

SHIP2: A Modulator of the Insulin Pathway

When insulin binds to its membrane receptor, it activates a signaling cascade involving phosphoinositides and the AKT/PKB pathway.²⁴ To regulate cellular levels of lipid secondary messengers such as phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)-triphosphate (PtdIns [3,4,5]P3), cells use two major classes of phosphoinositide phosphatases—the inositol polyphosphate 3-phosphatase PTEN and the SH2 domain-containing inositol 5-phosphatases 1 and 2 (SHIP1 and SHIP2).³⁵

SHIP2 is a protein that catalyzes the degradation of lipid secondary messenger phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-triphosphate (PIP3) to produce phosphatidylinositol 3,4-diphosphate (PIP2). Thus, SHIP2 is an antagonist of PI3K that takes part in insulin signaling, phosphorylating PIP2 to obtain PIP3. Because the PI3K pathway plays a key role in the biological effects of insulin, the attenuation of the PI3K-mediated insulin signaling pathway could be associated with insulin resistance in type 2 diabetes.³⁶

Many studies underline the role of SHIP2 as negative regulator of insulin signaling.^{35–37} Its overexpression reduces both insulin-stimulated mitogen-activated protein kinase and AKT activation, leading to downregulation of glucose uptake toward failed recruitment of GLUT4 in cell membrane and glycogen synthesis in 3T3-L1 adipocytes and L6 myotubes.^{38–40} Moreover expression of SHIP2 is greatly increased in the skeletal muscle and fat tissue of diabetic mice.⁴¹

In addition, the SHIP2 gene (INPPL1) is localized in human chromosome 11q13–14, which is suggested to be linked to type 2 diabetes characterized by insulin resistance and hypertension.^{42–44} Therefore, SHIP2 could be involved in the pathogenesis of insulin resistance of type 2 diabetes mellitus in humans and also in the metabolic syndrome, in which insulin resistance represents the first step toward.^{36,41–43,45}

A study conducted by Kaisaki et al.⁴⁵ shows a significant association between single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) of INPPL1 (rs2276047, rs9886, and an insertion/deletion in intron 1) and type 2 diabetes and metabolic syndrome in European populations. This finding was partly confirmed by another study conducted by Kagawa et al. in the Japanese population.⁴⁶

Conclusion

Metabolic syndrome and AD constitute a worldwide problem, especially for Western societies, due to co-morbidity (mainly vascular), lifestyle (*i.e.*, diet, exercise, smoking, alcohol), and increasing age. Considering the increasing data that have focused recently on the association between AD and metabolic syndrome, it could be speculated that AD could be a third form of diabetes.²¹

Metabolic syndrome is a condition that predisposes to type 2 diabetes, which is characterized by systemic inflammation, insulin resistance, obesity, high cholesterol levels, and sedentary lifestyle, all conditions related to an increased risk for AD.⁴⁷ Due to increasing age, prevalence of AD in Western industrialized populations will be higher in the future. Thus, new knowledge regarding molecular biology and epigenetics that would enable an early molecular diagnosis of dementia is welcome.³

Discovery of new genes and proteins involved in physiological pathways can be crucial for the identification of altered mechanisms involved in the pathophysiology of AD and consequently in signaling pathways. Such discoveries would allow finding new target proteins, developing new molecular risk profile for diagnosis and prevention, and planning early interventions.⁶ In this regard, we are extending previous research on the association of INPPL1 SNPs and metabolic syndrome to AD. With this aim, we are conducting a case–control study evaluating the putative association between INPPL1 SNPs and AD. Preliminary results obtained show a trend toward association of these SNPs with AD, thus strengthening the hypothesis of a close relationship among AD, metabolic syndrome, and diabetes.

Acknowledgments

Original work discussed in this review was supported by grants from the Ministry of Education, University, and Research ex 60% to C.C. G.A. is a Ph.D. student of the pathobiology Ph.D. course (directed by C.C.) at Palermo

University, and this paper is submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirement for her Ph.D. degree.

Author Disclosure Statement

No competing financial interests exist.

References

- Lobo A, Launer LJ, Fratiglioni L, Andersen K, Di Carlo A, Breteler MM, Copeland JR, Dartigues JF, Jagger C, Martinez-Lage J, Soininen H, Hofman A. Prevalence of dementia and major subtypes in Europe: A collaborative study of population-based cohorts. Neurologic Diseases in the Elderly Research Group. Neurology 2000;54:S4–S9.
- Alzheimer's Association, Thies W, Bleiler L. 2011 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimers Dement 2011;7: 208–244.
- Vasto S, Candore G, Listì F, Balistreri CR, Colonna-Romano G, Malavolta M, Lio D, Nuzzo D, Mocchegiani E, Di Bona D, Caruso C. Inflammation, genes and zinc in Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res Rev. 2008;58:96–105.
- 4. de la Torre JC. Is Alzheimer's disease a neurodegenerative or a vascular disorder? Data, dogma, and dialectics. Lancet Neurol 2004;3:184–190.
- Milionis HJ, Florentin M, Giannopoulos S. Metabolic syndrome and Alzheimer's disease: A link to a vascular hypothesis? CNS Spectr 2008;13:606–613.
- Vasto S, Candore G, Duro G, Lio D, Grimaldi MP, Caruso C. Alzheimer's disease and genetics of inflammation: A pharmacogenomic vision. Pharmacogenomics 2007;8:1735– 1745.
- Candore G, Bulati M, Caruso C, Castiglia L, Colonna-Romano G, Di Bona D, Duro G, Lio D, Matranga D, Pellicanò M, Rizzo C, Scapagnini G, Vasto S. Inflammation, cytokines, immune response, apolipoprotein E, cholesterol, and oxidative stress in Alzheimer disease: Therapeutic implications. Rejuvenation Res 2010;13:301–313.
- Elks CM, Francis J. Central adiposity, systemic inflammation, and the metabolic syndrome. Curr Hypertens Rep 2010;12:99–104.
- Ahtiluoto S, Polvikoski T, Peltonen M, Solomon A, Tuomilehto J, Winblad B, Sulkava R, Kivipelto M. Diabetes, Alzheimer disease, and vascular dementia: A population-based neuropathologic study. Neurology 2010;75:1195–1202.
- Luchsinger JA. Insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes, and AD: Cerebrovascular disease or neurodegeneration? Neurology 2010;75:758–759.
- Sanz C, Andrieu S, Sinclair A, Hanaire H, Vellas B; REAL.FR Study Group. Diabetes is associated with a slower rate of cognitive decline in Alzheimer disease. Neurology 2009;73: 1359–1366.
- Vanhanen M, Koivisto K, Moilanen L, Helkala EL, Hänninen T, Soininen H, Kervinen K, Kesäniemi YA, Laakso M, Kuusisto J. Association of metabolic syndrome with Alzheimer disease: A population-based study. Neurology 2006; 67:843–847.
- Razay G, Vreugdenhil A, Wilcock G. The metabolic syndrome and Alzheimer disease. Arch Neurol 2007;64:93–96.
- 14. Haslam DW, James WP. Obesity. Lancet 2005;366:1197–1209.
- 15. Cameron AJ, Shaw JE, Zimmet PZ: The metabolic syndrome: Prevalence in worldwide populations. Endocrinol Metab Clin N Am 2004;33:351–375.

- Ferrannini E, Natali A. Essential hypertension, metabolic disorders, and insulin resistance. Am Heart J 1991;121:1274–1282.
- Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Curtin LR, McDowell MA, Tabak CJ, Flegal KM. Prevalence of overweight and obesity in the United States, 1999–2004. JAMA 2006;295:1549–1555.
- Lee YH, Tharp WG, Maple RL, Nair S, Permana PA, Pratley RE. Amyloid precursor protein expression is upregulated in adipocytes in obesity. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2008;16:1493–1500.
- Ferreira IL, Resende R, Ferreiro E, Rego AC, Pereira CF. Multiple defects in energy metabolism in Alzheimer's disease. Curr Drug Targets 2010;11:1193–1206.
- van den Berg E, Biessels GJ, de Craen AJ, Gussekloo J,Westendorp RG. The metabolic syndrome is associated with decelerated cognitive decline in the oldest old. Neurology 2007;69:979–985.
- 21. Steen E, Terry BM, Rivera EJ, Cannon JL, Neely TR, Tavares R, Xu XJ, Wands JR, de la Monte SM. Impaired insulin and insulin-like growth factor expression and signaling mechanisms in Alzheimer's disease–is this type 3 diabetes? J Alzheimers Dis 2005;7:63–80.
- Frisardi V, Solfrizzi V, Capurso C, Imbimbo BP, Vendemiale G, Seripa D, Pilotto A, Panza F. Is insulin resistant brain state a central feature of the metabolic-cognitive syndrome? J. Alzheimers Dis 2010;9:399–417.
- 23. Porte D Jr, Baskin DG, Schwartz MW. Insulin signaling in the central nervous system: a critical role in metabolic homeostasis and disease from C. elegans to humans. Diabetes 2005;54:1264–1276.
- Plum L, Schubert M, Brüning JC. The role of insulin receptor signaling in the brain. Trends Endocrino Metab 2005;16: 59–65.
- Wozniak M, Rydzewski B, Baker SP, Raizadai M. The cellular and physiological actions of insulin in the central nervous system. Neurochem Int 1993;22:1–10.
- Cole AR, Astell A, Green C, Sutherland C. Molecular connexions between dementia and diabetes. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2007;31:1046–1063.
- Mill JF, Chao MV, Ishii DN. Insulin, insulin-like growth factor II, and nerve growth factor effects on tubulin mRNA levels and neurite formation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1985;82:7126–7130.
- Wang C, Li Y, Wible B, Angelides KJ, Ishii DN. Effects of insulin and insulin-like growth factors on neurofilament mRNA and tubulin mRNA content in human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 1992;13:289–300.
- Tanaka M, Sawada M, Yoshida S, Hanaoka F, Marunouchi T. Insulin prevents apoptosis of external granular layer neurons in rat cerebellar slice cultures. Neurosci Lett 1995;199:37–40.
- Dou JT, Chen M, Dufour F, Alkon DL, Zhao WQ. Insulin receptor signaling in long-term memory consolidation following spatial learning. Learn Mem 2005;12:646–655.
- van der Heide LP, Kamal A, Artola A, Gispen WH, Ramakers GM. Insulin modulates hippocampal activitydependent synaptic plasticity in a N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor and phosphatidylinositol- 3-kinase-dependent manner. J Neurochem 2005;94:1158–1166.
- 32. Liu F, Iqbal K, Grundke-Iqbal I, Hart GW, Gong CX. O-GlcNAcylation regulates phosphorylation of tau: A mechanism involved in Alzheimer's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2004;101:10804–10809.
- Solano DC, Sironi M, Bonfini C, Solerte SB, Govoni S, Racchi M. Insulin regulates soluble amyloid precursor protein release via phosphatidyl inositol 3 kinase-dependent pathway. FASEB J 2000;14:1015–1022.

- Xie L, Helmerhorst E, Taddei K, Plewright B, Van Bronswijk W, Martins R. Alzheimer's beta-amyloid peptides compete for insulin binding to the insulin receptor. J Neurosci 2002; 15;22:RC221.
- Dyson JM, Kong AM, Wiradjaja F, Astle MV, Gurung R, Mitchell CA. The SH2 domain containing inositol polyphosphate 5 phosphatase-2: SHIP2. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2005; 37:2260–2265.
- 36. Clément S, Krause U, Desmedt F, Tanti JF, Behrends J, Pesesse X, Sasaki T, Penninger J, Doherty M, Malaisse W, Dumont JE, Le Marchand-Brustel Y, Erneux C, Hue L, Schurmans S. The lipid phosphatase SHIP2 controls insulin sensitivity. Nature 2001;409:92–97.
- 37. Soeda Y, Tsuneki H, Muranaka H, Mori N, Hosoh S, Ichihara Y, Kagawa S, Wang X, Toyooka N, Takamura Y, Uwano T, Nishijo H, Wada T, Sasaoka T. The inositol phosphatase SHIP2 negatively regulates insulin/IGF-I actions implicated in neuroprotection and memory function in mouse brain. Mol Endocrinol 2010;24:1965–1977.
- 38. Wada T, Sasaoka T, Funaki M, Hori H, Murakami S, Ishiki M, Haruta T, Asano T, Ogawa W, Ishihara H, Kobayashi M. Overexpression of SH2- containing inositol phosphatase 2 results in negative regulation of insulin induced metabolic actions in 3T3–L1 adipocytes via its 5'-phosphatase catalytic activity. Mol Cell Biol 2001;21:1633–1646.
- 39. Sasaoka T, Hori H, Wada T, Ishiki M, Haruta T, Ishihara H, Kobayashi M. SH2-containing inositol phosphatase 2 negatively regulates insulin-induced glycogen synthesis in L6 myotubes. Diabetologia 2001;44:1258–1267.
- Vollenweider P, Clodi M, Martin SS, Imamura T, Kavanaugh WM, Olefsky JM. An SH2 domain-containing 5' inositol phosphatase inhibits insulin induced GLUT4 translocation and growth factor-induced actin filament rearrangement. Mol Cell Biol 1999;19:1081–1091.
- Hori H, Sasaoka T, Ishihara H, Wada T, Murakami S, Ishiki M, Kobayashi M. Association of SH2-containing inositol phosphatase 2 with the insulin resistance of diabetic db/db mice. Diabetes 2002;51:2387–2394.
- 42. Ghosh S, Watanabe RM, Valle TT, Hauser ER, Magnuson VL, Langefeld CD, Ally DS, Mohlke KL, Silander K, Kohtamaki K, Chines P, Balow Jr J, Birznieks G, Chang J, Eldridge W, Erdos MR, Karanjawala ZE, Knapp JI, Kudelko K, Martin C, Morales-Mena A, Musick A, Musick T, Pfahl C, Porter R, Rayman JB. The Finland-United States investigation of non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus genetics (FUSION) study. I. An autosomal genome scan for genes that predispose to type 2 diabetes. Am J Hum Genet 2000; 67:1174–1185.
- Panhuysen CIM, Cupples LA, Wilson PWF, Herbert AG, Myers RH, Meigs JB. A genome scan for loci linked to quantitative insulin traits in persons without diabetes: The Framingham Offspring Study. Diabetologia 2003;46:579– 587.
- 44. Xu X, Rogus JJ, Terwedow HA, Yang J, Wang Z, Chen C, Niu T, Wang B, Xu H, Weiss S, Schork NJ, Fang Z. An extreme-sib-pair genome scan for genes regulating blood pressure. Am J Hum Genet 1999;64:1694–1701.
- 45. Kaisaki PJ, Delépine M, Woon PY, Sebag-Montefiore L, Wilder SP, Menzel S, Vionnet N, Marion E, Riveline JP, Charpentier G, Schurmans S, Levy JC, Lathrop M, Farrall M, Gauguier D. Polymorphisms in type II SH2 domain-containing inositol 5-phosphatase (INPPL1, SHIP2) are associated with physiological abnormalities of the metabolic syndrome. Diabetes 2004;53:1900–1904.

AD AND DIABETES

- 46. Kagawa S, Sasaoka T, Yaguchi S, Ishihara H, Tsuneki H, Murakami S, Fukui K, Wada T, Kobayashi S, Kimura I, Kobayashi M. Impact of SRC homology 2-containing inositol 5'-phosphatase 2 gene polymorphisms detected in a Japanese population on insulin signaling. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2005;90:2911–2919.
- 47. Craft S. The role of metabolic disorders in Alzheimer disease and vascular dementia: Two roads converged. Arch Neurol 2009;66:300–305.

Address correspondence to: Giuseppina Candore Dipartimento di Biopatologia e Biotecnolgie Mediche e Forensi Università di Palermo Corso Tukory 211 90134 Palermo Italy

E-mail: giuseppina.candore@unipa.it

4. NF-κB pathway activators as potential ageing biomarkers: targets for new therapeutic strategies

REVIEW



Open Access

NF-kB pathway activators as potential ageing biomarkers: targets for new therapeutic strategies

Carmela R Balistreri^{*}, Giuseppina Candore, Giulia Accardi, Giuseppina Colonna-Romano and Domenico Lio

Abstract

Chronic inflammation is a major biological mechanism underpinning biological ageing process and age-related diseases. Inflammation is also the key response of host defense against pathogens and tissue injury. Current opinion sustains that during evolution the host defense and ageing process have become linked together. Thus, the large array of defense factors and mechanisms linked to the NF-κB system seem to be involved in ageing process. This concept leads us in proposing inductors of NF-κB signaling pathway as potential ageing biomarkers. On the other hand, ageing biomarkers, represented by biological indicators and selected through apposite criteria, should help to characterize biological age and, since age is a major risk factor in many degenerative diseases, could be subsequently used to identify individuals at high risk of developing age-associated diseases or disabilities. In this report, some inflammatory biomarkers will be discussed for a better understanding of the concept of biological ageing, providing ideas on eventual working hypothesis about potential targets for the development of new therapeutic strategies and improving, as consequence, the quality of life of elderly population.

Keywords: Biological ageing process, Inflammatory network and its effects in ageing, NF-KB signaling pathway as hub of inflammatory ageing network, Inflammatory biomarkers

Introduction

Ageing is a complex process, induced by an intricate interaction of genetic, epigenetic, stochastic and environmental factors. They determine the lost of molecular fidelity followed by an improved entropy [1,2]. As result, loss complexity and random accumulation of damages (i.e. particularly damages to nuclear and mitochondrial DNA) at cellular, tissue, organ levels and/or of whole body arise, compatibly with the disposable some theory of ageing [3]. Thus, it establishes a condition, which modifies both architecture and functioning of physiological processes and regulatory (immune and endocrine) systems. This determines a deterioration of the homeostasis. Accordingly, it becomes more easily vulnerable to internal and external stressors, frailty, disability and disease (Figure 1). On the other hand, the loss of DNA integrity, the principal random damages able in modifying cellular fidelity and inducing cellular and whole body senescence, determines the decline of the functionality of stress resistance and survival pathways (i.e. autophagic uptake mechanisms, chaperone

* Correspondence: carmelarita.balistreri@unipa.it

Department of Pathobiology and Medical and Forensic Biotechnologies, University of Palermo, Corso Tukory 211, Palermo 90134, Italy systems, DNA repair mechanisms, apoptotic process, immune/inflammatory response), involved in cellular and organism defense to environmental stress and maintaining homeostasis [2]. However, a large heterogeneity in occurrence, complications, speed, and age and gender manifestation of ageing process at cellular, tissue, organ levels and/ or of whole body has been observed in humans. Among human people, there are individuals at the age \geq 90 years still in good mental and physical conditions, and others that at the age \geq 60 years show cognitive difficulties, and/ or the onset of chronic inflammatory diseases, such as Alzheimer's disease (AD), cardiovascular disease (CVD) and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and cancer [4].

The principal causes of the heterogeneity in human ageing rate, measured as decline of functional capacity and stress resistance, seem to be genetic and environmental factors. However, the overall impression is that environmental factors are the major determinants of both ageing and age-related diseases [4,5]. Thus, ageing process is not a genetically programmed process [5]. This consideration is based on studies on heritability of age-related diseases and ageing [6,7]. A similar value of heritability in lifespan and age-related diseases, such as



© 2013 Balistreri et al.; licensee BioMed Central Ltd. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.



cancer, AD, CVD and T2DM, has been identified (35% vs. 40%, respectively) [8,9]. However, this does not imply that genetic factors have an irrelevant role in ageing and age-related diseases. For example, mutations identified in familial forms of AD consented understanding its molecular mechanisms, such as the toxicity of amyloid β peptide and potential therapeutic targets in more common sporadic late onset AD [10]. Common suggestion is based on both a complex contribution of genetic factors in ageing and diseases of later life and weak effects of individual genes [5]. Furthermore, diverse genetic factors are associated with ageing and exceptional longevity. Human genome-wide genetic analyses have revealed only few age-related loci and polymorphic longevity genes [11-13]. Among these, current promising candidates are Sirtuins, Forkhead box O protein (FoxOs) and the field of epigenetics. Functional genomics, i.e. expression profiling studies, have revealed a group of genes which are differently expressed in ageing, such as immune/inflammatory genes [14].

From the observations described above, another critical point of ageing process emerges based on the concept of biological age as real expression in human of both ageing rate and onset of the common diseases of later life rather than chronological age [15]. This concept opened an important area of research focused on identifying of potential molecular targets as *biomarkers of* *human biological ageing* [16]. On the one hand, it could consent to develop potential anti-ageing treatment strategies. On the other hand, probable anti-ageing treatments could retard or prevent age-associated diseases resulting in widespread health, social and economic benefit. Such treatment could include genetic engineering, such as gene therapy or endogenous gene repair, or pharmacological therapies, or changes in lifestyle, i.e. physical activity, diet.

In this report, many of these aspects are discussed, giving particular emphasis in describing some biomarkers of inflammation. In particular, the data discussed in this report are based on an expert opinion derived on the findings from author's studies on ageing, age-related diseases and inflammation.

Definition and selection criteria of ageing biomarkers

As established by National Institute of Health, a biomarker is a "feature objectively measured and evaluated as an indicator of normal biologic processes, pathogenic processes, or pharmacologic responses to a therapeutic intervention" [16,17].

In the case of ageing process, this definition might concern measures related to physical changes, such as grey hairs, reduced skin elasticity, wrinkles, reduced muscle strength or changes in the near vision, which are thought to be the result of molecular mechanisms occurring in the old age [18]. However, they reflect the chronological age rather than the biological age, which is the most important indicator of health and potential lifespan [15].

A biomarker of real ageing should reflect a process of biological ageing, be easily reproducible in cross-species comparison, be easily obtainable. Since ageing is the result of the deterioration of more than one system or process, it would be more appropriate to consider different biomarkers. Panels of biomarkers associated with conditions, alterations or changes of a set of critical systems to assess the biological age of any organism should be used [16,18].

The gerontologists have begun to face this problem already in the early 1980s, with the development of a large number of ageing biomarkers [16,18]. Despite the numerous efforts and the support in this research from National Institute of Ageing, the major number of biomarkers is still to date under discussion, like inflammatory markers, hormones, markers of oxidative stress or telomere shortening [16,18]. Most (perhaps all) markers are also not really proven in longitudinal studies in humans. In addition, they have been considered for a variety of purposes, which are not distinguished sufficiently. Most studies used biomarkers as tools for comparing ageing rate in several populations or cohorts of a single population. In contrast, others considered biomarkers for person-specific predisposition, which represents much more challenging, principally because ageing, as a biological process, is not well defined at individual level. In addition, the research of comparative or predictive biomarkers have determined the attempted use of measure panels associated with survival, health of old age, frailty, age-related (multi) morbidity and mortality [16,18].

However, none of the identified biomarkers is a *"real"* biomarkers of ageing. They are commonly related to age and diseases. In addition, the major number has been developed and tested for diseases in which biological age is the single biggest risk factor, such as peripheral blood cellular telomere length, indicators of immuno-senescence, even without correlations with disease-specific diagnoses. In addition, biomarkers of age-related diseases and ageing have been preferentially identified in younger-old populations (typically aged 60–85), but not

in oldest-old (aged 85 and above) [16,18]. For example, blood pressure, indicators of metabolic syndrome and telomere length do not associate significantly with agerelated morbidity or mortality in population-based studies of the oldest-old [19-21]. Thus, biomarkers of ageing and age-related diseases in understanding the health trajectories of the oldest-old are unexplored. It is important that this lacuna is filled given the rapid growth in the number of very old people in many contemporary populations.

For an ageing biomarker, it is important to know not only its definition, but also the criteria for its selection. Accordingly, the American Federation for Ageing Research suggested detailed criteria, recently reviewed by Sprott [16] and Johnson [18]. Based on these criteria, a true biomarker of ageing, in order to be both accurate and useful, should predict a person's physiological, cognitive and physical function in an age-related way. In the same time, it should be easily testable, and not harmful to test individuals. For example, it could be a blood test or an image technique, by performing accurately and reproducibly without the need for specialized equipment or techniques. It should be tested preliminary in laboratory animals, such as mice, and successively in humans. Thus, a biomarker needs to be simple and inexpensive to use. They should cause little or no pain and stress (see Table 1) [16,18].

Furthermore, current research on ageing biomarkers is also focusing in identifying molecules which also are able in giving clinical indications. On the other hand, biomarkers represent a hot topic and have the ability to change our life, if real prediction, on an individual basis, can be made in the future.

Description and ageing biological effects of inflammatory network

Immune system is evolved to defend the host against microbial invasion, and to counteract tissue damage elicited by chemical or physical agents or trauma, maintaining consequently the homeostasis and tissue repair [22]. In both conditions, it responds in a appropriate manner by inducing apposite reactions (i.e. of suitable degree, with the involvement of a different array of cells and mediators), called *inflammatory responses* [22,23]. Inflammatory responses can be evocated initially

Table 1 Criteria for a biomarker of ageing process

- I It must predict the rate of ageing. In other words, it would estimate where a person is in their total lifespan. Operationally, it must be a better predictor of lifespan than chronological age alone.
- II It must monitor a basic process that underlines the ageing process, not the effects of diseases.
- III It must be able to be tested repeatedly without harming the person, for example, a blood test or an imaging techniques.
- IV It must be something that works in humans and in laboratory animals, such as mice. This is so that it can be tested in laboratory animals before being validated in humans.

as localized tissue reactions and subsequently as acute phase reaction, represented by systemic cytokine-induced reactions, including leukocytosis, fever, somnolence, anorexia, activation of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis and increased level of glucocorticoids, and acute phase synthesis, i.e. C reactive protein (CRP), in the liver. A complex network of molecules (the *mediators*) and cells (neutrophils, monocytes, mast cells, endothelial cells, etc.) characterize these reactions. They work together in concert and interact mediating the activation of different signaling pathways and the expression and transcriptional regulation of hub genes. The hub genes receive and direct the activity of many other genes [22,23]. Thus, these responses are induced through an inflammatory network. Recent studies on topology of this network evidence the crucial role of some mediators in driving the different cellular interactions and regulating the type of inflammatory reaction. Several mediators as pro- and anti-inflammatory molecules are involved [24]. Their release is modulated by different factors linked to well-known Nuclear Factor (NF)-κB pathway [25,26]. In addition, the magnitude of their production varies individually because of genetic heterogeneity. Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in several genes and epigenetic factors seem to be involved [27]. Among the inflammatory mediators, the classical pro-inflammatory cytokines, Tumor necrosis factor a (TNF- α), Interleukin-1 (IL-1) and IL-6, play a key role. They are able in inducing both local and systemic effects [28]. When the causes of the inflammatory reaction are of a high intensity, their production is increased. Thus, they are released in the circulation provoking the acute phase response. In contrast, the anti-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-10 are able to regulate the activation of inflammatory cells, by inhibiting the release of proinflammatory cytokines and therefore turning off the inflammatory processes [29].

Whether tissue health is not restored or in response to stable low grade irritation, inflammation becomes a chronic condition provoking continuous damages in the surrounding tissues. The collateral damage caused by this type of inflammation usually accumulates slowly, sometimes asymptomatically for years but can eventually lead to severe tissue deterioration [30].

From the above, it emerges that the inflammatory response is not *per se* a negative phenomenon. It is programmed by the evolution in neutralizing infectious agents, playing a beneficial role until the time of reproduction and parental care. In contrast, in old age, in a period largely not foreseen by evolution, it can determine a detrimental effect through chronic inflammatory responses ("antagonistic pleiotropy") in several/ all tissue and organs, which are cause of both the ageing phenotype and chronic diseases [24,30]. A low chronic grade of inflammation, the "*inflammageing*", characterized by a 2 to 4-fold increase in serum levels of inflammatory mediators has been identified in ageing [31]. It seems to be as optimal predictor of mortality and, as mentioned above, a critical risk factor in the pathogenesis of several age-related chronic diseases as AD, CVD, T2DM, sarcopenia, frailty and functional disability [32].

Augment of age-related body fat and consequent increase of visceral adiposity, age-related decline of sex hormones, oxidative and genotoxic stress, cellular and tissue damage, nutrition, alterations of physical condition of gut microbiota, other organs (brain, liver) and systems (immune and endocrine) have been associated with inflamm-ageing [32-34]. In addition, factors linking to physiological stress, such a long-term smoking and depression, seem also to contribute to inflammageing [32-34]. However, the most important factor for agerelated inflammation is the long-life pathogen burden [30]. Some recent studies have, indeed, evidenced associations between past infections and levels of chronic inflammation and increased risk of heart attack, stroke, and cancer [32,34]. For instance, persistent peripheral multibacteria infection, such as periodontitis, associated with gram-negative anaerobic bacteria capable of exhibiting localized and systemic infections in the host, is considered as possible aggravating cofactor in subjects with vascular diseases and risk factor for the onset of other age-related diseases, such as AD [30].

Of special relevance is the inflammation status in centenarian people. The literature data seem to be apparently contradictory. Increased levels of both inflammatory and anti-inflammatory mediators and significant frequencies of protective genotypes have been assessed in centenarians than the old subjects [30,35]. As consequence, identifying of apposite biomarkers likely in long lived subjects should be necessary. This might permit a preferential and selected development of pleiotropic therapeutic interventions acting concomitantly on different targets and at different levels.

Inflammatory ageing biomarkers: the crucial role of $\text{NF-}\kappa\text{B}$ activators

Ageing is not a genetically programmed process, as described above [5]. In contrast, it is recognized as an entropic process, characterized by loss of molecular fidelity and subsequent accumulation of different products [1,2]. In addition, it has been recently proposed that during evolution the host defense and the ageing process have become linked together [2]. Host defense and ageing mechanisms seem to be overlapping. In particular, host defenses seem to be involved in ageing process, to active inflammatory network and also to evocate the release of so-called *senescence associated secretory phenotype* (SASP), represented by a myriad of factors, such as the pro-inflammatory mediators [36,37]. A large range of

defense factors and mechanisms are involved in inducing of inflammatory network, and are all (or the major number) linked to the NF-kB pathway, an ancient signaling pathway specialized to the host defense [25,26]. In particular, the NF-KB system is a cytoplasmatic sensor constituted by a protein-complex (Rel family proteins-RelA/p65, c-Rel and RelB- and NF-KB componentsp50/p105 and p52/p100) and inhibited commonly by binding to IKB proteins (IKBa, IKBB, IKBY, IKBA, IKBE, $I\kappa B\zeta$ and Bcl3). In some cases, its inhibition is induced through the action of several signaling pathways and negative feedback loops acting through different mechanisms at various levels of signaling cascades. In contrast, its activation can be evocated both by immune insults and external and internal danger signals associated with senescence and ageing process, such as oxidative and genotoxic stress and tissue injuries [25]. Namely, its induction is linked to several recognition pathway, i.e. Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and inflammasome, as well as through different upstream kinase cascades via canonical or non-canonical pathways. IKK α/β and NIK are the most important upstream kinases, although several kinases can directly regulate the transcriptional capacity of NF-KB factors. IKKy, generally called NEMO, is an important regulatory component of the IKK complex being linked upstream to genotoxic signals and IL-1 and TNF receptor mediated signaling. Activating kinases phosphorylate IkB proteins which are released from the complex and then degraded in proteasomes. Subsequently, the NF-kB complexes, having the crucial role of pleiotropic mediator of gene expression, translocate into the nucleus and transactivate the expression of special sets of target genes, codifying different SASP molecules, including proinflammatory cytokines, chemokines, adhesion molecules, eicosanoids, growth factors, metallo-proteinases, nitric oxide, etc. [25]. On the other hand, emerging experimental data principally performed on human skin fibroblasts have convincingly demonstrated the role of NF-KB signaling as the major pathway stimulating SASP phenotype [36-40]. Among the endogenous NF-KB inducers, a particular action is mediated by oxidative stress, DNA damage and immune defense, which are typical features of the entropic ageing process and age-related diseases [25].

These observations lead in considering NF- κ B as hub of ageing inflammatory network, whose the mentioned factors act as NF- κ B activators and pro-ageing factors. With advancing age, these factors increase and determine a sustained NF- κ B activation, eliciting a host defense "*catastrophe*", responsible of SASP release. In turn, SASP, which occurs in several cells (i.e. fibroblasts, epithelial cells, endothelial cells, astrocytes, preadipocytes, and leukocytes as well as in postmitotic cells) participates, together the phenomenon of inflammageing, in the low chronic inflammation, improving both entropic ageing process and onset risk for age-related degenerative diseases, as result of harmful responses (i.e. chronic inflammatory responses, increased apoptotic resistance, decline in autophagic cleansing and tissue atrophy) (see Figure 2) [2,36,41]. Thus, chronic inflammation predisposes individuals to various age-related diseases. For example, the proinflammatory SASP of senescent endothelial cells has been proposed to contribute to CVD by initiating and fueling the development of atherosclerotic lesions. In addition, the expression of a SASP by astrocytes, which has been documented both in cells that were made senescent in culture as well as cells that were isolated from aged brain tissue, has been suggested to initiate or contribute to neuroinflammation, responsible of many neurodegenerative diseases, such as AD, causing or exacerbating agerelated decline in both cognitive and motor function [42].

In the light of this evidence, the research has focused the attention on identifying pro-ageing factors, "NF- κB *activators*", as possible ageing biomarkers. Here, we describe some of them as promising inflammatory biomarkers of ageing and age-related diseases.

Oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, oxidative stress and activation of inflammasomes

Among the ageing modifications, mitochondrial alterations happen. They include an increased content of oxidation products and a diminished functional activity, conditions described and called as *mitochondrial dysfunction* [38,39]. An enhance of mitochondrial content in oxidation products, accompanies the entropic ageing process, and protein carbonyls, thiobarbituric acid reactive substances, ROOH and 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine are the major markers. Recent experimental data on animal models, such as rats and mice, demonstrate the increase of these molecules with ageing in different tissues and organs [43]. In addition, current evidence underlines the increase of levels of several oxidative products in human biofluids, such as urine, serum, plasma, and blood, from old individuals than young subjects [44].

Mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress are not associated only with ageing process, but also with the pathogenesis of several age-related diseases, as reported by recent experimental literature data [45-48]. Their detrimental effects are commonly attributed to disturbances in energy metabolism and increased Reactive oxygen species (ROS) production, and the crucial role of mitochondria in apoptotic cell death. In addition, mitochondria dysfunction and oxidative stress seem to provoke and potentiate inflammatory responses, even if the mechanisms remain elusive [38,39]. However, recent evidence sustains a crucial role of mitochondria in the regulation of innate immunity/inflammatory responses through different ways [49,50]. Among these, one is mediated by ROS which can induce the assembly of multi-protein inflammatory complexes



innate/inflammatory responses by PAMPs and DAMPs, elevated induction of insulin/IGF1 pathway, acetylation and O-glycosylation of components of NF-kB pathway, and DNA damage. NF-kB system induces entropic ageing process and release of SASP.

called inflammasomes [49,50]. In particular, they activate Nod-like receptor protein 3 (NLRP3), a member of these complexes and a major sensor of cellular stress signals, such as ROS. Subsequently, NLRP3 triggers the caspase-1 mediated maturation of precursors of IL-1 β and IL-18 cytokines [51,52]. Thus, an endogenous stress-related inflammation is activated, defined by Medzhitov as "parainflammation" [53]. The exact mechanism involved in the ROS-induced NLRP3 activation is still unclear. It has been recently demonstrated by Zhou and colleagues that ROS could activate NLRP3 inflammasomes via the redox regulation of thioredoxin/thioredoxin-interacting protein balance [54]. In addition, the ROS can directly activate the inflammasomal pathways through the oxidation of thiol groups in leucine-rich repeat domain of NLRP3. Furthermore, under loss of mitochondrial integrity, mitochondria secrete DAMPs, such as ROS, ceramide, mitochondrial DNA and formyl peptides, which can also provoke activation of NLRP3 inflammasomes local and para-inflammation responses [55,56].

Decline of autophagic function and induction of mTOR

As described above, mitochondria with disrupted integrity and a deficiency in cellular housekeeping can activate through different ways NLRP3, and also NLRP1 (another member of inflammasomes) in some tissues like brain, and stimulate inflammation [41,49,51]. In this context, the efficient function of autophagic uptake and lysosomal degradation of dysfunctional mitochondria should be a crucial element in maintaining tissue homeostasis [41]. Autophagy is, indeed, an ancient housekeeping mechanism, which regulates cellular homeostasis by facilitating the removal of misfolded proteins and dysfunctional organelles, such as mitochondria [57,58]. However, authophagic capacity seems to be compromised in ageing and age-related diseases, as proposed in "garbage can" hypothesis of Brunk and Terman [55]. On the other hand, there is growing evidence on inflammasome activation in many pathological conditions. Thus, a deficiency in authophagic housekeeping could trigger an inflammatory component and aggravate their pathogenesis [41,49,50,56-58]. After ten years of experimental work, the "garbage can" hypothesis still seems to be valid, since different research approaches have demonstrated clearly the decline of autophagy with ageing and the increased mitochondrial dysfunction [41,49,50,56-58]. Accordingly, the ageing decline in autophagy creates problems in cellular housekeeping functions, which stimulate NF-KB signaling directly or via inflammasomes trigger SASP and provoke the onset of entropic ageing phenotype [41]. Inflammatory NF-KB signaling seems also to have the capacity to repress

autophagy and to induce this destructive interplay between autophagy and inflammasomes [41,49,50,56-58]. In particular, TNF- α can induce or repress autophagy in a NF- κ B dependent manner. In presence of NF- κ B signaling, TNF- α activates mammalian Target of Rapamycin (mTOR), a major autophagy inhibitor. On the contrary, in cells lacking of NF- κ B activation, TNF- α stimulates the expression Beclin 1, an enhancer of autophagy [41,49,50,56-58].

TOR is a highly conserved serine/threonine kinase and a central controller of cell growth, metabolism and ageing. mTOR is activated in response to nutrients, growth factors and cellular energy. Deregulation of mTOR has been implicated in inflammation, ageing and several agerelated diseases (i.e. cancer, metabolic syndrome, neurological diseases) [59]. It interacts with several proteins to form two distinct complexes named mTOR complex 1 (mTORC1) and 2 (mTORC2), differentially activated by distinct extracellular and intracellular signals. mTORC1 responds to amino acids, stress, oxygen, energy, and growth factors and is acutely sensitive to rapamycin. It promotes cell growth by inducing and inhibiting anabolic and catabolic processes, respectively, and also drives cell-cycle progression. mTORC2 responds to growth factors and regulates cell survival and metabolism, as well as the cytoskeleton. mTORC2 is insensitive to acute rapamycin treatment but chronic exposure to the drug can disrupt its structure. The activation of mTORC1 by growth factors and nutrients inhibits autophagy and promotes protein synthesis. Over time, this may promote cellular stress (protein aggregation, organelle dysfunction, and oxidative stress), which might lead to damage accumulation and a reduction in cell function and thus promote the development of aging-related diseases. Also, mTORC1 activation induces stem cell exhaustion, which reduces tissue repair and promotes tissue dysfunction [59].

Activation of innate/inflammatory response by PAMPs and DAMPs

During ageing, clonotypic immunity declines. This condition is defined *immune-senescence* [30]. In contrast, innate immunity seems to be efficiently activated and to induce a chronic inflammatory phenotype, as mentioned above [30]. The activation of innate immunity is mediated through the linking of pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), multi-ligand and evolutionarily conserved receptors (i.e. TLRs, NLRs and RIG-I-like receptors), with invading pathogen structures, called pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), and endogenous danger molecules, the DAMPs [26]. This determines the release of different inflammatory mediators (i.e. IL-6 and TNF- α) by NF- κ B pathway [25]. Among PRRs, TLRs, and mainly TLR4 and TLR2, recognize not only PAMPs, but also a large number of different alarmin age type DAMPs, including high mobility group box 1 (HMGB1), S100, heat shock protein (HSP)-60 and –70, and defensins [26,34]. In addition, both TLR2 and –4 have a key role in the pathogenesis of several age-related diseases [34]. Accordingly, variants of genes codifying these molecules seem to modify the susceptibility of age-related diseases and survival to extreme age, as recently described in our study [27]. On the other hand, the +896A/G (Asp299Gly; rs4986790) and +1196C/T (Thr399Ile; rs4986791) TLR4 SNPs have been phenotypically associated with changes in the production of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines, and principally the Asp299Gly SNP seems to have a key role in AD, prostate cancer, atherosclerosis and, reciprocally, in longevity [27,34].

Furthermore, an intriguing and innovative hypothesis has been recently suggested based on the crucial role of microRNAs in the dysfunction of TLRs signaling and the acquisition of SASP with NF- κ B activation. Thus, these conditions can be considered as two interconnected phenomena [60].

During ageing, proteins, DNA and lipids, long-live macro-molecules can be targets of different age alterations. i.e. the Maillard reaction, a well known nonenzymatic glycosylation mechanism, induced as result of enhance of oxidative stress and hyperglycemia [2]. This results in the formation of protein glycation products, called AGEs (advanced glyaction end products), considered pro-ageing factors and activating NF-KB pathway by their linking with characteristic PRR receptors, the RAGE receptors (receptor for advanced glycation end products). With advancing age, AGE content increases in tissues. AGE process also improves in diabetes, atherosclerosis, neurodegeneration and several inflammatory diseases. The major harmful AGE effect in ageing seems to be the maintenance of anti-apoptotic and proinflammatory phenotype. Of special note is the glycation of collagen and elastin which seem to have a key role in vascular pathologies [26].

Induction of NF-κB signaling pathway by pro-inflammatory cytokines (mediated/or not by lipid rafts)

Activation of innate immunity in ageing process (see above) determines the production and release of SASP, such as different inflammatory molecules. Among these, pro-inflammatory cytokines are mostly observed to be at elevated level in elderly people. These cytokines can also activate the NF- κ B pathway and this way can propagate and aggravate the inflammatory changes. IL-6 and TNF- α are clearly up-regulated with ageing, even if their exact role in the ageing process has been difficult to establish because of their complex and cell-type functions [25].

Recent evidence reported that NF-κB pathway activation via pro-inflammatory cytokines, and particularly via

TNF- α , can be mediated by lipid rafts. Precisely, the binding of TNF- α to the TNF receptor (TNFR) results in receptor clustering within specialized domains at the cell surface, named as *lipid rafts*, which function as physical platforms for various molecules and are involved in a variety of biologic processes, such as molecular sorting, membrane trafficking, and signal transduction. For example, lipid rafts are important in the primary steps of T-cell antigen receptor signaling and B-cell antigen receptor signaling via triggering the phosphorylation of adaptor proteins [61]. The dynamic recruitment of ligand-bound receptors into lipid rafts has been suggested to be critical for the initiation of signaling transduction, including the NF-KB pathway. Legler and colleagues [62] reported that translocation of TNFR to lipid rafts is essential for TNF-α-mediated NF-κB activation, and disturbances in lipid raft organization switch the effect of TNF- α signaling from NF- κ B activation to apoptosis, demonstrating that lipid rafts are crucial for the outcome of TNF- α -activated signaling pathways. In addition, lipid rafts have also been demonstrated to be required for NF-KB activation induced by IL-1, lipopolysaccharides, CD40L, or CD3/CD28, and the disruption of lipid rafts results in the inhibition of NF-KB activation mediated by these stimuli [63-65]. These studies indicate that lipid rafts play important roles in the activation of proximal NF-κB signaling.

Excessive stimulation of insulin/ insulin like growth factor (IGF) signaling

An excessive insulin/IGF signaling has been demonstrated to accompany ageing process [2]. Insulin/IGF signaling determines detrimental age effects via NF- κ B pathway evoking activation of I κ B kinase α/β complex. As consequence improving of inflammatory responses and resistance of apoptosis are induced. Given that impairing the signaling of insulin/IGF signaling pathway can activate the FOXO-dependent lifespan extension, this implies the role of NF- κ B pathway in driving the ageing process via insulin/IGF axis [66].

Post-translation modifications of the members of NF-κB pathway

Members of NF- κ B pathway are targets of several posttranslation modifications. They influence both the activation of the pathway and transcriptional efficiency of NF- κ B system [2,25]. Phosphorylation and ubiquitination are the major regulatory changes during activation. Acetylation, O-glycosylation and sumoylation can also control the transcriptional efficiency of NF- κ B system during stress condition., i.e. inflammatory responses. In addition, increased protein acetylation can also activate cellular senescence. On the other hand, molecules involved in cellular survival, such as the Sirtuin molecules (see below), and particularly SIRT 1 and 6, can deacetylate a NF- κ B component, the p65, and repress NF- κ B signaling [2,25].

Glucose tolerance decline, cause of insulin resistance and hyperglycemic disorders, determines O-glycosylation. Chronic hyperglycemia mediates glucotoxicity through AGE formation or via the production of O-linked Nacetylglucosamine (o-GlcNac)-modified proteins. On the other hand, levels of O-glycosylated proteins increase during ageing. In particular, an increased O- glycosylation of Ikk β protein, able to enhance NF-κB activity, has been observed during ageing. O-glycosylation can also target p65 NF-κB protein and potentiate the transcriptional efficiency NF-κB components. This action is regulated by p53 protein, which can inhibit glycolysis and subsequently suppress the activation of Ikk β / NF-κB signaling [2,25].

DNA damages

One of the major stochastic age mechanism is genomic instability [2,67]. DNA lesions appear during ageing in both nuclear and mitochondrial DNA, as result of free radicals and oxidative stress. Under genotoxic stress, the major pathways activated are p53, NF-KB and PARP-1 (poly-(ADP-ribose)-polymerase-1) [67]. In particular, activation of NF-KB signaling represents one of the principal cellular features evoked by DNA damage [68]. The DNA damage-dependent NF-KB activation cascade is defined NEMO shuttle, since an essential NF-KB modulator (NEMO; as mentioned above) under genotoxic stress forms an complex with PIDD (p53-induced protein with a death domain) and RIP1 (receptor interacting protein) kinase [69]. This complex accumulates in nuclei and a nuclear matrix ligase (PIASy) can sumoylate the NEMO protein. Sumoylation is a prerequisite to allow a Ataxia telangiectasia mutated (ATM) kinase to phopshorylate NEMO protein. Subsequently, NEMO is desumoylated and the NEMO/ATM complex is exported from nuclei in cytoplasm where it activates Ikk kinases, by triggering NF-κB signaling. This consents to prevent the p53induced apoptosis, since Ikk kinases phosphorylate p53 and induce its degradation by proteasomes [67-69].

Another hallmark of DNA damage is the induction of PARP-1 pathway, an ubiquitously expressed member of PARP family of enzymes able to modify proteins by poly (ADP-ribosyl)lation. PARP-1 is a sensor of DNA damage and maintains the genome integrity by regulating DNA repair [70]. In addition, PARP-1 is considered a novel co-activator of NF- κ B signaling, which can potentiate the NF- κ B activation in genotoxic stress [25,71]. Furthermore, it is one of the proteins involved in the regulation of the length of nucleoprotein structures located at the ends of chromosomes, the telomeres [71]. Telomeres are subject to shortening at each cycle of cell division and are highly sensitive to damage induced by oxidative stress. During ageing, both chronic inflammation and oxidative stress induce increased base oxidation. In contrast, to the majority of genomic DNA, there is evidence that telomeric DNA is deficient in the repair of single strand breaks. Thus, it creates a persistent damage of telomeres and a faster rate of telomere shortening, which induces cellular senescence and a faster rate of biological ageing. Since chronic oxidative stress plays a major role in the pathophysiology of several chronic inflammatory diseases, it has been hypothesized that telomere length is reducing at a faster rate during oxidative stress. On the other hand, telomere shortening has been assumed a biomarker of premature cell senescence in vascular and metabolic diseases [71,72]. Therefore, assessment of telomere length as well as the evaluation of both function and integrity of PARP-1 might be useful biomarkers of both biological ageing and disease onset and progression [71,72].

Potential strategies against ageing and age-related diseases: drug and nutrition interventions and life-style modifications, and their effects on targets of inflammatory network

An excessive activation of NF-KB signaling pathway characterizes the entropic ageing process, responsible of inflamm-ageing and SASP phenotype, and the consequent onset of several age-related diseases [31-34,36]. This is plausible since nearly all insults enhancing the ageing process are well-known activators of NF-KB signaling system, as illustrated in Figure 2. The NF-KB signaling pathway also represents the lynchpin of host defense receiving the input signaling from the PRR receptors and subsequently organizing the transcriptional output response against the acute danger [25,26]. In both two cases, the sustained activation of NF-κB signaling pathway can trigger and enhance the entropic ageing process in many different ways, as above described [1,2]. Thus, the NF- κ B system is at the hub of ageing process. This concept leads us in considering molecules and mechanisms linked to NF-KB signaling system as potential ageing biomarkers, as described. In addition, we also suggest them as targets for the development of new therapeutic strategies against ageing and age-related diseases.

On the basis of data reported herein, we proposed some suggestions on possible therapeutic drug and nutrition interventions and life-style modifications, and their effects on targets of inflammatory network (see Table 2).

Anti-inflammatory drug interventions

>*Use of monoclonal antibodies and/or non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs* The presence of "high-risk" levels of IL-6 and TNF- α in elderly people suggests the possibility to develop preventive measures using specific

Page 9 of 16

Table 2 Potential therapeutic interventions and effects on targets of inflammatory network

on targets of innaninatory netwo		
Therapies	Target effects	
Monoclonal antibodies against these cytokines and their receptors	Reduction of levels of IL-6, TNF-α	
Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug		
Agonists of cytokine receptors or PRR receptors for people who do not respond to (or comply with) NSAID therapy		
Antibody-mediated stimulation of the decoy TLR receptors, such as TAM receptors, or of the intracellular TLR regulators for people with pro-inflammatory alleles in TLR4 and TLR2 genes		
Statin therapy		
Physical activity		
Administration of prebiotics and probiotics		
Caloric restriction	Decrease of oxidative stress	
Polyphenols		
Use of drugs having mimic CR action		
Caloric restriction	Mitochondria biogenesis as preventive action against mitochondrial dysfunction	
Use of drugs having mimic CR action		
Polyphenols		
Caloric restriction	Reduction of the activation of NF-KB pathway	
Terpenoids		
Resveratrol		
Use of specific miRNAs		
Administration of prebiotics and probiotics		
Use of drugs having mimic CR action Curcumin		
Caloric restriction: inhibition of mTOR pathway	Preventive action on the possible reduced activity of autophagic cleansing	
Rapamycin: inhibition of mTOR pathway		
Curcumin: influences the mTOR pathway		
Caloric restriction	Reduction of the excessive activation of Insulin/IGF1 pathway	
Metformin with CR mimic response		

inhibitors, such as monoclonal antibodies against these cytokines and their receptors. Reduction of inflammatory mediators may be also induced through nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID) therapy. For

people who do not respond to (or comply with) NSAID therapy, other more sophisticated preventive approaches may be possible, including the use of agonists of cytokine receptors or PRR receptors, i.e. TLR4 and -2, particularly in subjects carriers of high inflammatory responder alleles [27,34]. On the other hand, the activation of PRR receptors, such as TLR4 and -2, evocated by PAMPs or DAMPs particularly upon ageing, induce the release via NF-KB pathway of a large number of components of SASP, such as pro-inflammatory IL-6 and TNF- α cytokines [26,34]. In addition, the magnitude of cytokine production, and in general that of all proinflammatory mediators, has been shown to vary individually and is likely based on genetic heterogeneity. One or more functional SNPs in one or more innate immunty genes might be responsible. Accordingly, recent studies have suggested the role of +896A/G TLR4 SNP in cytokine production. In particular, high levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines were observed in carriers bearing the +896A/G TLR4 SNP [27,34].

Another possible therapeutic intervention in subjects with pro-inflammatory alleles of TLR4 and TLR2 genes might be antibody-mediated stimulation of the decoy TLR receptors, such as TAM receptors, or the intracellular TLR regulators (i.e. Supressor of cytokine signaling-SOCS molecules), involved in the inhibition of the inflammatory response, by mediating TLR degradation, or the activation of competitive or dephosphorylation functions [73]. The sequential induction of these pathways, and their integration with upstream TLR and cytokine signaling networks, may limit the inflammatory response and maintain innate immune system homeostasis. A better understanding of the regulatory mechanisms of this cascade may have important implications for therapeutic intervention in human immune disorders and reduce the risk development for several age-related diseases [27,34].

>Statin therapy Statin therapy has been demonstrated to have benefical effects in reducing primary and secondary CVD risk through the lipid-lowering, but also in inducing anti-ageing actions, such as inflammatory molecule lowering, especially IL-6 and CRP. On the other hand, results from Justification Trial Evaluating Rosuvastatin (JUPITER) confirmed that statin treatment in apparently healthy subjects with elevated CRP and non-elevated Low density lipoprotein cholesterol resulted in significant reduction in both these markers and CVD [74].

Nutrition interventions and life-style modifications

>*Caloric restriction* Another possible anti-ageing strategy, able to reduce the biological effects of NF-κB

signaling pathway in ageing, is the notable caloric restriction (CR) [75]. Restricting the intake of calories has been practiced as a method for increasing both the length and quality of life for over 500 years. Experimental work confirming the success of this approach in animals has accumulated over the last 100 years. CR may extend life by up to 50% in rodents, with progressively less impact the later in life it is started. This effect is matched by profound impacts on age-related diseases, including reduced risk of cancer, neurodegenerative disorders, autoimmune disease, CVD and T2DM [75]. The disposable soma theory of ageing suggests that CR evolved as a somatic protection response to enable animals to survive periods of food shortage [4]. The shutdown of reproductive function during CR is consistent with this suggestion, but other features of the phenomenon are less consistent with this theory. Some researchers have, indeed, proposed that in rodents it may be mostly an artifact of domestication. CR induces profound effects on animals at all levels from the transcriptome to whole animal physiology and behavior. Animals under CR lose weight which is disproportionately contributed to by white adipose tissue. Generally animals on CR change their activity patterns. Thus, they are more active prior to food delivery each day, but total activity may be unchanged or reduced [75]. Considerable debate has occurred over the effects of CR on resting metabolic rate (RMR). Total RMR declines, but as body mass and body composition also change it is unclear whether metabolism at the tissue level also declines, is unchanged or even increases. Body temperature universally decreases. Hunger is increased and does not seem to decline even with very long term restriction. Circulating adipokines are reduced reflecting the reduction in white adipose tissue mass under CR [75]. There is also a large reduction in circulating insulin and glucose levels. There are profound tissue level changes in metabolism with a generalized shift from carbohydrate to fat metabolism.

Four pathways have been implicated in mediating the CR effects. They are the insulin/IGF-1signaling pathway, the Sirtuin pathway, the adenosine monophosphate (AMP) activated protein kinase (AMPK) pathway and mTOR pathway [75]. These different pathways may interact and all play important roles mediating different aspects of CR response. Exactly how they generate the health benefits remains open for debate. However, one of the major impact of CR is the reduction of oxidative stress [76]. As described above, the major cellular source of ROS are the mitochondria. Isolated mitochondria from animals under CR show a reduced ROS production. In particular, CR results in an increase in the level and activation of adenine nucleotide translocase and uncoupling proteins able to reduce the mitochondrial

membrane potential. This results in a decline in superoxide radical (O2) production and a less damage to the lipids in the mitochondrial membrane reduced ulteriorly by increases in the membrane lipid saturation [76]. Increases in superoxide dismutase convert superoxide into hydrogen peroxide and increased levels of Se-dependent glutathione peroxidase and catalase convert this to water reducing the production of the toxic hydroxyl radical (OH). Lowered levels of OH diminish the oxidative damage to proteins and DNA, which is further ameliorated by enhanced levels of degradation and base excision repair respectively [76]. Furthermore, CR induces mitochondrial biogenesis, as evidenced by changes in mtDNA levels, and protein levels [77]. Such effects on mitochondrial biogenesis are consistent with the idea that there may be a tissue level increase in oxygen consumption under CR which is accommodated in the reduced overall energy budget by the reduced amount of metabolizing tissue.

In addition, CR increases the levels of a member of Sirtuin family (SIRT1 to SIRT 7), NAD + dependent deactylases involved in the regulation of the activity of many proteins, energy metabolism, cell survival and longevity [78,79]. In particular, CR increases the expression of SIRT1 in multiple tissues, even if this effect does not appear to be uniform in all tissues or across different studies [80]. It has been demonstrated that SIRT1 interacts with p65/RelA protein and specifically cleaves the acetyl group form, the lysine-310 of p65 protein, involved in enhancing the trans-activation efficiency of NF- κ B system [81,82]. Thus, SIRT1 is a potent inhibitor of NF- κ B system.

An enhanced autophagy is also induced by CR via the inhibition of mTOR or the activation of AMPK pathway. This last is an evolutionary conserved sensor for disturbances in cellular energy balance and a major inductor of autophagy. Thus, CR acts directly or indirectly as inhibitor of NF- κ B system [75,81,82].

Based on these observations, it is possible to assume that CR has beneficial effects, i.e. the extension of the average and maximum life span and delaying the onset of age-associated changes. However, this has been proven only in animal models, such as yeast, worms, flies and some mammals (rats and mice), and some criticisms (as above suggested) lead to consider it as an artifact of domestication, particularly in rodents [75,83-85]. In higher mammals, CR delays many diseases associated with aging including cancer, diabetes, atherosclerosis, CVD and neurodegenerative diseases [86,87]. The incidence of these diseases increases with age and they contribute significantly to mortality. Therefore, CR could increase life span by increasing the body's general state of health and providing a nonspecific, resistance to chronic diseases and metabolic derangements [86,87].

However, the ultimate question, how does CR effect the human body, was studied in a limited number of experiments [88]. The study of CR effects on human longevity faces ethical and logistical challenges since the average life span is close to 80 years for the population in developed countries. Therefore, human studies are focused on measuring the CR-related changes that could slow the aging process and the progression of chronic diseases thus increasing life span. The most convincing evidence that CR could have a positive effect in humans was provided by experiments by Fontana and coworkers, by the Comprehensive Assessment of Long-Term Effects of Reducing Calorie Intake (CALERIE Phase 1), and by data obtained on the members of the Caloric Restriction Society [89-93].

Fontana and coworkers [89] assessed the effect of a 6year long CR diet on risk factors for atherosclerosis in adult male and female adults (age range 35-82 years) and compared them to age-matched healthy individuals on typical American diets (control group). The total serum cholesterol level and low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol levels, the ratio of total cholesterol to high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL), triglycerides, fasting glucose, fasting insulin, CRP, platelet-derived growth factor AB, and systolic and diastolic blood pressures were all markedly lower in the CR group. The HDL cholesterol was higher after CR. Medical records of individuals in the CR group indicated that, before they began CR, they had serum lipid-lipoprotein and blood pressure levels in the expected range for individuals on typical American diets, and similar to those of the comparison group. Thus, this study concluded that longterm CR can reduce the risk factors for atherosclerosis.

The effect of fat loss induced by either (a) a long-term 20% CR or (b) a 20% increased energy expenditure (IEE) by exercise on coronary heart disease (CHD) risk factors was detected in a one-year randomized, controlled trial on 48 non-obese male and female subjects. The CR or exercise induced reductions in body fat were quantitatively similar and were accompanied by similar reductions in most of the major CHD risk factors, including plasma LDL-cholesterol, total cholesterol/HDL ratio, and CRP concentrations. Thus, these data evidenced that long-term CR or IEE of the same magnitude lead to substantial and similar improvements in the major risk factors for CHD in normal-weight and overweight middle-aged adults [90].

The effects of a 1-year, 20% CR regime or 20% IEE by exercise, on the oxidative damage of DNA and RNA, was evaluated by white blood cell and urine analyses in normal-to-overweight adults. Both interventions significantly reduced oxidative damage to both DNA and RNA in white blood cells compared to baseline. However, urinary levels of DNA and RNA oxidation products did not differ from baseline values following either 1-year intervention program. The conclusion of the study was that either CR or IEE by exercise reduce systemic oxidative stress which is reflected in a decreased DNA or RNA oxidative damage [91].

CALERIE, a research program initiated by the National Institute on aging and involving three research centers, performed in the Phase 1 three pilot studies to determine whether long-term (6-12 months) effects of 20-25% CR in free-living, non-obese humans could be investigated and to evaluate the adaptive responses to CR. This randomized, controlled, clinical trial concluded that CR subjects had a lower body weight, a decreased whole body and visceral fat, a reduced activity energy expenditure, improved fasting insulin levels, improvements in cardiovascular disease markers (LDL, total cholesterol to HDL ratio, and CRP), and no change in bone density compared to controls [88]. In the ongoing CALERIE Phase 2, the researchers are testing whether 2 years sustained 25% CR of ad libitum energy intake results in beneficial effects, similar to those observed in animal studies [92].

Members of the Caloric Restriction Society (CRS) restrict food intake with the expectation that this would delay the disease processes responsible for secondary aging and to slow the primary aging process. Compared to age-matched individuals eating typical American diets, CRS members (average age 50 ± 10 yr) had a lower body mass index, a reduced body fat, significantly lower values for total serum cholesterol, LDL cholesterol, total cholesterol/LDL, and higher HDL cholesterol. Also fasting plasma insulin and glucose values were significantly lower than in the age-matched control group. Left ventricular diastolic function in CRS members was similar to that of about 16 years younger individuals. Chronic inflammation was reduced by CR and this was reflected in significantly lower levels of plasma CRP and TNF- α [88].

Aging is associated with a progressive reduction in heart-rate-variability (HRV)—a measure of declining autonomic function—and also a worse health outcome. The effect of a 30% CR on heart autonomic function was assessed by 24-hour monitoring of HRV in adults on self-imposed CR for 3 to 15 years and compared with an age-matched control eating a Western diet. The CR group had a significantly lower heart rate and significantly higher values for HRV. Also, HRV in the CR individuals was comparable to published norms for healthy individuals 20 years younger. The authors suggest that CR reset the balance between the sympathetic/parasympathetic modulation of heart frequency in favor of the parasympathetic drive thus increasing the circadian variability of heart rate [93].

Thus, in humans CR could delay many diseases associated with aging including cancer, diabetes, atherosclerosis,

cardiovascular disease, and neurodegenerative diseases. As an alternative to CR, several CR mimetics have been tested on animals and humans, as described below.

>CR mimetic drugs: biguanides, stilbenes and drugs Considerable effort has been directed in recent years to find drugs that mimic the CR response. Promising candidates are those that intersect with the critical signaling pathways identified above and include biguanides such as metformin, capable to target insulin signaling pathway, stilbenes (e.g. resveratrol) affecting sirtuin activity and drugs such as rapamycin that interact with mTOR signaling. Whether it will ever be possible to find drugs that capture the health benefits of CR without the negative side-effects remains unclear. Moreover, even if such drugs are developed how the current licensing system for drug use in western societies would cope with them may be a further obstacle to their use [75,88,94-96].

>Polyphenols and resveratrol (a stilbene phytochemical) As mentioned above, several plant derived, folk medical compounds and extracts have been claimed to have antiageing effects [75,88,97-101]. However, only a small number of traditional remedies has been subjected to a clinical trial. Recently, many promising compounds have been identified and scrutinized. Among these, there are polyphenols (i.e. flavonoids and terpenoids), the major ingredients of fruits, vegetables and different spices [75,88,97-101]. Many of polyphenols are inhibitors of NF-KB signaling system, since they are potent antioxidants, and as consequence they can inhibit ROS production and activation of NF-κB signaling system [97-101]. Some of them (i.e. terpenoids) can also directly inhibit Ikk/ NF-KB signaling [97-101]. Accordingly, it has been found that low-doses of terpenoids can trigger cellular stress response and subsequently induce adaptive stress resistance, condition defined hormesis [97-101]. Stress resistance involves several molecular adaptations via the activation of AMPK pathway and the subsequent increase in the expression of survival genes, such as Sirtuins, FOXOs and p53 [97-101]. Of special note is the effect of resveratrol, a stilbene phytochemical. It induces activation of SIRT1 via AMPK pathway, and indirectly inhibition of NF-KB signaling system via the activation of survival genes [97-101].

>*Curcumin* It has been postulated that a natural agent, curcumin, could influence cellular senescence [102]. Curcumin has attracted the attention of researchers and clinicians as an anti-inflammatory and anti-oxidant agent with a potential use in the therapy of many diseases with an inflammation constituent, e.g. cancer, CVD, AD, rheumatoid arthritis and metabolic syndrome. A plethora of studies using animal and cell line models have been undertaken to elucidate the molecular

mechanisms and biological effects of curcumin and some clinical trials are underway. Sikora and colleagues [103] proposed that curcumin might act as an anti-aging agent not only by inhibition of NF-KB, but also by indirect influence on cellular senescence via mTOR. However, they also showed that conversely curcumin can induce senescence in colon cancer cells [104]. Moreover recent studies by Quitschke [105] also revealed the prosenescence activity of curcumin. Nonetheless, curcumin has many molecular targets and evokes a biphasic hormetic dose-response [106]. Thus, one cannot exclude that much lower concentration of curcumin than that used in these studies will inhibit/postpone cellular senescence or, at least, through NF-kB inhibition will reduce SASP. Interestingly, curcumin was shown to prolong life of model organisms such as Caenorhabditis elegans and Drosophila melanogaster, but did not influence (similarly to resveratrol) the life span of mice [107].

>Physical activity Promising evidence suggests a role of physical activity in reducing the levels of inflammatory markers. Several speculations have been advanced [108-111]. However, the mechanisms underlying its antiinflammatory effects seem complex and not fully elucidated. It has been recently considered that the decreased production of proinflammatory cytokines may originate from a reduction of adiposity, or the release of muscle derived IL-6 [108-111]. This last seems to induce several metabolic adaptations, i.e. hepatic glycogenolysis and lipolysis, and the release of cytokine inhibitors (i.e. IL-1ra, sTNFR and IL-10) and cytokine with potent anabolic effect, as IL-15 [108-111].

>Probiotics and/or prebiotics Administration of probiotics and/or prebiotics to elderly seems to induce changes in several inflammatory parameters (i.e. proinflammatory cytokine lowering, CRP reduction), demonstrating that manipulation of gut microbiota may result in modification of functionality of an aged immune system. On the other hand, intestinal microbiota seems to play a fundamental role in maintaining human health. Its supposed importance in human physiology has recently led to label human subjects as "metaorganisms" because of their close symbiotic relation with indigenous gut microbiota. The "metaorganisms" hypothesis evidences the use of dietary supplementation with probiotics and prebiotics, as therapeutic strategy to preserve human health particularly during that life period not foreseen by evolution- "ageing"-, that inexorably alters gut microbiota composition, stability and functionality [112,113].

Conclusions

From all observations described above, chronic inflammation has been proposed as the major biological mechanism underpinning the entropic ageing process and age-related diseases [31-34,36]. Inflammation is also the key response of host defense against pathogens and tissue injury [25,26]. In addition, it is current opinion that during evolution the host defense and ageing process have become linked together [2]. Thus, the large array of defense factors and mechanisms linked to the NF-KB system seem to be involved in the entropic ageing process [2,25]. This concept leads us in proposing inductors of NF-KB signaling system as potential ageing biomarkers and promising targets for the development of new therapeutic strategies against ageing and agerelated diseases. In this report, we describe some inflammatory mechanisms linked to NF-KB signaling system as potential ageing biomarkers. In addition, some suggestions on their role as promising targets for the development of new therapeutic strategies have been discussed. Our interest has been, particularly, focused on possible interventions on molecular survival and resistance stress pathways, capable to reduce or inhibit NF-KB signaling pathway. However, it is not impossible to predict, whether these possible interventions (appropriate and specific drug therapies, lifestyle modifications, use of CR mimetics and other preventive therapeutic strategies) can very reduce or retard the onset of ageing biological phenotype and the onset risk of age-related diseases. Different motivations lead us to have prudence. Firstly, the major literature data on anti-ageing effects of therapeutic strategies have been obtained from studies on animals. Thus, potential therapy interventions on the basis of pathways identified in model organisms may be an illusion, because gains in longevity achieved in these organisms seem to decline with organismal complexity or depend on idiosyncratic physiology. Furthermore, lifespan in some organisms may be less plastic than in others. In addition, there are still enormous gaps in our knowledge about how metabolic pathways operate and interact. Serious side effects may constrain the effectiveness of pharmacological interventions.

The best treatment might be that which consents the repair of macromolecular damage. However, it is not clear that all toxic lesions associated with ageing process have been identified, or whether practical and appropriated strategies exist to eliminate them, as those mentioned above. Today, the researchers are becoming to speculate the concept based on reprogramming cellular senescence as way of organism rejuvenation or at least to alleviate age-related diseases considering cellular senescence as target model [114-116]. This hope derives by results of recent studies on progeroid mice demonstrating the possibility to reverse progeroid phenotype through genetic manipulation. This intervention of avoiding or reversing cellular senescence is based on induced pluripotent stem cell technology, which opened a

new avenue of autologous regenerative medicine and the possibility to activate telomerase and change the telomere length [117,118]. Accordingly, other studies are needed to confirm and extend these current data. For example, genomic, transcriptomic and epigenetic investigations may eventually lead to better understanding the molecular and cellular inflammatory mechanisms associated with biological ageing. In addition, for the development of anti-ageing therapies for human, it should be more appropriate identifying cellular and serum ageing biomarkers and potential targets using apposite study model, such as centenarian offspring, healthy elderly people with a family history of longevity, as recently suggested [119]. On the other hand, the research of biomarkers of ageing and age-related diseases in understanding the health trajectories of the oldest-old is unexplored territory. It is important that this lacuna is filled given the rapid growth in the number of very old people in many contemporary populations. The goal of this research might guarantee improving of life quality rather than searching the elixir of long life.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Authors' contributions

CRB wrote the drafts of this manuscript and revised the intellectual content; GC contributed to collection of literature data. CRB had the overall supervision of the review processing. All authors edited the paper and approved its final version.

Received: 23 December 2012 Accepted: 2 June 2013 Published: 20 June 2013

References

- Hayflick L: Entropy explains aging, genetic determinism explains longevity, and undefined terminology explains misunderstanding both. *PLoS Genet* 2007, 3:e220.
- Salminen A, Kaarniranta K: Genetics vs. entropy: longevity factors suppress the NF-kappaB-driven entropic aging process. Ageing Res Rev 2010, 9:298–314.
- Kirkwood TB, Holliday R: The evolution of ageing and longevity. Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 1979, 205:531–546.
- Kirkwood TBL: A systematic look at an old problem. Nature 2008, 451:644–647.
- Bostock CV, Soiza RL, Whalley LJ: Genetic determinants of ageing processes and diseases in later life. *Maturitas* 2009, 62:225–229.
- Longo VD, Finch CE: Genetics of aging and disease. Arch Neurol 2002, 59:1706–1709.
- Finch CE, Ruvkun G: The genetics of aging. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet 2001, 2:435–462.
- McGue M, Vaupel JW, Holm N, Harvald B: Longevity is moderately heritable in a sample of Danish Twins born 1870–1880. J Geront Biol Sci 1993, 348:B237–B244.
- Herskind AM, McGue M, Holm NV, Sorensen TI, Harvard B, Vaupel JW: The heritability of human longevity: a population-based study of 2872 Danish twin pairs born 1870–1900. *Hum Genet* 1996, 97:319–323.
- 10. Mattson MP: Pathways towards and away from Alzheimer's disease. *Nature* 2004, **430**:631–639.
- Puca AA, Daly MJ, Brewster SJ, Matise TC, Barrett J, Shea-Drinkwater M, Kang S, Joyce E, Nicoli J, Benson E, Kunkel LM, Perls T: A genome-wide scan for linkage to human exceptional longevity identifies a locus on chromosome 4. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2001, 98:10505–10508.

- Capri M, Salvioli S, Sevini F, Valensin S, Celani L, Monti D, Pawelec G, De Benedictis G, Gonos ES, Franceschi C: The genetics of human longevity. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2006, 1067:252–263.
- Lunetta KL, D'Agostino RB Sr, Karasik D, Benjamin EJ, Guo CY, Govindaraju R, Kiel DP, Kelly-Hayes M, Massaro JM, Pencina MJ, Seshadri S, Murabito JM: Genetic correlates of longevity and selected age-related phenotypes: a genome-wide association study in the Framingham Study. *BMC Med Genet* 2007, 19:8.
- de Magalhães JP, Curado J, Church GM: Meta-analysis of age-related gene expression profiles identifies common signatures of aging. *Bioinformatics* 2009, 25:875–881.
- 15. Troen BR: The biology of aging. Mt Sinai J Med. 2003, 70:3–22.
- 16. Sprott RL: Biomarkers of aging and disease: introduction and definitions. *Exp Gerontol* 2010, **45:**2–4.
- 17. Crimmins E, Vasunilashorn S, Kim JK, Alley D: Biomarkers related to aging in human populations. *Adv Clin Chem* 2008, **46**:161–216.
- Simm A, Johnson TE: Biomarkers of ageing: A challenge for the future. Exp Gerontol 2010, 45:731–732.
- Euser SM, van Bemmel T, Schram MT, Gussekloo J, Hofman A, Westendorp RG, Breteler MM: The effect of age on the association between blood pressure and cognitive function later in life. J Am Geriatr Soc 2009, 57:1232–1237.
- van Bemmel T, Vinkers DJ, Macfarlane PW, Gussekloo J, Westendorp RG: Markers of autonomic tone on a standard ECG are predictive of mortality in old age. Int J Cardiol 2006, 107:36–41.
- Martin-Ruiz C, Dickinson HO, Keys B, Rowan E, Kenny RA, Von Zglinicki T: Telomere length predicts poststroke mortality, dementia, and cognitive decline. *Ann Neurol* 2006, 60:174–180.
- Rodríguez RM, López-Vázquez A, López-Larrea C: Immune systems evolution. Adv Exp Med Biol 2012, 739:237–251.
- 23. Rock KL, Latz E, Ontiveros F, Kono H: The sterile inflammatory response. Annu Rev Immunol 2010, 28:321–342.
- Vasto S, Candore G, Balistreri CR, Caruso M, Colonna-Romano G, Grimaldi MP, Listi F, Nuzzo D, Lio D, Caruso C: Inflammatory networks in ageing, age-related diseases and longevity. *Mech Ageing Dev* 2007, 128:83–91.
- Gilmore TD, Wolenski FS: NF-κB: where did it come from and why? Immunol Rev 2012, 246:14–35.
- Newton K, Dixit VM: Signaling in innate immunity and inflammation. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 2012, 4:1–19.
- Balistreri CR, Caruso C, Listì F, Colonna-Romano G, Lio D, Candore G: LPS-mediated production of pro/anti-inflammatory cytokines and eicosanoids in whole blood samples: biological effects of +896A/G TLR4 polymorphism in a Sicilian population of healthy subjects. *Mech Ageing* Dev 2011, 132:86–92.
- Mitchell RN, Cotran RS: Acute and chronic inflammation, in Robbins Basic Pathology. Philadelphia, USA: Saunderrs; 2003:30–56.
- Lio D, Caruso C: IL-10, genetic polymorphism and its relevance to age related diseases. In *Interleukin-10*. Edited by Marincola FM. Georgetown, TX, USA: Eureka.com; 2006;93–106.
- 30. Candore G, Caruso C, Colonna-Romano G: Inflammation, genetic background and longevity. *Biogerontology* 2010, 11:565–573.
- Franceschi C, Bonafe' M, Valensin S, Olivieri F, De Luca M, Ottaviani E, De Benedictis G: Inflamm-aging. An evolutionary perspective on immunosenescence. Ann NY Acad Sci 2000, 908:244–254.
- 32. Licastro F, Candore G, Lio D, Porcellini E, Colonna-Romano G, Franceschi C, Caruso C: Innate immunity and inflammation in ageing: a key for understanding age-related diseases. *Immun Ageing* 2005, **2**:8.
- 33. Balistreri CR, Caruso C, Candore G: The role of adipose tissue and adipokines in obesity-related inflammatory diseases. *Mediators Inflamm* 2010, 2010:1–19.
- Balistreri CR, Colonna-Romano G, Lio D, Candore G, Caruso C: TLR4 polymorphisms and ageing: implications for the pathophysiology of age-related diseases. J Clin Immunol 2009, 29:406–415.
- Balistreri CR, Candore G, Accardi G, Bova M, Buffa S, Bulati M, Forte Gl, Listì F, Martorana A, Palmeri M, Pellicanò M, Vaccarino L, Scola L, Lio D: Colonna-Romano G. Genetics of longevity. data from the studies on Sicilian centenarians. Immun Ageing. 2012, 9:8.
- Salminen A, Kauppinen A, Kaarniranta K: Emerging role of NF-κB signaling in the induction of senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP). *Cell Signal* 2012, 24:835–845.
- Tchkonia T, Zhu Y, van Deursen J, Campisi J, Kirkland JL: Cellular senescence and the senescent secretory phenotype: therapeutic opportunities. J Clin Invest 2013, 123:966–972.

- Chien Y, Scuoppo C, Wang X, Fang X, Balgley B, Bolden JE, Premsrirut P, Luo W, Chicas A, Lee CS, Kogan SC, Lowe SW: Control of the senescenceassociated secretory phenotype by NF-kB promotes senescence and enhances chemosensitivity. *Genes Dev* 2011, 25:2125–2136.
- Crescenzi E, Pacifico F, Lavorgna A, De Palma R, D'Aiuto E, Palumbo G, Formisano S, Leonardi A: NF-κB-dependent cytokine secretion controls Fas expression on chemotherapy-induced premature senescent tumor cells. Oncogene 2011, 30:2707–2717.
- Rovillain E, Mansfield L, Caetano C, Alvarez-Fernandez M, Caballero OL, Medema RH, Hummerich H, Jat PS: Activation of nuclear factor-kappa B signalling promotes cellular senescence. Oncogene 2011, 30:2356–2366.
- Salminen A, Kaarniranta K, Kauppinen A: Inflammaging: disturbed interplay between autophagy and inflammasomes. 4th edition. Albany NY: Aging; 2012:166–175.
- Campisi J, Andersen JK, Kapahi P, Melov S: Cellular senescence: a link between cancer and age-related degenerative disease? *Semin Cancer Biol* 2011, 21:354–359.
- Ishii T, Miyazawa M, Onouchi H, Yasuda K, Hartman PS, Ishii N: Model animals for the study of oxidative stress from complex II. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1827, 2013:588–597.
- Jacob KD, Hooten NN, Trzeciak AR, Evans MK: Markers of oxidant stress that are clinically relevant in aging and age-related disease. *Mech Ageing Dev* 2013, 134:139–157.
- Dai DF, Rabinovitch PS, Ungvari Z: Mitochondria and cardiovascular aging. Circ Res 2012, 110:1109–1124.
- Morán M, Moreno-Lastres D, Marín-Buera L, Arenas J, Martín MA, Ugalde C: Mitochondrial respiratory chain dysfunction: implications in neurodegeneration. *Free Radic Biol Med* 2012, 53:595–609.
- 47. Ma ZA, Zhao Z, Turk J: Mitochondrial dysfunction and β-cell failure in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Exp Diabetes Res* 2012, **2012**:703538.
- Weinberg F, Chandel NS: Reactive oxygen species-dependent signaling regulates cancer. Cell Mol Life Sci 2009, 66:3663–3673.
- Salminen A, Ojala J, Kaarniranta K, Kauppinen A: Mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress activate inflammasomes: impact on the aging process and age-related diseases. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 2012, 69:2999–3013.
- Deretic V: Autophagy as an innate immunity paradigm: expanding the scope and repertoire of pattern recognition receptors. *Curr Opinion Immunol* 2011, 24:1–11.
- 51. West AP, Shadel GS, Ghosh S: Mitochondria in innate immune responses. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2011, **11:**389–402.
- 52. Martinon F, Mayor A, Tschopp J: The inflammasomes: guardians of the body. *Annu Rev Immunol* 2009, **27:**229–265.
- Medzhitov R: Origin and physiological roles of inflammation. Nature 2008, 454:428–435.
- 54. Zhou R, Yazdi AS, Menu P, Tschopp J: A role for mitochondria in NLRP3 inflammasome activation. *Nature* 2011, 469:221–225.
- Brunk UT, Terman A: The mitochondrial-lysosomal axis theory of aging. Accumulation of damaged mitochondria as a result of imperfect autophagocytosis. Eur J Biochem 2002, 269:1996–2002.
- Green DR, Galluzzi L, Kroemer G: Mitochondria and the autophagyinflammation-cell death axis in organismal aging Science. 2011, 333:1109–1112.
- 57. Rubinsztein DC, Marino G, Kroemer G: *Autophagy and aging Cell* 2011, **146:**682–695.
- Cianfanelli V, Cecconi F: Autophagy-dependent NFkB regulation. Cell Cycle 2012, 11:436–437.
- Laplante M, Sabatini DM: mTOR signaling in growth control and disease. Cell 2012, 149:274–293.
- Olivieri F, Rippo MR, Prattichizzo F, Babini L, Graciotti L, Recchioni R, Procopio AD: Toll like receptor signaling in "inflammaging": microRNA as new players. *Immun Ageing* 2013, 10:11.
- 61. Tomoiu A, Larbi A, Fortin C, Dupuis G, Fulop T Jr: Do membrane rafts contribute to human immunosenescence? Ann N Y Acad Sci 2007, 1100:98–110.
- Legler DF, Micheau O, Doucey MA, Tschopp J, Bron C: Recruitment of TNF receptor 1 to lipid rafts is essential for TNFalpha-mediated NF-kappaB activation. *Immunity* 2003, 18:655–664.
- Larbi A, Muti E, Giacconi R, Mocchegiani E, Fülöp T: Role of lipid rafts in activation-induced cell death: the fas pathway in aging. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 2006, 584:137–155.
- Fessler MB, Parks JS: Intracellular lipid flux and membrane microdomains as organizing principles in inflammatory cell signaling. *J Immunol* 2011, 187:1529–1535.

- 65. Tewari R, Choudhury SR, Mehta VS, Sen E: **TNFα regulates the localization** of **CD40 in lipid rafts of glioma cells.** *Mol Biol Rep* 2012, **39**:8695–8699.
- Martins JO, Zanoni FL, Martins DO, Coimbra R, Krieger JE, Jancar S, Sannomiya P: Insulin regulates cytokines and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 gene expression through nuclear factor-kappaB activation in LPS-induced acute lung injury in rats. Shock 2009, 31:404–409.
- 67. Schumacher B, Garinis GA, Hoeijmakers JH: Age to survive: DNA damage and aging. *Trends Genet* 2008, 2:77–85.
- Wu ZH, Miyamoto S: Many faces of NF-kappaB signaling induced by genotoxic stress. J Mol Med (Berl) 2007, 85:1187–1202.
- Salminen A, Suuronen T, Huuskonen J, Kaarniranta K: NEMO shuttle: a link between DNA damage and NF-kappaB activation in progeroid syndromes? *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2008, 367:715–718.
- Beneke S: Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase activity in different pathologies the link to inflammation and infarction. *Exp Gerontol* 2008, 43:605–614.
- 71. Campisi J: Senescent cells, tumor suppression, and organismal aging: good citizens, bad neighbors. *Cell* 2005, **120**:513–522.
- Balistreri CR, Pisano C, Merlo D, Fattouch K, Caruso M, Incalcaterra E, Colonna-Romano G, Candore G: Is the mean blood leukocyte telomere length a predictor for sporadic thoracic aortic aneurysm? Data from a preliminary study Rejuvenation Res 2012, 1:170–173.
- Lemke G, Rothlin CV: Immunobiology of the TAM receptors Nat Rev Immunol 2008, 8:327–336.
- 74. Ridker PM: The JUPITER trial: results, controversies, and implications for prevention. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes* 2009, **2**:279–285.
- Speakman JR, Mitchell SE: Caloric restriction. Mol Aspects Med 2011, 32:159–221.
- Ash CE, Merry BJ: The molecular basis by which dietary restricted feeding reduces mitochondrial reactive oxygen species generation. *Mech Ageing Dev* 2011, 132:43–54.
- Nisoli E, Tonetto C, Cardile A, Cozzi V, Bracale R, Tedesco L, Falcone S, Valerio A, Cantoni O, Clementi E, Moncada S, Carruba MO: Calorie restriction promotes mitochondrial biogenesis by inducing the expression of eNOS. *Science* 2005, 310:314–317.
- 78. Sauve AA, Youn DY: Sirtuins: NAD(+)-dependent deacetylase mechanism and regulation. *Curr Opin Chem Biol* 2012, 16:535–543.
- Guarente L: Sirtuins and calorie restriction. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2012, 13:207.
- Geng YQ, Li TT, Liu XY, Li ZH, Fu YC: SIRT1 and SIRT5 activity expression and behavioral responses to calorie restriction. J Cell Biochem 2011, 112:3755–3761.
- Huang W, Shang WL, Wang HD, Wu WW, Hou SX: Sirt1 overexpression protects murine osteoblasts against TNF-α-induced injury in vitro by suppressing the NF-κB signaling pathway. Acta Pharmacol Sin 2012, 33:668–674.
- Jung YJ, Lee JE, Lee AS, Kang KP, Lee S, Park SK, Lee SY, Han MK, Kim DH, Kim W: SIRT1 overexpression decreases cisplatin-induced acetylation of NF-κB p65 subunit and cytotoxicity in renal proximal tubule cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2012, 419:206–210.
- 83. Anderson RM, Weindruch R: The caloric restriction paradigm: implications for healthy human aging. *Am J Hum Biol* 2012, 24:101–106.
- Kennedy BK, Steffen KK, Kaeberlein M: Ruminations on dietary restriction and aging. Cell Mol Life Sci 2007, 64:1323–1328.
- 85. Piper MD, Bartke A: Diet and aging. Cell Metab 2008, 8:99–104.
- 86. Roth GS, Ingram DK, Lane MA: Caloric restriction in primates and relevance to humans. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2001, **928**:305–315.
- Walford RL, Mock D, Verdery R, MacCallum T: Calorie restriction in biosphere 2: alterations in physiologic, hematologic, hormonal, and biochemical parameters in humans restricted for a 2-year period. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2002, 57:B211–B224.
- 88. Ribarič S: Diet and aging. Oxid Med Cell Longevity 2012, 2012:741468.
- Fontana L, Meyer TE, Klein S, Holloszy JO: Long-term calorie restriction is highly effective in reducing the risk for atherosclerosis in humans. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2004, 101:6659–6663.
- Fontana L, Villareal DT, Weiss EP, Racette SB, Steger-May K, Klein S, Holloszy JO, Washington University School of Medicine CALERIE Group: Calorie restriction or exercise: effects on coronary heart disease risk factors. A randomized, controlled trial. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2007, 293(1):E197–E202.
- Holloszy JO, Fontana L: Caloric restriction in humans. Exp Gerontol 2007, 42:709–712.

- Rochon J, Bales CW, Ravussin E, Redman LM, Holloszy JO, Racette SB, Roberts SB, Das SK, Romashkan S, Galan KM, Hadley EC, Kraus WE, CALERIE Study Group: Design and conduct of the CALERIE study: comprehensive assessment of the long-term effects of reducing intake of energy. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2011, 66:97–108.
- Stein PK, Soare A, Meyer TE, Cangemi R, Holloszy JO, Fontana L: Caloric restriction may reverse age-related autonomic decline in humans. *Aging Cell* 2012, 11:644–650.
- 94. Madeo F, Tavernarakis N, Kroemer G: Can autophagy promote longevity? Nat Cell Biol 2010, 12:842–846.
- Berstein LM: Metformin in obesity, cancer and aging: addressing controversies. 4th edition. Albany NY: Aging; 2012:320–329.
- Van Meter M, Seluanov A, Gorbunova V: Forever young? Exploring the link between rapamycin, longevity and cancer. *Cell Cycle* 2012, 11:4296–4297.
- Pallauf K, Rimbach G: Autophagy, polyphenols and healthy ageing. Ageing Res Rev 2012, 12:237–252.
- Zhang C, Lin G, Wan W, Li X, Zeng B, Yang B, Huang C: Resveratrol, a polyphenol phytoalexin, protects cardiomyocytes against anoxia/ reoxygenation injury via the TLR4/NF-KB signaling pathway. Int J Mol Med 2012, 29:557–563.
- Relja B, Töttel E, Breig L, Henrich D, Schneider H, Marzi I, Lehnert M: Plant polyphenols attenuate hepatic injury after hemorrhage/resuscitation by inhibition of apoptosis, oxidative stress, and inflammation via NF-kappaB in rats. *Eur J Nutr* 2012, 51:311–321.
- 100. Calabrese E, lavicoli I, Calabrese V: Hormesis: its impact on medicine and health. *Hum Exp Toxicol* 2012, **13:**215–235.
- 101. Chirumbolo S: Possible role of NF-κB in hormesis during ageing. Biogerontology 2012, 13:637–646.
- Salvioli S, Sikora E, Cooper EL, Franceschi C: Curcumin in cell death processes: a challenge for CAM of age-related pathologies. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med 2007, 4:181–190.
- Sikora E, Bielak-Zmijewska A, Mosieniak G, Piwocka K: The promise of slow down ageing may come from curcumin. *Curr Pharm Des* 2010, 16:884–892.
- 104. Mosieniak G, Adamowicz M, Alster O, Jaskowiak H, Szczepankiewicz AA, Wilczynski GM, Ciechomska IA, Sikora E: Curcumin induces permanent growth arrest of human colon cancer cells: link between senescence and autophagy. *Mech Ageing Dev* 2012, 133:444–455.
- 105. Quitschke WW: Curcuminoid binding to embryonal carcinoma cells: reductive metabolism, induction of apoptosis, senescence, and inhibition of cell proliferation. *PLoS One* 2012, **7**:e39568.
- 106. Ali RE, Rattan SI: Curcumin's biphasic hormetic response on proteasome activity and heat-shock protein synthesis in human keratinocytes. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2006, 1067:394–399.
- 107. Strong R, Miller RA, Astle CM, Baur JA, de Cabo R, Fernandez E, Guo W, Javors M, Kirkland JL, Nelson JF, Sinclair DA, Teter B, Williams D, Zaveri N, Nadon NL, Harrison DE: Evaluation of resveratrol, green tea extract, curcumin, oxaloacetic acid, and medium-chain triglyceride oil on life span of genetically heterogeneous mice. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2013, 68:6–16.
- Walsh NP, Gleeson M, Shephard RJ, Gleeson M, Woods JA, Bishop NC, Fleshner M, Green C, Pedersen BK, Hoffman-Goetz L, Rogers CJ, Northoff H, Abbasi A, Simon P: Position statement. Part one: immune function and exercise. Exerc Immunol Rev 2011, 17:6–63.
- 109. Kay SJ, Fiatarone Singh MA: The influence of physical activity on abdominal fat: a systematic review of the literature. Obes Rev 2006, 7:183–200.
- 110. Brandt C, Pedersen BK: The role of exercise-induced myokines in muscle homeostasis and the defense against chronic diseases. J Biomed Biotechnol 2010, 2010;520258. Epub 2010 Mar 9.
- 111. Ambarish V, Chandrashekara S, Suresh KP: Moderate regular exercises reduce inflammatory response for physical stress. Indian J Physiol Pharmacol 2012, 56:7–14.
- 112. Candore G, Balistreri CR, Colonna-Romano G, Grimaldi MP, Lio D, Listi' F, Scola L, Vasto S, Caruso C: Immunosenescence and antiimmunosenescence therapies: the case of probiotics. *Rejuvenation Res* 2008, 11:425–432.
- 113. Balistreri CR, Accardi G, Candore G: **Probiotics and prebiotics: health promotion by immune modulation in the elderly.** In *Bioactive Food as Dietary Interventions for Arthritis and Related Inflammatory Diseases.* Edited by Watson RR, Preedy VR. San Diego: Academic Press, 2013:257–269.

- 114. Liu L, Rando TA: Manifestations and mechanisms of stem cell aging. J Cell Biol 2011, **193:**257–266.
- 115. Rando TA, Chang HY: Aging, rejuvenation, and epigenetic reprogramming: resetting the aging clock. *Cell* 2012, **148**:46–57.
- Tacutu R, Budovsky A, Yanai H, Fraifeld VE: Molecular links between cellular senescence, longevity and age-related diseases—a systems biology perspective. Aging (Albany NY) 2011, 3:1178–1191.
- 117. Takahashi K, Yamanaka S: Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. *Cell* 2006, 126:663–676.
- Takubo K, Aida J, Izumiyama-Shimomura N, Ishikawa N, Sawabe M, Kurabayashi R, Shiraishi H, Arai T, Nakamura KN: Changes of telomere length with aging. *Geriatr Gerontol Int* 2010, 10(Suppl. 1):S197–S206.
- 119. Balistreri CR, Accardi G, Buffa S, Bulati M, Bova M, Candore G, Colonna-Romano G, Lio D, Martorana A, Caruso C: Centenarian Offspring: a model for Understanding Longevity. Curr Vasc Pharm 2012. in press.

doi:10.1186/1742-4933-10-24

Cite this article as: Balistreri *et al.*: NF-κB pathway activators as potential ageing biomarkers: targets for new therapeutic strategies. *Immunity & Ageing* 2013 **10**:24.

Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and take full advantage of:

- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- No space constraints or color figure charges
- Immediate publication on acceptance
- Inclusion in PubMed, CAS, Scopus and Google Scholar
- Research which is freely available for redistribution

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit

) BioMed Central
5. Association of KLOTHO polymorphisms with healthy ageing: a systematic review and meta-analysis

ASSOCIATION OF KLOTHO POLYMORPHISMS WITH HEALTHY AGEING: A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW and META-ANALYSIS.

Danilo Di Bona^{1,2}, Giulia Accardi¹, Claudia Virruso¹, Giuseppina Candore^{1,2}

and Calogero Caruso^{1,2}

¹Immunosenescence Unit, Department of Pathobiology and Medical and Forensic Biotechnologies; ²Unit of Transfusion Medicine, University Hospital, University of Palermo.

Running Title: KLOTHO polymorphisms and ageing

Author for correspondence: Dr. Danilo Di Bona, MD, PhD U.O. di Medicina Trasfusionale AOUP Paolo Giaccone Via del Vespro 129 90127 Palermo Phone: +390916553222; Fax: +390916553230; e-mail: danilodibona@yahoo.it

2

ABSTRACT

Nowadays is clearly evident that genetic background constitutes integral part of ageing and longevity. Many studies on long lived people have been conducted emphasizing the role of certain genes in long life. Classic case-control studies, genome wide association studies and high throughput sequencing have permitted to identify a variety of genetic variants seemingly associated with longevity. Over the years, ageing research has focused on insulin/IGF-1 signaling pathway because of its evolutionary conserved correlation with life-span extension in model animals. Indeed, many single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), associated with longevity were identified in genes encoding proteins that take part in this metabolic pathway. Closely related to this pathway is the Klotho gene. It encodes a type-I membrane protein expressed in two forms, membrane and secreted. The last form acts suppressing oxidative stress and growth factor signaling and regulating ion channels and transporters. In particular, its over-expression seems to be able to suppress insulin/IGF-1 signaling extending life span. Thus, our aim was to put together the results showed in literature concerning the association between the functional variant of KLOTHO "KL-VS" stretch that contains six polymorphisms in linkage disequilibrium and successful ageing to quantify the possible effect of the variants. The results of our systematic review indicate that Klotho KL-VS variant is associated with healthy ageing.

Keywords: Ageing, Klotho, Longevity, Systematic review

INTRODUCTION

3

The ageing and longevity are multi-factorial events. Genetic, epigenetic, stochastic and environmental factors seem to have a crucial role in ageing and longevity. Approximately 25% of the overall variation in human lifespan can be attributed to genetic factors, which become more relevant for extreme longevity. Conditioning factors, which arise in the first part of life account for another 25% of such variability; life circumstances at adult and old age may account for about the remaining 50%. Concerning the role of genetics, three approaches, candidate gene approach, genome-wide association studies (GWAS) and meta-analysis have been used to assess the contribution of different polymorphisms (1-3).

The candidate gene approach is a hypothesis-driven method widely employed by casecontrol studies. The genotype and allele frequencies of two populations are compared: one affected and one unaffected by a complex trait, like longevity. If the identified allelic variants are more prevalent in the population in study as compared to controls, these genotypes are associated with the complex trait (4). The number of reported studies on the association between one or multiple single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and ageing and longevity is greatly increasing even though a large number of these studies show inconsistent results (for an extensive analysis of "old" and recent data refers, to 2, 5). Consistent replication in different populations has been argued as strong evidence of a true association. However, the genetics of ageing and longevity is complex and may alter according to gender and country. The lack of replication may not necessarily imply a false association, but might simply point to the need for more studies in certain populations or more detailed study of the function of a gene, taking into account different gene environment interactions, since, as previously stated, ageing and longevity phenotypes are strongly affected by life-style and environmental factors and by complex epistatic and pleiotropic effects in several genes (1, 6, 7).

GWAS consists in a scanning of whole genome analyzing markers to find variants associated with the trait of interest using a case-control study. It is important to note that the finding of common genetic variants with low allelic frequency across studies is consistently difficult because of the multitude of data to analyze. In addition, population admixture may produce possible false positives due to different genetic backgrounds among ethnic groups. However, GWAS is an useful tool for the identification of complex trait associated alleles with frequency above 5%. Each, taken singularly, has a moderate or null effect but it is possible to speculate that more alleles have, en bloc, a synergic rather than an additional effect (4). With GWAS approach of long-living individuals, several loci have reached a genome wide significant level not always confirmed in different studies (3,8).

However, some interesting data have recently been obtained, such as those derived by metaanalysis (9). Meta-analysis provides a mean to quantitatively synthesize association data across studies of the same genetic variant. Thus, the use of meta-analyses has recently become an important part of genetic research mainly to reconcile previously conducted studies that gave inconsistent results (4, 9).

ASSOCIATION OF KLOTHO POLYMORPHISMS WITH HEALTHY AGEING: A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW and META-ANALYSIS. (doi: 10.1089/rej.2013.1523) article has been peer-reviewed and accepted for publication, but has yet to undergo copyediting and proof correction. The final published version may differ from this proof.

The gene Klotho, aptly named after one of the Greek goddesses Fates, believed by the ancients to spin the thread of life, encodes a type-I membrane protein expressed in two forms, membrane and secreted. It was discovered about fifteen years ago, as a gene which, if knocked out in mice, precipitates their accelerated ageing, including short lifespan, while its over-expression suppresses ageing and extends lifespan (10,11). On this basis, some human studies sought to demonstrate an association between the functional variant of Klotho "KL-VS" stretch that contains six polymorphisms in linkage disequilibrium, involved in modulation of its activity by influencing trafficking and catalytic activity of its secreted form, and ageing and longevity. However, the results have been inconsistent (12-15).

The aim of this study was to review the studies available to date on the correlation between the KL-VS variant of KLOTHO gene and human ageing and longevity. We used a meta-analytic approach to quantitatively synthesize the possible effect of the variant and to reconcile the study inconsistencies.

METHODS

Selection of studies

The primary source of the studies addressing the role of KLOTHO KL-VS variant in longevity was the PUBMED database (from January 2003 to September 2013) limited to English language literature. The medical subject headings used for PUBMED search were "Klotho", KL-VS variant, "ageing" and "longevity".

The abstracts found were read to identify studies examining the association between the above mentioned allele and ageing and longevity in healthy aged or centenarians. We also performed a manual search of references cited in published articles. The studies were read in their entirety to assess their appropriateness for inclusion in the meta-analysis.

Any human population-based association study, independently on sample size, was included if it met the following criteria: 1) case-control study; 2) there were at least two comparison groups of which one consisted of healthy aged or long-living individuals; 3) tested association between ageing and longevity and the variant.

Data extraction

ASSOCIATION OF KLOTHO POLYMORPHISMS WITH HEALTHY AGEING: A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW and META-ANALYSIS. (doi: 10.1089/rej.2013.1523) article has been peer-reviewed and accepted for publication, but has yet to undergo copyediting and proof correction. The final published version may differ from this proof.

This

Extraction of data was independently performed by DDB, GA and CV who compared results and agreed on a consensus; disagreements were settled by discussion.

Statistical analysis

For meta-analysis, data were analyzed using *Review Manager*, version 5.1, a statistical software package for managing and analyzing all aspects of a Cochrane Collaboration systematic review (The Cochrane Collaboration, Oxford, UK, 1999). Controls were assumed to be as young or younger subjects compared to aged and long-living individuals, which represented the cases. But the cut-off value between cases and controls varied greatly among individual studies. The overall odds ratio (OR) between the frequencies of alleles in both cases and controls was estimated with models based on both fixed-effects and random-effects assumptions. The fixed effects model considers only within-study variability. The random effect model uses weights that incorporate both

6

the within-study and between-study variances. Because of the high heterogeneity between the populations of most of the studies included in this meta-analysis, we have presented the results of random-effects models that are the most conservative ones (16). The 95% Confidence Interval (95% CI) of the OR was also calculated.

Page 7 of 20

RESULTS

Characteristics of the studies.

Four studies on the association between Klotho KL-VS variant and ageing have been identified by our search strategy (12-15). The Arking et al. study (12) was performed on three different populations (Bohemian Czech, Baltimore Caucasian, Baltimore African-American) and thus it has been considered as three different studies for the inclusion in the meta-analysis. The other three studies were performed on US Caucasians (13), Italians (14), and Indians (15). The studies were conducted on 2,913 aged people (from 199 to 723) and 2,206 controls (from 226 to 463) on aggregate. A remarkable heterogeneity is shown in the age of enrolled populations both in cases (range, from 41 to 109 years) and controls (range, from newborn to 65 years). In regard to Majumdar et al. study (15), we include in the meta-analysis only the healthy control population. Thus, people equal or under 40 are considered as the control population, whereas people over 40 are considered as aged (Table 1A). The frequency of the Klotho genotypes in both cases and controls reported in each of the studies included in the meta-analysis is shown in the Table 1B. It should be noted that in the Invidia et al. study (14) a single SNP 115G>A, was used to tag KL-VS haplotype since all six SNPs occur in perfect linkage disequilibrium.

META-ANALYSIS

The effect for the KL-VS variant on ageing, suggested as favoring longevity, through a putative increase of secreted Khloto levels, has been estimated for each study. Five out of six studies (12A,B,C,14,15) show a little favorable effect on longevity, but only two of these reach the statistical significance (12A, 14). In contrast, the Novelli et al. study (13) show a little detrimental effect on longevity. The pooled summary OR for the genotypic comparison between the wild type (wt/wt) vs. the heterozygous (wt/KL-VS) variant is 1.14 (OR: 1.14, 95% C.I.: 1.00–1.30) with a marginal statistical significance (p=0.05) using the random-effects model (Figure 1A). In contrast, when we compare the Klotho wt homozygous subjects (wt/wt) vs. KL-VS-bearing genotypes

8

(wt/KL-VS + KL-VS/KL-VS), the summary OR is 1.10 (95% C.I.: 0.97–1.25; p=0.13), suggesting that KL-VS homozygous subjects not only do not show any advantage in ageing, but seem to have a disadvantage (Figure 1B), although this comparison does not reach the statistical significance. This observation seems to be confirmed by comparing KL-VS homozygous people (KL-VS/KL-VS) vs. Klotho wt homozygous + heterozygous subjects (KL-VS/wt + wt/wt) (OR: 0.73; 95% C.I.: 0.41–1.30; p=0.29), but, also in this case, with a statistically not significant result (Figure 1C). Notably, the I² value for heterogeneity in this last comparison is 50%, showing a significant between-study heterogeneity compared to the first two comparisons which do not show any between-study heterogeneity (I^2 =0%).

ASSOCIATION OF KLOTHO POLYMORPHISMS WITH HEALTHY AGEING: A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW and META-ANALYSIS. (doi: 10.1089/rej.2013.1523) article has been peer-reviewed and accepted for publication, but has yet to undergo copyediting and proof correction. The final published version may differ from this proof.

This

DISCUSSION

Our meta-analysis summarizes the evidence to date regarding the association between Klotho KL-VS variant and ageing and longevity, representing a pooled total of 2,913 cases and 2,206 controls. The results indicate a significant association of the variant with healthy ageing and longevity, despite the serious limitations of the study.

The results of this study are subjected to many limitations, which could partially mask the true genetic effect. First of all, it must be emphasized that there is a remarkable heterogeneity between the populations included in the different studies, both in the cases and the controls. In fact, while the Arking et al. study (12) uses the newborn as control group, the other three studies use people under 35 (13), under 40 (15) or between 19-65 year (14). There are many differences also between the ageing populations, leading, in some cases, to an overlapping between cases and controls of different studies (Table 1A).

The populations included in the analysis are from different ethnicity. However, a subgroup analysis exploring the effect on Klotho genetic variant on populations of the same ethnic groups cannot be performed, given the low number of available studies.

It should be noted, then, that the Arking et al. study (12) shows a genetic effect only in the Bohemian Czech population, suggesting that genetic or environmental factors could influence the observed effect. However, homozygous elderly individuals were underrepresented in the three populations under study (see below).

Although the presence of the KL-VS variant in heterozygosis is associated with ageing and longevity compared to the Klotho wild type gene, the KL-VS variant in homozygosis show an opposite effect. This could be due to a true genetic effect only in heterozygous people, with a mechanism not related to the gene dose. Alternatively, it could be due to the little sample size of the KL-VS homozygous group (Figure 1C) which hampers the reliability of the statistical analysis. This latter hypothesis is suggested by the high between-study heterogeneity and the high within-study

variance observed in the comparison between KL-VS homozygous group and the KL-VS heterozygous group + wild type (Figure 1C), with studies showing conflicting results, differently from the other comparisons (Figures 1A, 1B). However, cross-sectional and prospective studies confirm a genetic model in which the KL-VS allele confers a heterozygous advantage in conjunction with a marked homozygous disadvantage with low levels of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, high systolic blood pressure, increased risk of stroke and early onset coronary artery disease, and mortality (17, 18).

Finally, in Invidia et al. study (14) it has been demonstrated that the KL-VS variant has been observed to be increased in elderly, but not in the group of long-living people, suggesting that this KL-VS heterozygous genotype is favorable for survival in old people, its beneficial effect decreasing thereafter, and becoming no more evident at the extreme ages.

Concerning the function of Klotho leading to such effects on healthy ageing and longevity, the soluble form of Klotho, released from cell membranes into the serum, has homology to the family 1 glycosidases that cleave glycosidic bonds in sugars, glycolipids and glycoproteins. It acts on several targets including the receptor of insulin/insulin-like growth factor (IGF-1) signaling pathway (10,11). It is noteworthy that its activity seems inversely correlated with the activity of this pathway: the decreased lifespan of Klotho knockout mice is rescued by the Insulin/IGF-1 pathway inactivation (19). Thus, it is possible that secreted Klotho protein may modify glycans of the insulin/IGF-1 receptors that inhibits their activity and/or alters cell surface abundance (10,11).

ASSOCIATION OF KLOTHO POLYMORPHISMS WITH HEALTHY AGEING: A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW and META-ANALYSIS. (doi: 10.1089/rej.2013.1523) article has been peer-reviewed and accepted for publication, but has yet to undergo copyediting and proof correction. The final published version may differ from this proof.

This

The inhibition of this pathway has a critical role in the determination of longevity and several variants which reduce this signaling have been identified: some studies have shown their association with longevity (9). The bond of Insulin/IGF-1 to the specific receptor activates the phosphatidylinositol-3'kinase through the insulin related substrate. It leads to the activation of AKT that, in turn, inhibits Forkhead box O3A (FOXO3A). FOXO3A acts as transcription factor, activating the expression of many homeostatic genes, including anti-oxidant catalase and mitochondrial manganese-superoxide dismutase (11,20), hence the inhibition of this pathway

.

induces resistance to oxidative stress.

We can conclude that KL-VS variant, that influences the trafficking and catalytic activity of the secreted protein, favors healthy ageing and longevity inhibiting Insulin/IGF-1 signaling pathway. In fact, adequate suppression of this pathway is an evolutionarily conserved mechanism for antiageing and lifespan extension since this pathway negatively regulates transcription factors FOXO involved in upregulation of homeostatic genes (9-11,20).

CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

The authors have no conflict of interest.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This meta-analysis has been entirely supported by the authors' respective institutions. G.A. and C.V. are PhD students (Tutor GC, Supervisor CC) and this paper is submitted in partial fulfillment of their PhD degree.

REFERENCES

- Caruso C, Passarino G, Puca A, Scapagnini G. "Positive biology": the centenarian lesson. Immun Ageing. 2012;9:5.
- Montesanto A, Dato S, Bellizzi D, Rose G, Passarino G. Epidemiological, genetic and epigenetic aspects of the research on healthy ageing and longevity. Immun Ageing. 2012; 9:6.
- Ferrario A, Villa F, Malovini A, Araniti F, Puca AA. The application of genetics approaches to the study of exceptional longevity in humans: potential and limitations. Immun Ageing. 2012;9:7.
- 4. Incalcaterra E, Accardi G, Balistreri CR, Caimi G, Candore G, Caruso M, Caruso C. Proinflammatory genetic markers of atherosclerosis. Curr Atheroscler Rep. 2013;15:329-337.
- Salvioli S, Olivieri F, Marchegiani F, Cardelli M, Santoro A, Bellavista E, Mishto M, Invidia L, Capri M, Valensin S, Sevini F, Cevenini E, Celani L, Lescai F, Gonos E, Caruso C, Paolisso G, De Benedictis G, Monti D, Franceschi C. Genes, ageing and longevity in humans: problems, advantages and perspectives. Free Radic Res. 2006;40:1303-23.
- Franceschi C, Motta L, Motta M, Malaguarnera M, Capri M, Vasto S, Candore G, Caruso C; IMUSCE. The extreme longevity: the state of the art in Italy. Exp Gerontol. 2008;43:45-52.
- Capri M, Salvioli S, Monti D, Caruso C, Candore G, Vasto S, Olivieri F, Marchegiani F, Sansoni P, Baggio G, Mari D, Passarino G, De Benedictis G, Franceschi C. Human longevity within an evolutionary perspective: the peculiar paradigm of a post-reproductive genetics. Exp Gerontol. 2008;43:53-60.
- 8. Beekman M, Blanch é H, Perola M, Hervonen A, Bezrukov V, Sikora E, Flachsbart F, Christiansen L, De Craen AJ, Kirkwood TB, Rea IM, Poulain M, Robine JM, Valensin S, Stazi MA, Passarino G, Deiana L, Gonos ES, Paternoster L, Sørensen TI, Tan Q, Helmer Q, van den Akker EB, Deelen J, Martella F, Cordell HJ, Ayers KL, Vaupel JW, Törnwall O, Johnson TE, Schreiber S, Lathrop M, Skytthe A, Westendorp RG, Christensen K, Gampe J, Nebel A, Houwing-Duistermaat JJ, Slagboom PE, Franceschi C; GEHA consortium. *et al.*

Genome-wide linkage analysis for human longevity: Genetics of Healthy Aging Study. Aging Cell 2013; 12: 184-93.

- Di Bona D, Accardi G, Virruso C, Candore G, Caruso C. Association between genetic variations in the insulin/insulin-like growth factor (IGF-1) signaling pathway and longevity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Curr Vasc Pharmacol 2013, in press
- 10. Kuro-o M. Klotho and aging. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2009;1790:1049-58.
- 11. Wang Y, Sun Z. Current understanding of klotho. Ageing Res Rev. 2009;8:43-51
- 12. Arking DE, Krebsova A, Macek M Sr, Macek M Jr, Arking A, Mian IS, Fried L, Hamosh A, Dey S, McIntosh I, Dietz HC. Association of human aging with a functional variant of klotho. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99:856-61
- Novelli V, Viviani Anselmi C, Roncarati R, Guffanti G, Malovini A, Piluso G, Puca AA. Lack of replication of genetic associations with human longevity. Biogerontology. 2008;9:85-92
- 14. Invidia L, Salvioli S, Altilia S, Pierini M, Panourgia MP, Monti D, De Rango F, Passarino G, Franceschi C. The frequency of Klotho KL-VS polymorphism in a large Italian population, from young subjects to centenarians, suggests the presence of specific time windows for its effect. Biogerontology. 2010;11:67-73.
- Majumdar V, Nagaraja D, Christopher R. Association of the functional KL-VS variant of Klotho gene with early-onset ischemic stroke. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2010;403:412-6.
- DerSimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analysis in clinical trials. Controlled Clin. Trials 1986; 7: 177–188.
- 17. Arking DE, Becker DM, Yanek LR, Fallin D, Judge DP, Moy TF, Becker LC, Dietz HC. KLOTHO allele status and the risk of early-onset occult coronary artery disease. Am J Hum Genet. 2003;72:1154-61
- 18. Arking DE, Atzmon G, Arking A, Barzilai N, Dietz HC. Association between a functional variant of the KLOTHO gene and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, blood pressure, stroke, and longevity. Circ Res. 2005;96:412-8
- 19. Kurosu H, Yamamoto M, Clark JD, Pastor JV, Nandi A, Gurnani P, McGuinness OP, Chikuda H, Yamaguchi M, Kawaguchi H, Shimomura I, Takayama Y, Herz J, Kahn CR, Rosenblatt KP, Kuro-o M. Suppression of aging in mice by the hormone Klotho. Science. 2005;309:1829-33

20. Ziv E, Hu D. Genetic variation in insulin/IGF-1 signaling pathways and longevity. Ageing Res Rev 2011; 10: 201-4.

Figure 1A. Meta-analysis of six case-control studies of the Klotho KL-VS polymorphism and ageing using the random-effects model. The odds ratio and 95% confidence interval (CI) for the effect of the wt/KL-VS vs. wt/wt genotypes on ageing are plotted on the graph. Studies are arranged chronologically based on the year of publication.

Arking A 2002: Bohemian Czech population; Arking B: Baltimore Caucasian population; Arking C: Baltimore African-American population.

Figure 1B. Meta-analysis of six case-control studies of the Klotho KL-VS polymorphism and ageing using the random-effects model. The odds ratio and 95% confidence interval (CI) for the effect of the KL-VS/KL-VS+ wt/KL-VS vs. wt/wt genotypes on ageing are plotted on the graph. Studies are arranged chronologically based on the year of publication.

Arking A 2002: Bohemian Czech population; Arking B: Baltimore Caucasian population; Arking C: Baltimore African-American population.

Figure 1C. Meta-analysis of six case-control studies of the Klotho KL-VS polymorphism and ageing using the random-effects model. The odds ratio and 95% confidence interval (CI) for the effect of the KL-VS/KL-VS vs. wt/KL-VS+ wt/wt genotypes on ageing are plotted on the graph. Studies are arranged chronologically based on the year of publication.

Arking A 2002: Bohemian Czech population; Arking B: Baltimore Caucasian population; Arking C: Baltimore African-American population.

Study	Study Population		ases	Controls		
(year of publication)						
		n	Age	n	Age	
Arking et al. (2002)	Bohemian Czech	415	≥75	390	newborn	
Arking et al. (2002)	Baltimore Caucasian	723	≥65	420	newborn	
Arking et al. (2002)	Baltimore African- American	242	≥65	226	newborn	
Novelli et al. (2008)	U.S. Caucasian	708	93- 105	332	<35	
Invidia et al. (2010)	Italian	626	66- 109	463	19-65	
Majumdar et al. (2010)	Indian	199	>40	375	<40	

TABLE 1. A. Clinical characteristics of the populations included in the meta-analysis

Study	Population	wt/wt	wt/KL-	KL-VS/KL-	n
(year of			VS	VS	
publication)					
Arking et al (2002)					
cases	Bohemian Czech	308	103	4	415
controls		307	73	10	390
cases	Baltimore Caucasian	530	185	8	723
Controls		309	100	11	420
~		1.40		_	
Cases		169	68	5	242
aantrala	Baltimore African-	156	50	10	226
controls	American	130	38	12	220
Novelli et al (2008)					
Cases	U.S. Caucasian	517	170	21	708
controls		241	85	6	332
Invidia et al (2010)					
cases	Italian	439	174	13	626
Controls		348	103	12	463
Mainmdan at al					
(2010)					
(2010)	Indian	140	53	6	199
controls	man	270	99	6	375
		2.0		0	10

17

	WT/KL	-vs	WT/M	π		Odds Ratio	Odds Ratio	
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% C	M-H, Random, 95	% CI
Invidia 2010	174	277	439	787	22.0%	1.34 [1.01, 1.77]	-	
Majumdar 2010	53	152	140	410	11.4%	1.03 [0.70, 1.53]	-+-	
Novelli 2008	170	255	517	758	19.1%	0.93 [0.69, 1.26]	-+	
Arking (A) 2002	103	176	308	615	15.2%	1.41 [1.00, 1.97]		
Arking (B) 2002	185	285	530	839	22.1%	1.08 [0.81, 1.43]	+	
Arking (C) 2002	68	126	169	325	10.2%	1.08 [0.72, 1.63]	+	
Total (95% CI)		1271		3734	100.0%	1.14 [1.00, 1.30]	•	
Total events	753		2103					
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.00; Chi ² = 4.89, df = 5 (P = 0.43); l ² = 0%								10 100
Test for overall effect:	Z = 1.95 (P = 0.0	5)				Favours Control Favou	rs Experimenta

	WT/KL-VS + KL-VS	S/KL-VS	WT/M	π		Odds Ratio	Odd	s Ratio	
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% C	I M-H, Ran	dom, 95% Cl	
Invidia 2010	187	302	439	787	22.1%	1.29 [0.98, 1.69]		-	
Majumdar 2010	59	164	140	410	11.3%	1.08 [0.74, 1.58]		-	
Novelli 2008	191	282	517	758	19.0%	0.98 [0.73, 1.31]		+	
Arking (A) 2002	107	190	308	615	15.2%	1.28 [0.93, 1.78]		 - -	
Arking (B) 2002	193	304	530	839	21.9%	1.01 [0.77, 1.33]		†	
Arking (C) 2002	73	143	169	325	10.5%	0.96 [0.65, 1.43]	-	†	
Total (95% CI)		1385		3734	100.0%	1.10 [0.97, 1.25]		•	
Total events	810		2103						
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =	0.00; Chi ² = 3.58, df =	= 5 (P = 0.6	61); l² = 0	%			0.01 0.1	1 10	100
Test for overall effect:	Z = 1.51 (P = 0.13)						Favours Control	Favours Exp	erimenta

	KL-VS/K	L-VS	KL-VS/WT +	WT/WT		Odds Ratio	Odds Ratio
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% Cl	M-H, Random, 95% Cl
Invidia 2010	13	25	613	1064	20.3%	0.80 [0.36, 1.76]	— — —
Majumdar 2010	6	12	193	562	14.3%	1.91 [0.61, 6.01]	
Novelli 2008	21	27	687	1013	18.0%	1.66 [0.66, 4.15]	- -
Arking (A) 2002	4	14	411	791	14.0%	0.37 [0.12, 1.19]	
Arking (B) 2002	8	19	715	1124	17.9%	0.42 [0.17, 1.04]	
Arking (C) 2002	5	17	237	451	15.6%	0.38 [0.13, 1.09]	
Total (95% CI)		114		5005	100.0%	0.73 [0.41, 1.30]	•
Total events	57		2856				
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =	0.25; Chi ²	= 10.09,	df = 5 (P = 0.0	7); l ² = 50	%		
Test for overall effect:	Z = 1.06 (F	9 = 0.29))				Favours Control Favours Experimenta

6. Association between genetic variations in insulin/insulin-like growth factor (IGF-1) signaling pathway and longevity: a systematic review and metaanalysis Curr Vasc Pharmacol. 2013 Dec 18. [Epub ahead of print]

ASSOCIATION BETWEEN GENETIC VARIATIONS in the INSULIN/INSULIN-LIKE GROWTH FACTOR (IGF-1) SIGNALING PATHWAY and LONGEVITY: a SYSTEMATIC REVIEW and META-ANALYSIS.

Danilo Di Bona^{1,2}, Giulia Accardi¹, Claudia Virruso¹, Giuseppina Candore^{1,2}

and Calogero Caruso^{1,2}

¹Immunosenescence Unit, Department of Pathobiology and Medical and Forensic Biotechnologies; ²Unit of Transfusion Medicine, University Hospital, University of Palermo.

Running Title: IGF pathway-related gene polymorphisms and Longevity

Author for correspondence: Dr. Danilo Di Bona, MD, PhD U.O. di Medicina Trasfusionale AOUP Paolo Giaccone Via del Vespro 129 90127 Palermo Phone: +390916553222; Fax: +390916553230; e-mail: <u>danilodibona@yahoo.it</u>

Abstract

Some studies have shown that polymorphisms in the insulin growth factor-1 (IGF-1) signaling pathway genes could influence human longevity. However, the results of different studies are often inconsistent. Our aim was to investigate by systematic review and metaanalysis the association of the common polymorphisms defining the genetic variability of the IGF-1 signaling pathway associated with human longevity. Eleven studies investigating the association between the polymorphisms in the IGF-1 signaling pathway genes (IGF-1, IGF-1 receptor (IGF-1R), Forkhead box O3A (FOXO3A) and Silent mating type information regulation 1 (SIRT1)) and longevity were found and analyzed. The model-free approach was applied to meta-analyze these studies. No association was reported between the single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) of IGF-1 and longevity in the available study. The metaanalysis of available data from four studies, showed a significant association with the IGF-1R polymorphism rs2229765, suggesting that subjects with the A-bearing genotype have greater chance of longevity. Concerning the five studies on FOXO3A SNPs, for the rs2764264 significant association with longevity was observed for C allele when only males were included in the analysis. Statistically significant results were obtained for other SNPs as well, i.e. rs2802292 (G allele), rs9400239 and rs479744 (T and A alleles, respectively). For rs9400239 the association was observed in male long lived with a lower odds ratio than in centenarians while in rs479744 it was highlighted a significant association in centenarians. Concerning SIRT1, no association between the SNPs under study and longevity was observed in the only available report. Current findings suggest that both IGF-1R and FOXO3A polymorphisms could be associated with longevity. The high degree of between-study heterogeneity and the low number of available studies underline the need for further methodologically adequate analyses to confirm these evidences.

KEY WORDS: FOXO3A, IGF-1; IGF-1R, longevity, meta-analysis, SIRT1, SNP.

INTRODUCTION

Genetic background represents an integral part of successful ageing and longevity, as emphasized by many studies on long-living individuals (LLI) and centenarian offspring, supporting a role for certain genes in long life. Established data are available only for Apolipoprotein E (APOE), but classic case-control studies, genome wide association studies and high throughput sequencing identified several other genetic variants possibly associated with longevity. In recent years, ageing research has focused on Insulin/Insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) signaling pathway, i.e. IGF-1, IGF-1 receptor (IGF-1R), Forkhead box O (FOXO) 3A, and Silent mating type information regulation 1 (SIRT1), because of its evolutionary conserved correlation with life-span extension in model animals, such as yeast, nematodes, fruit flies and mice (Figure 1). Indeed, many gene mutations, in particular single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), associated with longevity or with increased life-span, were identified in gene encoding proteins that take part in this metabolic pathway. Moreover, the same effects on life-span were obtained in different animal models, manipulating orthologue genes [1-4].

In these models, calorie restriction, causing life-span extension and IGF-1 signaling reduction, is associated with decreased IGF-1 circulating levels [3]. In human beings, ageing is associated with lower IGF-1 circulating levels [5], and in longevous people IGF-1R has been correlated with modulation of human life-span through the attenuation of IGF-1 signaling [6].

Both IGF-1 and IGF-1R polymorphisms theoretically modulating the IGF-1 pathway have been studied for their correlation with longevity, but the evidence to date is not conclusive [6, 7-10].

The IGF-1 pathway downstream transcription factor (TF), FOXO3A, has also been extensively studied for its role in longevity (Figure 1). This gene belongs to the forkhead

family and encodes a TF with the typical domain of this family, forkhead box, a conserved DNA-binding domain. It is one of the orthologue of *daf-16* in *C.elegans*, a TF involved in stress resistance and longevity [11, 12]. Some FOXO3A SNPs have been associated with longevity in different ethnic populations. In particular, certain variants were found in nonagerians and with higher frequency in centenarians, highlighting their relevant role in successful ageing. One explanation may be the increased activity of FOXO3A on downstream genes involved in survival [13-16].

In addition, FOXO3A interacts with sirtuins, a family of histone deacetylase enzymes, identified as anti-ageing molecules in model organisms (Figure 1). SIRT1, one of the seven human sirtuin isoforms, called SIRT1-SIRT7, deacetylates FOXO3A modulating its response to oxidative stress [17].

On the basis of findings from experimental and animal models, some human studies sought to demonstrate an association between specific SNPs involved in modulation of Insulin/IGF and longevity. However, the sample size of most of the studies is inadequate and the results often inconsistent.

The aim of this study was to review the studies available to date on the correlation between the polymorphisms in genes involved in IGF-1 pathway and human longevity.

When possible, we used a meta-analytic approach to quantitatively synthesize the possible effect of each SNP and to reconcile the study inconsistencies.

METHODS

Selection of studies

The primary source of the studies addressing the role of Insulin/IGF-1 pathway polymorphisms in longevity was the PUBMED database (from January 2003 to March 2013) limited to English language literature. The medical subject headings used for PUBMED search were "IGF-1", "IGF-1R", "FOXO3A", "SIRT1", "polymorphisms", and "longevity". The specific "SNPs" of the "Insulin/IGF-1 pathway" genes, "rs2288377, rs5742612, rs35767, for IGF-1", "rs2229765, for IGF-1R", "rs2764264, rs2802292, rs1226094, rs7762395, rs9400239, rs479744, for FOXO3A", and "rs3758391, rs2273773, for SIRT1".

The abstracts found were read to identify studies examining the association between the above mentioned SNPs and longevity in healthy LLI or centenarians. We also performed a manual search of references cited in published articles. The studies were read in their entirety to assess their appropriateness for inclusion in the meta-analysis.

Any human population-based association study, independently from sample size, was included if it met the following criteria: 1) case-control study; 2) there were at least two comparison groups of which one consisted of long-living individuals; 3) tested association between longevity and SNPs; 4) available allelic/genomic frequencies and reference SNP ID number (rs#).

Data extraction

Extraction of data was independently performed by GA, CV and DDB who compared results and agreed on a consensus; disagreements were settled by discussion.

Statistical analysis

For meta-analysis, data were analyzed using *Review Manager*, version 5.1, a statistical software package for managing and analyzing all aspects of a Cochrane Collaboration systematic review (The Cochrane Collaboration, Oxford, UK, 1999). Controls were assumed to be as young or younger subjects compared to long-living individuals, which represented the cases. But the cut-off value between cases and controls varied greatly among individual studies. The overall odds ratio (OR) between the frequencies of alleles in both cases and controls was estimated with models based on both fixed-effects and random-effects assumptions. The fixed effects model considers only within-study variability. The random

effect model uses weights that incorporate both the within-study and between-study variances. Because of the high heterogeneity between the populations of most of the studies included in this meta-analysis, we have presented the results of random-effects models that are the most conservative ones [18]. The 95% Confidence Interval (95% CI) of the OR was also calculated.

RESULTS

Characteristics of the studies

The main features of the studies analyzed in our paper are listed in Table 1.

IGF-1

Only one study on the association between IGF-1 rs2288377, rs5742612, rs35767 SNPs and longevity was identified by our search strategy [7]. This study was conducted on Chinese Han population. 485 cases of LLI and 392 controls were analyzed. The mean age was 94.92 ± 3.15 years for cases and 56.5 ± 10.1 for controls.

IGF-1R

Four case-control studies on the association between IGF-1R rs2229765 and longevity were identified by our search strategy [6, 8-10]. Three out of four studies were conducted on an Italian population. The remaining study was conducted on Ashkenazi Jews in North America. All the analyzed studies had case-control design with a total number of 646 cases and 1185 controls. In two out of four studies the number of males and females was not reported, while in the Suh et al. study only females were studied [6]. The study sample size varied from 240 to 671 [6, 10]. The age range varied from 85 to 109 years for cases and from 17 to 85 years for controls.

FOXO3A

Five case-control studies on the association between FOXO3A SNPs (rs2764264,

rs2802292, rs1226094, rs7762395, rs9400239, rs479744, rs1935949 and rs4946935) and longevity were identified [13-16, 19]. The studies were conducted on different Caucasian populations, except the Willcox et al. study, which was conducted on Japanese and the Pawlikowska et al. study, which was conducted on Ashkenazi. The Willcox et al. study was conducted only on male subjects; the Anselmi et al. and Soerensen et al. studies analyzed separately data from males and females. The Pawlikowska et al. study did not analyze separately data from males and females. The Flachsbart et al. study did not report males/females percentage for controls. The study sample size varied from 615 to 1825. The age range varied from 90 to 110 years for cases and 18 to 94 years for controls.

SIRT1

Only one study on the association between SIRT1 rs3758391 and rs2273773 SNPs and longevity was identified by our search strategy [20]. This study was conducted on a German population. 1026 cases and 547 controls were analyzed. The study did not report males/females percentage both for cases and controls. The age range varied from 95 to 109 years for cases and from 60 to75 years for controls.

Meta-Analysis

The data concerning the association of genes involved in IGF-1 signaling pathway with longevity are reported in Table 2.

IGF-1R

Four studies were available for the inclusion in the meta-analysis of the association between the rs2229765 SNP (3174 G>A) and longevity [6, 8-10]. The effect for the A allele and for the A-bearing genotype of IGF-1R, suggested as favoring longevity, was estimated for each study. Regarding the allelic comparison (A vs. G), three out of four studies showed a favorable effect on longevity, while, the Bonafè et al. study showed a detrimental effect on longevity [6, 8,-10] (Figure 2A). The pooled summary OR for the allelic comparison is 1.14 (A vs. G, 95% CI: 0.82–1.59; p=0.43) with not significant statistical result using the randomeffects model. In contrast, when we analyze subjects with A-bearing genotype, the summary OR is 1.73 (AA + AG vs. GG, 95% CI: 1.16–2.58; p=0.007) with statistically significant result using the random-effects model, suggesting that subjects with low IGF-1 level associated genotypes (AA or AG) have greater chance to attain longevity. There is evidence of heterogeneity between the results of individual studies (A vs. G: l^2 =82%; AA + AG vs. GG: l^2 =68%) (Figure 2A and 2B). The Bonafè et al. study is the influential one for the allelic comparison, since removing this the heterogeneity change from 82% to 0%, while the Suh et al. study is the influential one for the genotypic comparison, since removing this the heterogeneity change from 68% to 0%. The exclusion of the Suh et al. study from the genotypic analysis did not change the overall result (OR without Suh et al.: 1.43 95% CI 1.14-1.79), the exclusion of the Bonafè et al. study from the allelic comparison change the overall result (OR without Bonafè et al.: 1.35 95% CI 1.15-1.58), with a statistically significant result as well.

A statistically not significant result for the allelic comparison (A vs. G: OR: 1.10, 95% CI: 0.72–1.67; p=0.65) but a statistically significant effect for the genotypic comparison (AA + AG vs. GG: OR: 1.43, 95% CI: 1.43–1.79; p=0.002) is obtained when the analysis is limited to the Italian population [8-10].

FOXO3A

Three studies were available for the inclusion in the meta-analysis of the association between the rs2764264 and rs2802292 SNPs and longevity [13, 15, 16]. Data were suitable only for allelic comparison. For the rs2764264 we report a statistically not significant effect for the C allele, putatively favoring longevity (OR [C]: 1.20, 95% CI: 0.95–1.51; p=0.12, I^2

52%) (Figure 3A), but a statistically significant results when only males were included in the analysis (OR [C]: 1.38, 95% CI: 1.13–1.69; p=0.002; I^2 0%), showing that the C allele is associated with longevity only in males (Figure 3B). For the rs2802292 SNP, we report statistically significant results for an association between the G allele and longevity, when we compared both the overall and the male population (overall population OR [G]: 1.37, 95% CI: 1.03–1.83; p=0.03, I^2 52%; male population OR [G]: 1.49, 95% CI: 1.22–1.82; p=0.0001, I^2 0%). But, for this SNP, two out of three studies reported data only for males [13, 16].

Data for the rs7762395, rs9400239 and rs479744 were reported in two studies, the Soerensen et al. and Flachsbart et al. studies [14, 15]. For the rs7762395, we do not report statistically significant association between the A allele and longevity both for LLI (OR [A]: 1.15, 95% CI: 0.96–1.38; p=0.14; I^2 0%), and centenarians (OR [A]: 1.17, 95% CI: 0.95–1.43; p=0. 13, I^2 0%). For the rs9400239 and rs479744, we show a statistically significant association between the minor allele (T for rs9400239 and A for rs479744) and longevity when only males LLI from the Soerensen et al. study were included (rs9400239 OR [T]: 1.20, 95% CI: 1.01–1.43; p=0.04; rs479744 OR [A]: 1.22, 95% CI: 1.00–1.48; p=0.05), but not for the entire population (rs9400239 OR [T]: 1.13, 95% CI: 0.98–1.32; p=0.10; rs479744 OR [A]: 1.16, 95% CI: 0.99–1.37; p=0.07).

For the last two SNPs (rs9400239 and rs479744) we also calculated the effect of the minor allele in a centenarian population showing a statistically significant association not only in males (rs9400239 OR [T]: 1.37, 95% CI: 1.07-1.76; p=0.01; rs479744 OR [A]: 1.41, 95% CI: 1.07-1.86; p=0.01), but for the entire population (rs9400239 OR [T]: 1.32, 95% CI: 1.06-1.64; p=0.01; rs479744 OR [A]: 1.41, 95% CI: 1.11-1.79; p=0.005).

Single Study Results (Table 2)

IGF-1. No association was reported between the rs2288377, rs5742612, and rs35767 SNPs of

the IGF-1 gene and longevity in the Xie et al. study [7].

FOXO3A. For the FOXO3A rs1226094 SNP, a statistically significant association between the T allele and longevity was reported in males in the Soerensen et al. study [15]. For the FOXO3A rs1935949 and rs4946935 SNPs, a statistically significant association with centenarians was reported in the Pawlikowska et al. study [19].

SIRT-1. No association was reported between the rs3758391 and the rs2273773 of the SIRT-1 gene and longevity in the Flachsbart et al. study [20].

DISCUSSION

Ageing is considered the product of an interaction among genetic, epigenetic, stochastic, lifestyle and environmental factors which in turn influence longevity, i.e. the ability to survive beyond the species-specific average age of death [21-23]. A variety of models in lower organisms and in mammals demonstrate that single genetic mutations are able to increase life-span. In particular, mutations in genes that are homologous to those encoding proteins involved in mammalian Insulin/IGF-1 pathway affect life-span in yeast, nematode and fruit fly [3, 24]. Figure 1 shows the principal components of this pathway. In animal models, all the effects of this pathway on the extension of life-span depend on its decreased activity leading to a reduced phosphorylation of *daf-16*/FOXO TFs that increase translocation to the nucleus and their activity [3, 24]. During evolution, the pathway has diverged from a single receptor in invertebrates to multiple receptors and more complicated pathways and regulatory networks in mammals. However, a series of genetic manipulations in mouse have provided evidence that this pathway also affects ageing and longevity in mammals [3]. The effect of FOXO on life-span may be linked to its action as a transcription factor on a multiple homeostatic pathways in response to decreased Insulin/IGF-1 signaling [3].

Interestingly, other genes that increase life-span, i.e. the enzymes histone deacetylase sirtuins, when overexpressed, interact with FOXO. In particular, SIRT1 deacetylates FOXO3A and modulates its response to oxidative stress [2,25].

In humans, several case-control studies have been performed to establish an association between longevity and genetic polymorphisms in this pathway including sirtuins.

There is a substantial but not conclusive evidence of an effect in some genes of this pathway on achievement of longevity. So, in the present paper we performed a systematic review and meta-analysis with the aim to reconcile the study inconsistencies.

Eleven studies investigating the association between the SNPs in the Insulin/IGF-1 signaling pathway genes, i.e. IGF-1, IGF-1R, FOXO3A and SIRT1 and longevity were found and analyzed [6-10, 13-16, 19, 20] (Table 1). For the meta-analysis, the model-free approach was applied (Table 2, Figure 2, 3 A e B).

No association was reported between the SNPs of IGF-1 and longevity in the available study although these SNPs could affect IGF-1 serum levels, known to modulate ageing and longevity [7]. On the other hand, higher circulating levels of IGF-1 have also been associated with longer leukocyte telomere length, a key biomarker of human ageing, in healthy subjects [26].

Available data from four studies [6, 8-10], show, instead, a statistically significant association of longevity with the IGF-1R polymorphism rs2229765, suggesting that subjects with the A-bearing genotype responsible for a reduced signal transduction have higher chance of attaining longevity. The relevance of IGF-1R for longevity is further suggested by a meta-analysis performed on participants from Study of Osteoporotic Fractures and Cardiovascular Health Study that shows a significant association with longevity for the rs2272037 SNP [19].

Concerning the five studies on FOXO3A SNPs [13-16, 19], for the rs2764264 significant association with longevity was observed for the C allele when only males were

included in the analysis. The same was true for other SNPs, i.e. rs2802292, G allele (but for this allele 2 out of 3 studies reported data only for males) and for the rs9400239 and rs479744 (T and A alleles, respectively) that were reported only in 2 studies. This result is not surprising because it has been claimed that males and females follow different strategies to attain longevity and several case-control studies have been positive only in males [4, 27]. Concerning the C allele it is interesting to note that in the Willcox et al. study, the C-carrier cases were healthier at the baseline examination despite the fact that they were, on average, 11 years older [13].

The rs479744 (A allele) and the rs9400239 (T allele) SNPs were significantly associated with longevity in centenarian population, as well as rs1935949 and rs4946935 SNPs. Also these results are not surprising, because centenarians represent the survival tail of the population [21]. Thus, they may be particularly enriched for beneficial variants in longevity assurance genes. In addition, it is relevant that the population based Leiden 85-plus study also found a FOXO3A haplotype, but no single SNP associated with an increased mortality [28].

Concerning SIRT1, no association between the SNPs under study and longevity was observed in the only available report [20].

On the whole data obtained by our study clearly demonstrate that two players of Insulin/IGF-1 pathway are associated with human longevity, i.e. IGF-1R and FOXO3A. Since drugs able to modulate this pathway are under scrutiny, these data suggest the possibility that successful ageing might be pharmacologically modulated. However, it has to be clear that we have no understanding in which directions these SNPs could possibly act.

In any case, extensive studies of the whole pathway are needed, including the recent reported gene codifying calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IV (CAMKIV). In fact, it has been claimed that a variant of this gene is associated with longevity by influencing CAMKIV protein expression, hence allowing the activation of FOXO3A by the native protein [23].

CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

The authors have no conflict of interest.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This meta-analysis was entirely supported by the authors' respective institutions.

REFERENCES

- Beekman M, Blanché H, Perola M *et al.* Genome-wide linkage analysis for human longevity: Genetics of Healthy Aging Study. Aging Cell 2013; 12: 184-93.
- [2] Franceschi C, Olivieri F, Marchegiani F et al. Genes involved in immune response/inflammation, IGF1/insulin pathway and response to oxidative stress play a major role in the genetics of human longevity: the lesson of centenarians. Mech Ageing Dev. 2005;126:351-61.
- [3] Ziv E, Hu D. Genetic variation in insulin/IGF-1 signaling pathways and longevity. Ageing Res Rev 2011; 10: 201-4.
- [4] Candore G, Caruso C, Colonna-Romano G. Inflammation, genetic background and longevity. Biogerontology 2010; 11: 565-73.
- [5] Bartke A. Minireview: role of the growth hormone/insulin-like growth factor system in mammalian aging. Endocrinology 2005; 146: 3718-23.
- [6] Suh Y, Atzmon G, Cho MO *et al*. Functionally significant insulin-like growth factor I receptor mutations in centenarians. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2008; 105: 3438-42.
- [7] Xie L, Gong YY, Lian SG *et al.* Absence of association between SNPs in the promoter region of the insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) gene and longevity in the Han Chinese population. Exp Gerontol 2008; 43: 962-5.
- [8] Bonafè M, Barbieri M, Marchegiani F *et al.* Polymorphic variants of insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) receptor and phosphoinositide 3-kinase genes affect IGF-I plasma levels
and human longevity: cues for an evolutionarily conserved mechanism of life span control. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003; 88: 3299-304.

- [9] Albani D, Batelli S, Polito L *et al.* A polymorphic variant of the insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) receptor correlates with male longevity in the Italian population: a genetic study and evaluation of circulating IGF-1 from the "Treviso Longeva (TRELONG)" study. BMC Geriatr 2009; 21; 9:19.
- [10] Barbieri M, Boccardi V, Esposito A *et al.* A/ASP/VAL allele combination of IGF1R, IRS2, and UCP2 genes is associated with better metabolic profile, preserved energy expenditure parameters, and low mortality rate in longevity. Age 2012; 34: 235-45.
- [11] Gems D, McElwee JJ. Aging: Microarraying mortality. Nature 2003; 424: 259–261.
- [12] Kenyon C. The plasticity of aging: Insights from long-lived mutants. Cell 2005; 120: 449–460.
- [13] Willcox BJ, Donlon TA, He Q *et al.* FOXO3A genotype is strongly associated with human longevity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2008; 105: 13987-92.
- [14] Flachsbart F, Caliebe A, Kleindorp R *et al.* Association of FOXO3A variation with human longevity confirmed in German centenarians. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009; 106: 2700-5.
- [15] Soerensen M, Dato S, Christensen K *et al.* Replication of an association of variation in the FOXO3A gene with human longevity using both case-control and longitudinal data. Aging Cell 2010; 9: 1010-7.
- [16] Anselmi CV, Malovini A, Roncarati R *et al.* Association of the FOXO3A locus with extreme longevity in a southern Italian centenarian study. Rejuvenation Res 2009; 12: 95-104.
- [17] Brunet A. The multiple roles of FOXO transcription factors. Med Sci (Paris) 2004;20: 856.
- [18] DerSimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analysis in clinical trials. Controlled Clin. Trials 1986;7: 177–188.
- [19] Pawlikowska L, Hu D, Huntsman S, *et al.* Association of common genetic variation in the insulin/IGF1 signaling pathway with human longevity. Aging Cell. 2009; 8:460-72.
- [20] Flachsbart F, Croucher PJ, Nikolaus S *et al.* Sirtuin 1 (SIRT1) sequence variation is not associated with exceptional human longevity. Exp Gerontol 2006; 41: 98-102.
- [21] Caruso C, Passarino G, Puca A, Scapagnini G. "Positive biology": the centenarian lesson. Immun Ageing 2012; 9: 5.

- [22] Montesanto A, Dato S, Bellizzi D, Rose G, Passarino G. Epidemiological, genetic and epigenetic aspects of the research on healthy ageing and longevity. Immun Ageing 2012; 9: 6.
- [23] Malovini A, Illario M, Iaccarino G, Villa F, Ferrario A, Roncarati R. Association study on long-living individuals from Southern Italy identifies rs10491334 in the CAMKIV gene that regulates survival proteins. Rejuvenation Res 2011; 14: 283-91.
- [24] Pan Z, Chang C. Gender and the regulation of longevity: implications for autoimmunity. Autoimmun Rev 2012; 11: A393-403.
- [25] Guarente L. Franklin H. Epstein Lecture: Sirtuins, aging, and medicine. N Engl J Med. 2011;364:2235-44
- [26] Barbieri M, Paolisso G, Kimura M *et al.* Higher circulating levels of IGF-1 are associated with longer leukocyte telomere length in healthy subjects. Mech Ageing Dev. 2009;130:771-6.
- [27] Capri M, Salvioli S, Monti D *et al.* Human longevity within an evolutionary perspective: the peculiar paradigm of a post-reproductive genetics. Exp Gerontol 2008; 43: 53-60.
- [28] Kuningas M, Mägi R, Westendorp RG, Slagboom PE, Remm M, Van Heemst D. Haplotypes in the human Foxo1a and Foxo3a genes; impact on disease and mortality at old age. Eur J Hum Genet 2007; 15: 294-301.

LEGENDS TO FIGURES

Figure 1. Insulin/IGF1 signaling pathway and its implication in longevity. The Insulin/Insulin growth factor-1 (IGF-1) signaling pathway has a critical role in the determination of longevity. The bond of Insulin/IGF-1 to the specific receptor (IGF-1R/INSR) activates the phosphatidylinositol-3'kinase (PI3K) through the insulin related substrate (IRS). It leads to the activation of AKT, through phosphatidylinositol(3,4,5)-trisphosphate, that, in turn, inhibits Forkhead box O3A (FOXO3A), whereas Silent mating type information regulation 1 (SIRT1) activates it. FOXO3A acts as transcription factor, activating the expression of many homeostatic genes. Several variants which reduce this signaling have been identified: some studies have shown their association with longevity (see text).

Figure 2. Meta-analysis of four case-control studies of the IGF-1R rs2229765 polymorphism and longevity using the random-effects model. The odds ratio and 95% confidence interval (CI) for the effect of A vs. G allele (2A) and the AA + AG vs. GG genotypes (2B) on longevity are plotted on the two graphs. Studies are arranged chronologically based on the year of publication. M-H: Manten-Hanzel; C.I.; Confidence interval.

Figure 3. Meta-analysis of three case-control studies of the FOXO3A rs2764264 polymorphism and longevity using the random-effects model. The odds ratio and 95% confidence interval (CI) for the effect of the C allele on longevity for the whole population (3A) and for males only (3B) are plotted on the two graphs. Studies are arranged chronologically based on the year of publication. M-H: Manten-Hanzel; C-I: Confidence Interval.

Gene	SNP	Studies	Ethnicity	Cases				Controls				
			-	n	F	М	Age range or mean age(±SD)	n	F	М	Age range or mean age (±SD)	
IGF-1	rs2288377	Xie et al '08 ^a	Han	485	239	246	94.92±3.15	392	212	180	56.5±10.1	
	rs5742612	Xie et al '08 ^a	Han	485	239	246	94.92±3.15	392	212	180	56.5±10.1	
	rs35767	Xie et al '08 ^a	Han	485	239	246	94.92±3.15	392	212	180	56.5±10.1	
IGF-1R	rs2229765	Bonafè et al '03 ^b	Italian	162	NA	NA	86-109	248	NA	NA	17-85	
		Suh et al '08 ^c	Ashkenazi	79	79	0	95-108	161	161	0	79.5	
		Albani et al '09 ^d	Italian	222	133	89	85-106	288	141	147	70-85	
		Barbieri et al '12 ^e	Italian	183	NA	NA	96±4	488	NA	NA	49±16	
FOXO3A	rs2764264	Willcox et al '08 ^f	Japanese	213	0	213	95-106	402	0	402	73-81	
		Anselmi et al '09g	Italian	480	199	281	90-109	335	140	195	18-48	
		Soerensen et al '10 ^h	Danish	1089	776	313	92-103	736	365	371	46-67	
	rs2802292	Willcox et al '08 ^f	Japanese	213	0	213	95-106	402	0	402	73-81	
		Anselmi et al '09g	Italian	480	199	281	90-109	335	140	195	18-48	
		Soerensen et al '10 ^h	Danish	1089	776	313	92-103	736	365	371	46-67	
	rs1226094	Soerensen et al '10 ^h	Danish	1089	776	313	92-103	736	365	371	46-67	
	rs7762395	Flachsbart et al '09 ⁱ	German	1031	764	267	95-110	731	NA	NA	60-75	
		Flachsbart et al '09 ⁱ	French	535	NA	NA	103.8	553	NA	NA	18-70	
		Soerensen et al '10 ^h	Danish	1089	776	313	92-103	736	365	371	46-67	
	rs9400239	Flachsbart et al '09 ⁱ	German	1031	764	267	95-110	731	NA	NA	60-75	
		Soerensen et al '10 ^h	Danish	1089	776	313	92-103	736	365	371	46-67	
	rs479744	Flachsbart et al '09 ⁱ	German	1031	764	267	95-110	731	NA	NA	60-75	
		Soerensen et al '10 ^h	Danish	1089	776	313	92-103	736	365	371	46-67	
	rs1935949	Pawlikowska et al	Ashkenaz	383	286	97	95-108	363	207	156	43-94	
	rs4946935	'09 ^j Pawlikowska et al '09 ^j	i Ashkenaz i	383	286	97	95-108	363	207	156	43-94	
SIRT1	rs3758391	Flachsbart et al '06 ^k	German	1026	NA	NA	95-109	547	NA	NA	60-75	
	rs2273773	Flachsbart et al '06 ^j	German	1026	NA	NA	95-109	547	NA	NA	60-75	

Table 1. Main features of the studies analyzed.

a. [7]; b. [8]; c. [6]; d. [9]; e. [10]; f [13]; g. [16]; h. [15]; i. [14]; j. [19].; k. [20]. NA: not assigned; SNP: single nucleotide polymorphism; SD: standard deviation; IGF-1: insulin growth factor-1; IGF-1R: insulin growth factor-1 receptor; FOXO3A: forkhead box O3A; SIRT-1: silent mating type information regulation 1.

Gene	SNP	Studies	Nucleotide change	Cases/controls	Summary Results	Association (Pos/Neg)	Findings
IGF-1	rs2288377	Xie et al '08 ^a	<u>T</u> >A	485/392	-		No association
	rs5742612	Xie et al '08 ^a	<u>C</u> >T	485/392	-		No association
	rs35767	Xie et al '08 ^a	<u>T</u> >C	485/392	-		No association
IGF-1R	rs2229765	Bonafè et al '03 ^b Suh et al '08 ^c Albani et al '09 ^d Barbieri et al '12 ^e	<u>A</u> >G	646/1185	OR = 1.73 (95%CI 1.16, 2.58.)	4/0	The presence of at least an A allele favors longevity
FOXO3A	rs2764264	Willcox et al '08 ^f Anselmi et al '09 ^g Soerensen et al '10 ^h	<u>C</u> >T	1782/1473 807/968	OR (All) = 1.20 (95%CI 0.95, 1.51) OR (Males) = 1.38 (95%CI 1.13, 1.69)	3/0 3/0	The C allele is associated to longevity in males
	rs2802292	Willcox et al '08 ^f Anselmi et al '09 ^g Soerensen et al '10 ^h	<u>G</u> >T	1782/1473 807/968	OR (All) = 1.37 (95%CI 1.03, 1.83) OR (Males) = 1.49 (95%CI 1.22, 1.82)	3/0 3/0	The G allele is associated to longevity. Data available only for males in 2 out of 3 studies
	rs1226094	Soerensen et al '10 ^h	C> <u>T</u>	1089/736 313/371	OR (All) = 1.13 (95%CI 0.92, 1.40) OR (Males) = 1.38 (95%CI 1.08, 1.75)	1/0	The T allele is associated to longevity in males
	rs7762395						
	- LLI	Flachsbart et al (GER) '09 ⁱ Soerensen et al '10 ^h	G> <u>A</u>	2120/1467	OR (All) = 1.15 (95% CI 0.96, 1.38)	2/0	No significant association to longevity for LLI
	-Centenar.	Flachsbart et al (FRA) '09 ⁱ	G> <u>A</u>	1066/2020	OR (All) = 1.17 (95%CI 0.95, 1.43)	3/0	No significant association
		Flachsbart et al (GER) 09 ⁱ					114

SIRT1

rs9400239 -LLI	Flachsbart et al (GER) '09 ⁱ	<u>T</u> >C	2120/1467 1344/1102	OR (All) = 1.13 (95%CI 0.98, 1.32) OR (Males)* = 1.20 (95%CI 1.01, 1.43)	2/0 2/0	Significant association only for males
-Centenar.	Soerensen et al '10" Flachsbart et al (GER) 09 ⁱ Soerensen et al '10 ^h	<u>T</u> >C	531/1467 418/1102	OR (All) = 1.32 (95%CI 1.06, 1.64) OR (Males)* = 1.37 (95%CI 1.07, 1.76)	2/0 2/0	Significant association in centenarians
rs479744 -LLI	Flachsbart et al (GER) '09 ⁱ Soerensen et al '10 ^h	<u>A</u> >C	2120/1467 1344/1102	OR (All) = 1.16 (95% CI 0.99, 1.37) OR (Males)* = 1.22 (95% CI 1.00, 1.48)	2/0 2/0	No significant association
-Centenar.	Flachsbart et al (GER) '09 ⁱ Soerensen et al '10 ^h	<u>A</u> >C	531/1467 418/1102	OR (All) = 1.41 (95%CI 1.11, 1.79) OR (Males)*= 1.41 (95%CI 1.07, 1.86)	2/0 2/0	centenarians
rs1935949 -Centenar.	Pawlikowska et al. '09 ^j	NA	383/363	OR (All) = 1.36 (95%CI 1.05-1.74)		Significant association in centenarians
rs4946935 -Centenar	Pawlikowska et al. '09 ^j	NA	383/363	OR (All) = 1.33 (95%CI 1.03-1.72)		Significant association in centenarians
rs3758391	Flachsbart et al '06 ^k	<u>T</u> >C	1026/547	-		No association
rs2273773	Flachsbart et al '06 ^k	T> <u>C</u>	1026/547	_		No association

Table 2. Association between polymorphisms of genes involved in the IGF (insulin growth factor) signaling pathway to longevity.

Results LLI and controls are reported for all the comparisons. All the comparisons are allelic based, except for IGF-1R, which was a genotypic comparison. For the Flachsbart et al 2009 study data on centenarians, available separately for French and German populations, are also reported. The minor allele is underlined.

*For this comparison the OR (males) data from males were available only from the Sorensen's et al study. The Flachsbart et al (GER) study included data from both males and females.

a. [7]; b. [8]; c. [6]; d. [9]; e. [10]; f [13]; g. [16]; h. [15]; i. [14]; j. [19]; k [20].

.

LLI: long-lived individuals; OR: odds ratio; CI: confidence interval; NA: not assigned; SNP: single nucleotide polymorphism; IGF-1: insulin growth factor-1; IGF-1R: insulin growth factor-1; receptor; FOXO3A: forkhead box O3A; SIRT-1: silent mating type information regulation 1-





	Long li	ved	Contr	ols		Odds Ratio		Odd	s Rat	io	
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% C		M-H, Ran	dom,	95% CI	
Anselmi 2009	201	480	129	335	32.5%	1.15 [0.87, 1.53]			•		
Soerensen 2010	320	1089	210	736	42.5%	1.04 [0.85, 1.28]			•		
Willcox 2008	74	213	100	402	25.0%	1.61 [1.12, 2.31]			-		
Total (95% CI)		1782		1473	100.0%	1.20 [0.95, 1.51]			•		
Total events	595		439								
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =	0.02; Chi ²	= 4.17, c	df = 2 (P =	= 0.12);	l² = 52%					10	100
Test for overall effect:	Z = 1.54 (F	P = 0.12)					0.01	0.1	1	10	100
							Favo	urs controls	F	avours LLI	

Long lived		Controls		Odds Ratio			Odds Ratio				
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% Cl		M-H, Rai	ndom,	95% CI	
Anselmi-M 2009	121	281	70	195	29.5%	1.35 [0.93, 1.97]			╞╋╌		
Soerensen-M 2010	101	313	103	371	38.7%	1.24 [0.89, 1.72]			- ▶		
Willcox 2008	74	213	100	402	31.9%	1.61 [1.12, 2.31]			-		
Total (95% Cl)		807		968	100.0%	1.38 [1.13, 1.69]			•		
Total events	296		273								
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =		0.01	0.1	1	10	100					
Test for overall effect:	9 = 0.002	2)				Favo	urs controls	' Fa	ours LLI	100	

	Long live	ng lived Controls		ols		Odds Ratio	Odds Ratio		
Study or Subgroup	udy or Subgroup Events Total		Events Total		l Weight M-H, Random, 95% C		CI M-H, Rand	om, 95% Cl	
Albani 2009	152	222	186	288	28.4%	1.19 [0.82, 1.73]	-	-	
Barbieri 2012	137	183	317	488	28.0%	1.61 [1.10, 2.35]			
Bonafè 2003	114	162	149	248	26.5%	1.58 [1.03, 2.41]			
Suh 2008	68	79	96	161	17.1%	4.19 [2.06, 8.52]	l		
Total (95% CI)		646		1185	100.0%	1.73 [1.16, 2.58]		•	
Total events	471		748						
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0									
Test for overall effect: 2	Favours Controls	Favours LLI							

	Long li	ved	Contr	ols		Odds Ratio		C	dds Rati	0	
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% Cl		M-H, F	Random,	95% CI	
Anselmi 2009	201	480	129	335	32.5%	1.15 [0.87, 1.53]			-		
Soerensen 2010	320	1089	210	736	42.5%	1.04 [0.85, 1.28]					
Willcox 2008	74	213	100	402	25.0%	1.61 [1.12, 2.31]					
Total (95% CI)		1782		1473	100.0%	1.20 [0.95, 1.51]			٠		
Total events	595		439								
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =	0.02; Chi ²	= 4.17, 0	f = 2 (P =	= 0.12);	l² = 52%		-	1		10	100
Test for overall effect:	Z = 1.54 (F	= 0.12)					0.01	0.1	1	10	100
	281 - CHARLES						Favo	urs contro	ols F	avours LL	l



7.SHIP2: a "NEW" insulin pathway target for ageing research

SHIP2: a "NEW" insulin pathway target for ageing research

Giulia Accardi¹, Claudia Virruso¹, Carmela Rita Balistreri¹, Fabrizio Emanuele², Federico Licastro³,

Roberto Monastero⁴, Elisa Porcellini³, Sonya Vasto⁵, Salvatore Verga², Calogero Caruso¹,

Giuseppina Candore¹

¹Immunosenescence Unit, Department of Pathobiology and Medical and Forensic Biotechnologies; ²Clinical Nutrition Unit, Biomedical Department of Internal and Specialty Medicine, University of Palermo; ³Department of Experimental Diagnostic and Specialty Medicine, University of Bologna, ⁴Department of Experimental Biomedicine and Clinical Neurosciences; ⁵Department of Biological, Chemical and Pharmaceutical Sciences and Technologies, University of Palermo

Running Title: SHIP2 polymorphisms and ageing

Correspondence to: Giulia Accardi PhD candidate *Immunosenescence Unit, Department of Pathobiology and Medical and Forensic Biotechnologies, University of Palermo.* Corso Tukory 211 90134 Palermo Italy giuliabio@gmail.com Phone +390916555903; Fax +390916555932

2

ABSTRACT

Strong evidence suggests that systemic inflammation and central adiposity contribute to and perpetuate metabolic syndrome. All of these alterations predispose individuals to type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), cardiovascular disease, as well as Alzheimer's disease (AD), all characterized by chronic inflammatory status. On the other hand, extensive abnormalities in insulin and insulin growth factor(IGF)-I and IGF-II signaling mechanisms in brains with AD have been demonstrated, hence suggesting that AD could be a third form of diabetes. The Src homology domain-containing inositol 5-phosphatase(SHIP)2, has an important role in insulin pathway because its overexpression causes impairment of insulin/IGF-1 signaling. Since some single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) of the gene encoding SHIP2, were significantly associated in T2DM patients with metabolic syndrome and some related conditions, we decided to conduct a case-control study on this gene, analyzing AD and T2DM subjects as cases and young, old and centenarians as controls. Our results suggest a putative correlation between the rs144989913 SNP and ageing, both successful and unsuccessful, rather than age-related diseases. Since this SNP is an insertion/deletion of 28 base pairs, it might cause an alteration in SHIP2 expression. It is noteworthy that SHIP2 has been demonstrated to be a potent negative regulator of insulin signaling and insulin sensitivity. Many studies demonstrated the association of insulin/IGF1 pathway with ageing and longevity, so it is tempting to speculate that the found association with SHIP2 and ageing might depend on its effect on insulin/IGF-1 pathway.

Keywords: Ageing, Alzheimer's disease, Insulin pathway, Longevity, SHIP2, Type 2 Diabetes

.

Rejuvenation Research SHIP2: a "NEW" insulin pathway target for ageing research (doi: 10.1089/rej.2013.1541) This article has been peer-reviewed and accepted for publication, but has yet to undergo copyediting and proof correction. The final published version may differ from this proof.

INTRODUCTION

Ageing is an ineluctable process resulting from the interaction among genetic, epigenetic, stochastic and lifestyle factors [1, 2]. However, in vivo studies in model animals demonstrate that single genetic mutations are able to modulate life-span. Insulin/Insulin Growth Factor(IGF)-1 pathway seems to be correlated to human life-span and its homologous are closely conserved in the main experimental models such as yeast, nematode and fruit fly in which mutations in genes encoding proteins involved in this pathway affect life-span [3].

Insulin is the most potent anabolic hormone and is essential for appropriate tissue development, growth, and maintenance of whole-body glucose homeostasis. Insulin resistance (IR) reflects impairments in insulin signaling pathway, but, molecular mechanisms implicated are not so clear, although inflammatory process is involved. IR is one of the features of metabolic syndrome (MS), a pre-diabetic status [4, 5].

Interestingly, strong evidence suggests that systemic inflammation and central adiposity contribute to and perpetuate MS. All of these alterations predispose individuals to type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), cardiovascular disease, as well as Alzheimer's disease (AD), all characterized by chronic inflammatory status [6–12].

In 2005 a group of American scientists hypothesized that AD could be a third form of diabetes. They demonstrated extensive abnormalities in insulin and IGF-I and IGF-II signaling mechanisms in brains with AD, showing that while each of the corresponding growth factors is normally made in central nervous system neurons, the expression levels are markedly reduced in AD [13].

Nowadays many evidences demonstrate the presence of IR in subjects with neurodegeneration, such as AD or Parkinson's patients [14]. AD, the most common form of dementia, is characterized by accumulation of senile plaques constituted by deposits of the abnormal amyloid protein (A β 40–42 amino acids) and neurofibrillary tangles originating from

3

hyperphosphorylation of microtubular tau protein. The amyloid hypothesis is not the unique for the pathogenesis of AD. Indeed, different pathophysiological theories exist focusing the attention on inflammation, vascular changes and metabolic disorder. The most plausible hypothesis is that all these theories are not mutually exclusive and could be taken together. Actually, inflammation plays a relevant role in both vascular lesions and metabolic disorders and could be the link between AD and T2DM [15–17]. Moreover, some authors proposed the concept of "metabolic cognitive syndrome" based on the co-occurrence of AD and MS. Indeed, dementia and MS present some overlap both in predisposition factors, such as diet, smoking, socio economic status and life style and in altered signaling cascades, i.e. nutrient sensing pathway as the insulin one [18].

The Src homology domain-containing inositol 5-phosphatase(SHIP)2, has an important role in insulin pathway. It leads to the activation of AKT, acting on glycogen synthase kinase (GSK)3 (Figure 1) [19, 20]. Dysregulation of GSK3 activity determines neuronal cell death, hyperphosphorylation of tau protein and the production of amyloid protein with an involvement in neuropathology of AD [21, 22]. Many studies underline the role of SHIP2 as probable negative regulator of insulin signaling [19, 23-25]. A study conducted by Kaisaki et al. in T2DM subjects demonstrated a significant association between single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) of INPPL1 (rs2276047, rs9886, and rs144989913) and metabolic syndrome or correlated features [26], finding partly confirmed by another study [27]. Moreover, a study conducted in non-T2DM subjects with hypertension (one of the features of MS previous associated with the SNPs), found no association, identifying the T2DM as condition probably necessary for the association [28].

Starting from all these studies and observations, we decided to conduct a case-control study on this gene, analyzing AD and T2DM subjects as cases and young, old and centenarians as controls with the aim to strengthen the association between the above mentioned age-related diseases. In particular, we studied two polymorphisms of INPPL1, the rs9886 and the rs144989913.

Rejuvenation Research SHIP2: a "NEW" insulin pathway target for ageing research (doi: 10.1089/rej.2013.1541) This article has been peer-reviewed and accepted for publication, but has yet to undergo copyediting and proof correction. The final published version may differ from this proof.

129

4

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Sample collection

Informed consent was obtained from all cases of T2DM or guardians of AD patients and controls according to Italian law. On the whole, we collected 468 whole blood samples in EDTA Vacutainer.

Specifically, we enrolled 127 unrelated young (mean age 35) randomly selected from blood donors and 105 old people (mean age 72), as controls. They were checked and judged to be in good health based on their clinical history and on blood tests (complete blood cell count, erythrocyte sedimentation rate, glucose, urea nitrogen, creatinine, electrolytes, C reactive protein, liver function test, iron, proteins, cholesterol and triglycerides). Moreover, we selected 119 subjects probably affected by AD (mean age 77) as cases. AD patients were diagnosed according to standard clinical procedures and followed the NINCDS/ADRDA and DSM-III-R criteria. Cognitive performance and alterations were measured according to the Mini-Mental State Evaluation and the global deterioration scale. These cases were defined as sporadic because their family history did not mention any first degree relative with dementia [29, 30]. 117 subjects affected by T2DM (mean age 68), diagnosed according to joint criteria of American Diabetes Association, the European Association for the Study of Diabetes and the International Diabetes Federation were enrolled as cases, as well. Moreover, we analyzed 20 DNA samples of centenarians belonging to our DNA bank.

Genetic analysis

Peripheral whole blood samples were collected and genomic DNA was extracted from leukocytes by a commercial kit. We genotyped the SNP rs144989913, that is an insertion/deletion (I/D) of 28 base pair, by classic PCR and the rs9886 by amplification-refractory mutation system (ARMS PCR). The size separation was conducted using agarose gel electrophoresis (3%).

6

Statistical analysis

The data were tested by χ^2 test for the goodness of fit between the observed and expected genotype frequencies according to the Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE). Differences in allele and genotypic frequencies of the two SNPs among the groups were evaluated by gene count and χ^2 test.

RESULTS

A total of 488 individuals have been genotyped for the two SNPs. The frequencies of the genotypes of all SNPs under investigation, both in cases and controls, are in HWE. Table 1 shows the genotype and allele frequencies in all subjects of the two SNPs of INPPL1. For the rs9886 we did not find any association, both for genotypic and allelic frequencies (data not shown). The distribution of the rs144989913 genotype between T2DM and young, old and young and young and centenarians, is significantly different. The frequency of heterozygous genotype was increased in T2DM and AD patients as well as in old and centenarians respect to young subjects. According to the genotype, a significant difference in the rs144989913 allele frequencies between T2DM and young, AD and young, old and young and young and centenarians is observed. There are no significant differences for genotype and allele frequencies between T2DM and old or centenarians, AD and old or centenarians and old and centenarians. Focusing on allelic frequencies of the D allele of rs144989913, we highlight, with a 3x2 table, a growing significant increase (P=0.0016) of D with increasing age (young= 0,39; old=0,11; centenarians=0,15).

Gender analysis demonstrate that the significant difference in the rs144989913 genotypic and allele frequencies between T2DM and young, AD and young and old and young are present only in males rather than in both males and females (data not shown). Due to small number of centenarians, we couldn't study the gender effect in this population.

DISCUSSION

Our study concerns the association between INPPL1 SNPs and age-related diseases, ageing and longevity. The results indicate a significant association of the rs144989913 with both successful and unsuccessful ageing. In previous report, rs9886 and rs144989913 were shown to be associated, in haplotype, with rs2276047, to hypertension, obesity, MS and T2DM but no association with the only rs2276047 was shown [26]. Thus we exclusively analyzed the two above mentioned SNPs but we obtained significant results for rs144989913 only.

Both genotypic and allelic frequencies of rs144989913 showed significant association of this SNP between young and old in general, rather than between elderly and the specific age-related diseases. The frequency of D allele increase from young to centenarians. Therefore, in a further step it should be analyzed the life expectancy in aged patients with D allele in comparison with I allele. Moreover, the specific association with males in not surprising because it has been claimed that males and females follow different strategies to attain longevity and several case-control studies have been positive only in males [31-33].

Concerning the function of SHIP2, it is noteworthy that its acts inside the signaling cascade of insulin, hence its alteration in terms of function and expression may cause insulin pathway impairment. Indeed, in vivo studies, demonstrated that SHIP2 is a potent negative regulator of insulin signaling and insulin sensitivity [18, 22-24]. Many studies demonstrated the association of insulin/IGF1 pathway with ageing and longevity. The replication of specific results in model organisms led to conduct studies also in human [3,33].

It is tempting to speculate that rs144989913 alleles may differently influence gene expression because they consist in a variation of 28 base pair. They may differently modulate the insulin pathway involved in ageing and longevity, hence functional studies are mandatory to confirm this suggestion.

Rejuvenation Research SHIP2: a "NEW" insulin pathway target for ageing research (doi: 10.1089/rej.2013.1541) This article has been peer-reviewed and accepted for publication, but has yet to undergo copyediting and proof correction. The final published version may differ from this proof.

In conclusion, our results are only a small contribute in ageing research but represent the first study that coupled INPPL1/SHIP2 and ageing. INPPL1 might be a "new" interesting gene in ageing research and this study represent the first tile.

CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

The authors have no conflict of interest.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work has been supported by the authors' respective institutions (ex 60% to GC and CC). G.A. and C.V. are PhD students (Tutor GC, Supervisor CC) and this paper is submitted in partial fulfillment of their PhD degree.

REFERENCES

- Caruso C, Passarino G, Puca A, Scapagnini G. "Positive biology": the centenarian lesson. Immun Ageing 2012; 9: 5.
- 2. Montesanto A, Dato S, Bellizzi D, Rose G, Passarino G. Epidemiological, genetic and epigenetic aspects of the research on healthy ageing and longevity. Immun Ageing 2012; 9: 6.
- Ziv E, Hu D. Genetic variation in insulin/IGF-1 signaling pathways and longevity. Ageing Res Rev 2011; 10:201-4.
- 4. Wilcox G. Insulin and insulin resistance. Clin Biochem Rev 2005; 26:19-39.

Rejuvenation Research SHIP2: a "NEW" insulin pathway target for ageing research (doi: 10.1089/rej.2013.1541) This article has been peer-reviewed and accepted for publication, but has yet to undergo copyediting and proof correction. The final published version may differ from this proof.

- 5. Shoelson SE, Lee J, Goldfine AB. Inflammation and insulin resistance. J Clin Invest. 2006;116:1793-801.
- Elks CM, Francis J. Central adiposity, systemic inflammation, and the metabolic syndrome. Curr Hypertens Rep 2010; 12:99–104.
- Ahtiluoto S, Polvikoski T, Peltonen M, Solomon A, Tuomilehto J, Winblad B, Sulkava R, Kivipelto M. Diabetes, Alzheimer disease, and vascular dementia: A population-based neuropathologic study. Neurology 2010; 75:1195–1202.
- Luchsinger JA. Insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes, and AD: Cerebrovascular disease or neurodegeneration? Neurology 2010; 75:758–759.
- 9. Sanz C, Andrieu S, Sinclair A, Hanaire H, Vellas B; REAL.FR Study Group. Diabetes is associated with a slower rate of cognitive decline in Alzheimer disease. Neurology 2009; 73:1359–1366.
- Vanhanen M, Koivisto K, Moilanen L, Helkala EL, Ha nninen T, Soininen H, Kervinen K, Kesa niemi YA, Laakso M, Kuusisto J. Association of metabolic syndrome with Alzheimer disease: A population-based study. Neurology 2006; 67:843–847.
- 11. Razay G, Vreugdenhil A, Wilcock G. The metabolic syndrome and Alzheimer disease. Arch Neurol 2007; 64:93–96.
- 12. Haslam DW, James WP. Obesity. Lancet 2005; 366:1197-1209.

Rejuvenation Research SHIP2: a "NEW" insulin pathway target for ageing research (doi: 10.1089/rej.2013.1541) This article has been peer-reviewed and accepted for publication, but has yet to undergo copyediting and proof correction. The final published version may differ from this proof.

- 13. Steen E, Terry BM, Rivera EJ, Cannon JL, Neely TR, Tavares R, Xu XJ, Wands JR, de la Monte SM. Impaired insulin and insulin-like growth factor expression and signaling mechanisms in Alzheimer's disease–is this type 3 diabetes? J Alzheimer. Dis 2005; 7:63–80.
- 14. Dom nguez RO, Pagano MA, Marschoff ER, Gonz dez SE, Repetto MG, Serra JA. Neurologia. Alzheimer disease and cognitive impairment associated with diabetes mellitus type 2: Associations and a hypothesis 2013; S0213-4853.
- 15. De la Torre JC. Is Alzheimer's disease a neurodegenerative or a vascular disorder? Data, dogma, and dialectics. Lancet Neurol 2004; 3:184–190.
- 16. Milionis HJ, Florentin M, Giannopoulos S. Metabolic syndrome and Alzheimer's disease: A link to a vascular hypothesis? CNS Spectr 2008; 13:606–613.
- 17. Candore G, Bulati M, Caruso C, Castiglia L, Colonna- Romano G, Di Bona D, Duro G, Lio D, Matranga D, Pellicano` M, Rizzo C, Scapagnini G, Vasto S. Inflammation, cytokines, immune response, apolipoprotein E, cholesterol, and oxidative stress in Alzheimer disease: Therapeutic implications. Rejuvenation Res 2010; 13:301–313.
- Frisardi, V., Solfrizzi, V., Capurso, C., Imbimbo, B.P., Vendemiale, G., Seripa, D., Pilotto, A., Panza, F. Is insulin resistant brain state a central feature of the metabolic-cognitive syndrome? J. Alzheimers Dis. 2010; 21: 57-63.
- Dyson JM, Kong AM, Wiradjaja F, Astle MV, Gurung R, Mitchell CA. The SH2 domain containing inositol polyphosphate 5 phosphatase-2: SHIP2. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2005; 37:2260– 2265.
- Plum L, Schubert M, Bruning JC. The role of insulin receptor signaling in the brain. Trends Endocrino Metab 2005; 16: 59–65.
- 21. Lucas JJ, Hern ández F, Gómez-Ramos P, Mor án MA, Hen R, Avila J. Decreased nuclear betacatenin, tau hyperphosphorylation and neurodegeneration in GSK-3beta conditional transgenic mice. EMBO J. 2001 15; 20:27-39.

11

- Jope RS, Johnson GV. The glamour and gloom of glycogen synthase kinase-3. Trends Biochem Sci. 2004; 29:95-102.
- 23. Clement S, Krause U, Desmedt F, Tanti JF, Behrends J, Pesesse X, Sasaki T, Penninger J, Doherty M, Malaisse W, Dumont JE, Le Marchand-Brustel Y, Erneux C, Hue L, Schurmans S. The lipid phosphatase SHIP2 controls insulin sensitivity. Nature 2001; 409:92–97.
- 24. Soeda Y, Tsuneki H, Muranaka H, Mori N, Hosoh S, Ichihara Y, Kagawa S, Wang X, Toyooka N, Takamura Y, Uwano T, Nishijo H, Wada T, Sasaoka T. The inositol phosphatase SHIP2 negatively regulates insulin/IGF-I actions implicated in neuroprotection and memory function in mouse brain. Mol Endocrinol 2010; 24:1965–1977.
- 25. Hori H, Sasaoka T, Ishihara H, Wada T, Murakami S, Ishiki M, Kobayashi M. Association of SH2containing inositol phosphatase 2 with the insulin resistance of diabetic db/db mice. Diabetes 2002; 51:2387–2394.
- 26. Kaisaki PJ, Delepine M, Woon PY, Sebag-Montefiore L, Wilder SP, Menzel S, Vionnet N, Marion E, Riveline JP, Charpentier G, Schurmans S, Levy JC, Lathrop M, Farrall M, Gauguier D. Polymorphisms in type II SH2 domain-containing inositol 5-phosphatase (INPPL1, SHIP2) are associated with physiological abnormalities of the metabolic syndrome. Diabetes 2004; 53:1900–1904.
- 27. Kagawa S, Sasaoka T, Yaguchi S, Ishihara H, Tsuneki H, Murakami S, Fukui K, Wada T, Kobayashi S, Kimura I, Kobayashi M. Impact of SRC homology 2-containing inositol 5¢-phosphatase 2 gene polymorphisms detected in a Japanese population on insulin signaling. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2005; 90:2911–2919.
- 28. Marçano AC, Burke B, Gungadoo J, Wallace C, Kaisaki PJ, Woon PY, Farrall M, Clayton D, Brown M, Dominiczak A, Connell JM, Webster J, Lathrop M, Caulfield M, Samani N, Gauguier D, Munroe PB. Genetic association analysis of inositol polyphosphate phosphatase-like 1 (INPPL1, SHIP2) variants with essential hypertension. J Med Genet. 2007; 44:603-5.

Rejuvenation Research pathway target for ageing research (doi: 10.1089/rej.2013.1541) has yet to undergo copyediting and proof correction. The final published version may differ from this proof.

Th

- 29. McKhann G, Drachman D, Folstein M, Katzman R, Price D, Stadlan EM. "Clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: report of the NINCDS-ADRDA Work Group under the auspices of Department of Health and Human Service Task Force on Alzheimer's Disease". Neurology 1984; 34: 939-944.
- 30. American Psychiatric Association. American Psychiatric Association Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders: DSM-III-R, 3rd revised ed. Washington (DC), (1987)
- Candore G, Caruso C, Colonna-Romano G. Inflammation, genetic background and longevity. Biogerontology 2010; 11: 565-73.
- 32. Capri M, Salvioli S, Monti D, Caruso C, Candore G, Vasto S, Olivieri F, Marchegiani F, Sansoni P, Baggio G, Mari D, Passarino G, De Benedictis G, Franceschi C. Human longevity within an evolutionary perspective: the peculiar paradigm of a post-reproductive genetics. Exp Gerontol 2008; 43: 53-60.

33. Di Bona D, Accardi G, Virruso C, Candore G, Caruso C. Association between genetic variations in the insulin/insulin-like growth factor (IGF-1) signalling pathway and longevity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Vascular Pharmacology. In press.

n,					
GENOTYPE ≳.5	T2DM (n=117) (A)	AD (n=119) (B)	YOUNG (n=127) (C)	OLD (n=105) (D)	CENTENARIAN (E)(20)
and accepted for public	97 (0.83) 20 (0.17) 0 AvsC=0.028* AvsD=ns* AvsE=ns*	97 (0.81) 22 (0.19) 0 BvsC=0.013* BvsD=ns* BvsE=ns*	117 (0.92) 10 (0.08) 0 CvsD=0.0013* CvsE=0.0031*	81 (0.77) 24 (0.13) 0 DvsE=ns*	14 (0.70) 6 (0.30) 0
AILELE					
Deer-re Deer	214 (0.91) 20 (0.09)	216 (0.91) 22 (0.09)	244 (0.96) 10 (0.039)	186 (0.88) 24 (0.11)	34 (0.85) 6 (0.15)
cle has been J	AvsC=0.034** AvsD=ns** AvsE=ns**	BvsC=0.017** BvsD=ns** BvsE=ns**	CvsD=0.0020** CvsE=0.004**	DvsE=ns**	
is artic					13

Table 1. rs144999813 genetic distribution and allele frequency for cases represented by Alzheimer's disease subjects and Type 2 diabetes mellitus subjects and controls represented by young, old and centenarians subjects and association of the rs144999813 between cases and controls and young and aged people.

*The significance of the different genotype distribution among groups was calculated by chi-square test (3x2 table).

**The significance of the different allele distribution among groups was calculated by chi-square test (2x2 table).

T2DM: Type 2 diabetes mellitus. AD: Alzheimer's disease. I: insertion. D: deletion.



Figure 1. Insulin/IGF-1 pathway and SHIP2 action. This signaling pathway has a critical role in the determination of longevity. The bond of Insulin/IGF-1 to the specific receptor (IGF-1R/INSR) activates the phosphatidylinositol-3'kinase (PI3K) through the insulin related substrate (IRS). It leads to the activation of AKT, through phosphatidylinositol(3,4,5)-trisphosphate, that, in turn, inhibits Forkhead box O3A (FOXO3A), that acts as transcription factor, activating the expression of many homeostatic genes. In the meantime, the downstream signal activated from PIP3 leads to the activation of AKT/PKB that phosphorylates and inactivates the glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK3). SHIP2 acts on the substrate lipid secondary messenger PIP3 to produce phosphatidylinositol 3,4-diphosphate (PIP2). Thus, SHIP2 is an antagonist of PI3K that phosphorylates PIP2 to obtain PIP3, attenuating the PI3K-mediated insulin signaling pathway.

8. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

The present thesis strengthen the suggestion of the central role played by insulin/IGF-1 pathway in human ageing and longevity. Human population is very heterogeneous because of the different genetic background and different environmental stimuli thus it has not been yet possible to identify a clear panel of biomarkers of ageing and longevity.

Longevity is a complex trait influenced by familial component and other determinants.

Besides environmental factors (diet, physical activity, health habits, socio-cultural factors and life-style in general), genetic differences contribute at least for 25% in different human lifespan (*Herskind et al 1996; Yashin et al 1999; Christensen et al 2006; Willcox et al 2006a; Willcox et al 2006b; Bishop et al 2007*). Indeed, twin studies show that genetic factors contribute to the variation in human lifespan by approximately 25% but in populations with a large number of exceptional survivors, the genetic contribution to lifespan may be much higher (*Gundmundsson et al 2006; Kerber et al 2001; Perls et al 2002; Willcox et al 2006b*).

The number of candidate genes studies, GWAS, meta-analyses and genome scanning about ageing and longevity has increased markedly over the years. The individuate genes are those presumably involved in ageing or longevity. But, nowadays, the nutrient-sensing pathways, i.e. insulin/IGF-1 pathway, are probably the most studied in this field of research.

Nonetheless, many studies have associated antioxidant mechanisms (i.e. superoxide dismutases, SODs), immune-inflammatory responses, lipid metabolism (APOE, APOB, ACE, APOC3) and stress resistance (HSPA1A and HSPA1L) to human longevity and this reflects its multifactorial influence. To asses this trait and the processes that lead to ageing, specific genes or genome scanning and phenotypic and biochemical effects of gene variants are studied in LLI and centenarians. Indeed, they are the best models for these kind of studies, also because genetic contribution to human longevity has been estimated to be most profound during the late part of life.

Unfortunately, the intrinsic complexity and the heterogeneity among people make studies on ageing and longevity difficult to standardized, also because it is not easy to collect an adequate population in terms of number and information related to previous event happened in life. For this reason, it could be helpful to study model organisms to identify potential candidates and to apply new knowledge or hypothesis to human. Indeed, many studies in model organisms, such as yeast, nematodes, fruit flies and mice, have been conducted demonstrating that a single genetic mutation or a single environmental intervention can modulate lifespan. There are many possible candidate genes for human longevity but, up to now, only one has been shown positive results in different studies and populations: the APOE gene (*Christensen et al 2006*).

The APOE E4 isoform has been linked to elevated cholesterol, CVDs, age-related cognitive decline, and dementia. It is more strongly associated with AD than longevity and other conditions. Homozygosity for the E4 allele confers up to 15-fold risk for AD in whites and 8-fold risk in African Americans compared with the most common ApoE genotype. Thus, ApoE may influence longevity through premature atherosclerosis and age-related diseases (*Murabito et al 2012*).

But a growing body of evidences shows that dietary intervention and genetic alterations in gene encoding proteins that take part in metabolic nutrient-sensing pathways can modulate lifespan (*Bonafè et al 2003; Suh et*

al 2008; Willcox et al 2008; Albani et al 2009; Anselmi et al 2009; Flachsbart et al 2009; Soerensen et al 2010; Ziv et al 2011). It depends on the hyper o ipo activation of these signaling due to genetic mutations that under or over express regulative molecules leading to different expression of homeostatic genes.

During evolution, this pathway has diverged from a single receptor in invertebrates to multiple receptors and more complicated pathways and regulatory networks in mammals.

The first signaling cascade associated with ageing and longevity was the insulin/IGF-1 pathway in *C. elegans*. It was shown that mutation that reduce the *daf-2* function, orthologue of IGF-1 receptor, and mutation in *age-1*, homologue of PI3K, lead to both increased life span and stress resistance (*Dorman et al 1995; Apfeld et al 1998*).

Also in mice and in primates the modulation of this pathway can extend life-span and delay age-related pathologies leading to the conclusion that these associations are evolutionary conserved (*Bartke 2005; Anderson et al 2009; Fontana et al 2010*).

Our results, obtained from meta-analyses and candidate gene approach, support data previous shown for the role of specific SNPs in ageing and longevity.

Among others, FOXO3A probably represents one of the genes that more influence longevity, association observed in different ethnic populations. Moreover, a multitude of studies in *C. elegans* support its role. *Daf-16* is the homologue of FOXO in the nematode. Evidences demonstrated that it protects cells from oxidative stress that constitutes a nerve centre in ageing process, increasing life-span (*Kenyon 2005*). Daf-16 is a TF that modulates the expression of SOD2, acting as free radical

143

scavenger (*Honda et al 1999*). It seems that the role of FOXO3A in human might be the same, acting as a TF on multiple homeostatic genes in response to decreased insulin/IGF-1 signaling and consequently increasing life-span (*Ziv et al 2011*). Interestingly, other genes that increase life-span, i.e. the enzymes histone deacetylase sirtuins, interact with FOXO.

In particular, SIRT1 deacetylates FOXO3A and modulates its response to oxidative stress (*Salminen et al 2009*).

Our studies confirm previous studies about the association between FOXOA3A, IGF-1R and longevity but no association was reported between IGF-1 and SIRT1 (for the analyzed SNPs), although, for IGF-1, its SNPs could affect the serum levels, known to modulate ageing and longevity and higher circulating levels of IGF-1 have also been associated with longer leukocyte telomere length, a key biomarker of human ageing, in healthy subjects (*Barbieri et al 2009*).

This would be consistent with the hypothesis that most longevity genes have modest or small effect sizes. It is also possible that small sample size and the remarkable heterogeneity often observed in the populations included in the different studies, in terms of age and ethnicity of both control and cases groups, limited our detection ability. Another explanation could be that these contrasting results are due to the insulin/IGF-1 paradox (*Koshiyama 2012*).

Moreover, we observed sex-specific differences in the association of the genetic variation with survival during old age. In particular, about FOXO3A the significant association with longevity was observed specifically when only males were included in the analysis. Also for the rs144989913, SNP of INPPL1, we obtain a specific association in males.
This is not surprising because, as we discussed in our paper (*Caruso* et al 2013), it has been claimed that males and females follow different strategies to attain longevity and several association studies have been positive only in males (*Capri et al 2008*). The reason are obviously multifactorial, with a socio-cultural component that can be distinguish from biological trait linked to longevity. In some cases our result became positive only in centenarians. Also this result is not surprising, because centenarians represent the survival tail of the population (*Caruso et al 2012*).

Our second meta-analysis on the association between KLOTHO KL-VS variant (stretch that contains six polymorphisms in linkage disequilibrium), ageing and longevity indicated a significant association of the variant with healthy ageing and longevity, despite the serious limitations of the study. This association is limited to KL-VS heterozygous people because the KL-VS homozygous undergoes to a detrimental effect of the polymorphism indicating a possible association mechanism not related to the gene dose. It should be noted that in one study the genetic effect was shown only in one population, suggesting that genetic or environmental factors could influence the observed effect. These contrasting results could be linked to the reason mentioned above that partially mask the true genetic effect.

However, cross-sectional and prospective studies confirm a genetic model in which the KL-VS allele confers a heterozygous advantage in conjunction with a marked homozygous disadvantage with low levels of HDL cholesterol, high systolic blood pressure, increased risk of stroke and early onset coronary artery disease, and mortality (*Arking et al 2003; Arking et al 2005*).

Coming back to the crucial nodes upstream to insulin/IGF-1 pathway, certainly we have to highlight the importance of the second messenger PIP3. Indeed, from this molecules start the signal that activate the kinase AKT, involved in many crucial cellular activity. To regulate PIP3 level, the cell uses a kinase and a phosphatase, PI3K and phosphatase and tensin homolog and SHIP2. Since the role of SHIP2 is the less clear, we analyzed the association of some its SNPs with age-related diseases.

Variation in SHIP2 levels may cause insulin pathway impairment.

Indeed, *in vivo* studies, demonstrated that SHIP2 is a potent negative regulator of insulin signaling and insulin sensitivity (*Clement et al 2001; Soeda et al 2010*). Since the rs144989913 alleles is an insertion/deletion of 28 base pairs, it is tempting to speculate that might differently influence gene expression of INPPL1. Of course functional studies are mandatory to confirm this suggestion but the increased frequency of the deletion allele from young to centenarians may be due to a different expression of SHIP2 that reduce the insulin signaling possibly favoring longevity.

AKT also regulates the gene expression by modulating the function of several TF. Among these, it can stimulate the NF-kB pathway that is known to be involved in ageing process.

Consequently it could be speculated that a reduction in insulin signaling may reduce the activation of NF-kB thus slow down the transcription of inflammatory genes. As we discussed in our paper (*Balistreri et al 2012*), these kind of genes contribute to immunosenescence, phenomenon also influenced by genetics. The different results obtained in Sicilian centenarians, both males and females, and in subjects with myocardial infarction get further support to the influence of genetics to determine longevity and to the different strategies between males and females to reach longevity. These strategies are driven by both biological and socio-cultural characteristics and are the reasons for which women live longer that men in developed countries.

Summarizing, the studied allelic variants reduce the insulin/IGF-1 signaling, hence, we agreed that a down regulation of this pathway can increase lifespan in human leading to healthy longevity. Moreover, we agree that inflammatory pathways have a crucial role as well. Indeed, as previously discussed for the Sicilian population, there was an association between SNPs responsible for a low production of inflammatory mediators and longevity.

Unfortunately, one of the limits to the discovery of the common longevity features is probably the gene-gene and gene-environment interaction but many evidences show that genetic factors are involved in longevity in humans and contribute more, after 85 years of age.

In any case, these data clearly suggest that intervention on ageing and longevity should be based both on nutrient pathways and inflammatory network.

In rodents, both dietary restriction (DR) and mutations in nutrient and growth signaling pathways can extend longevity by 30-50% and lower the incidence of age-related loss of function and disease, including tumors and neurodegeneration. DR also increases "healthspan" and protects against diabetes, cancer, and cardiovascular disease in rhesus monkeys, and in humans it causes changes that protect against these age-related pathologies (*Omodei et al 2011*).

However, although some forms of DR may be beneficial, this severe dietary regimen that induces major health benefits is not a desirable option for most people. Drugs that target nutrient-sensing pathways and mimic the effects of DR to obtain the health benefits of DR are more realistic, but before they can be considered for chronic administration they require large investments.

An alternative approach might be a close adherence to MD that includes an healthy lifestyle. MD is a real culture that has been reported to contribute to better health and quality of life in the Mediterranean countries.

Especially in Sicily and Sardinia, where many longevous people exist, this "cultural habit" is common. The Elderly Prospective Cohort Study identified a reduced overall mortality among old people that live in a "Mediterranean way" and in particular in that people consuming monounsaturated (MUFA) fatty acid instead of satured (*Trichopoulou et al 2005; Bürkle et al 2007*).

Meta-analyses of prospective cohort studies demonstrate that the adherence to MD can significantly decreases the risk of mortality from CVDs (in particular from coronary heart disease) and the incidence of PD, AD and cancer (*Sofi et al 2008; Estruch et al 2013*). It is well established that the pathophysiology of common age-related disease is associated with chronic inflammation and oxidative stress and that LDL oxidation is one of the major risk factor for the development of CVDs (*Candore et al 2010b*).

Extra virgin olive oil (EVOO), the main source of polyphenols in MD, is composed by MUFA, mainly oleic acid, that reduces LDL cholesterol levels in comparison with saturated fats. *In vivo*, three mechanistic studies have shown that EVOO phenolic compounds are able to bind to LDL and this may increase the resistance to oxidation. Furthermore, the inhibition of NF-kB pathway activation by polyphenols could explain part of its anti-inflammatory properties. EVOO also contains carotenoids, sterols, lycopene, and hydrophilic phenolics (oleuropein, oleocanthal,

hydroxytyrosol and tyrosol), all bioactive compounds (*Pitozzi et al 2012*). In vivo and in vitro research has suggested that the dietary intake of EVOO with high polyphenols content may attenuate inflammatory response and therefore reduce the risk of chronic inflammatory diseases (*Corona et al 2009; Konstantinidou et al 2010; Khymenets et al 2009*). Oleuropein is a radical scavenger that blocks the LDL oxidation (*de la Torre-Carbot et al 2007*). Moreover, *in vitro* studies demonstrated the Ibuprofen–like activity of oleocanthal and hydroxytyrosol carried out the inhibition of the cyclooxygenases 1 and 2, responsible for prostaglandin production, in a dose-dependent manner (*Beauchamp et al 2005; Gonzalez-Santiago et al 2010*).

Thus these data strengthen the probability that successful ageing may be pharmacologically modulated.

Nowadays, the healthcare costs in many countries are very high because of the increased aged populations and the consequent increase of age-related diseases. Hence, interventions to slow ageing and/or to age successfully are urgently necessary. Indeed, success in increasing longevity in laboratory organisms has shown that ageing is not an immutable process.

It has been calculated that if ageing is slowed for seven years, the age specific risk of death, frailty, and disability will be reduced by about half at every age. People who reach the age of 60 in the future would resemble current 53 year olds, and so on. On the other hand, if ageing is combined with extended years of healthy life, it could also produce unprecedented social, economic, and health dividends. Understanding of the ageing process should have a prominent role in new strategies for extending the health of a population that is highly susceptible to the diseases of ageing.

Thus, investigating ageing and longevity pathophysiology, particularly disentangling low grade inflammation, is likely to provide important clues about how to develop drugs that can slow or delay ageing.

REFERENCES

Ahtiluoto S, Polvikoski T, Peltonen M, Solomon A, Tuomilehto J, Winblad B, Sulkava R, Kivipelto M. Diabetes, Alzheimer disease, and vascular dementia: A population-based neuropathologic study. Neurology 2010;75:1195–1202.

Albani D, Batelli S, Polito L, Vittori A, Pesaresi M, Gajo GB, De Angeli S, Zanardo A, Gallucci M, Forloni G. A polymorphic variant of the insulinlike growth factor 1 (IGF-1) receptor correlates with male longevity in the Italian population: a genetic study and evaluation of circulating IGF-1 from the "Treviso Longeva (TRELONG)" study. BMC Geriatr 2009;9:19.

Alzheimer's Association, Thies W, Bleiler L. 2011 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimers Dement 2011;7:208–244

Anderson RM, Shanmuganayagam D, Weindruch R. Caloric restriction and aging: studies in mice and monkeys. Toxicol Pathol. 2009;37:47-51.

Anselmi CV, Malovini A, Roncarati R, Novelli V, Villa F, Condorelli G, Bellazzi R, Puca AA. Association of the FOXO3A locus with extreme longevity in a southern Italian centenarian study. Rejuvenation Res 2009;12:95-104.

Apfeld J, Kenyon C. Cell nonautonomy of C. elegans daf-2 function in the regulation of diapause and life span. Cell 1998;95:199-210.

Arking DE, Becker DM, Yanek LR, Fallin D, Judge DP, Moy TF, Becker LC, Dietz HC. KLOTHO allele status and the risk of early-onset occult coronary artery disease. Am J Hum Genet. 2003;72:1154-61.

Arking DE, Krebsova A, Macek M Sr, Macek M Jr, Arking A, Mian IS, Fried L, Hamosh A, Dey S, McIntosh I, Dietz HC. Association of human aging with a functional variant of klotho. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2002;99:856-61.

Arking DE, Atzmon G, Arking A, Barzilai N, Dietz HC. Association between a functional variant of the KLOTHO gene and high-density

lipoprotein cholesterol, blood pressure, stroke, and longevity. Circ Res 2005;96:412-8.

Avery P, Barzilai N, Benetos A, Bilianou H, Capri M, Caruso C, Franceschi C, Katsiki N, Mikhailidis DP, Panotopoulos G, Sikora E, Tzanetakou IP, Kolovou G. Curr Vasc Pharmacol. Ageing, Longevity, Exceptional Longevity and Related Genetic and non Genetics Markers: Panel Statement 2013. [Epub ahead of print]

Barbieri M, Boccardi V, Esposito A, Papa M, Vestini F, Rizzo MR, Paolisso G. A/ASP/VAL allele combination of IGF1R, IRS2, and UCP2 genes is associated with better metabolic profile, preserved energy expenditure parameters, and low mortality rate in longevity. Age 2012;34:235-45.

Barbieri M, Paolisso G, Kimura M, Gardner JP, Boccardi V, Papa M, Hjelmborg JV, Christensen K, Brimacombe M, Nawrot TS, Staessen JA, Pollak MN, Aviv A. Higher circulating levels of IGF-1 are associated with longer leukocyte telomere length in healthy subjects. Mech Ageing Dev 2009;130:771-6.

Bartke A. Minireview: role of the growth hormone/insulin-like growth factor system in mammalian aging. Endocrinology 2005;146:3718-23.

Beauchamp GK, Keast RSJ, Morel D, Lin J, Pika J, Han Q, Lee CH, Smith AB, Breslin PAS. Phytochemistry: ibuprofen-like activity in extra-virgin olive oil. Nature 2005;437:45-46.

Ben-Porath I, Weinberg RA. The signals and pathways activating cellular senescence. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2005;37:961–76.

Bishop NA, Guarente L. Genetic links between diet and lifespan: Shared mechanisms from yeast to humans. Nat Rev Genet 2007;8:835–844.

Bonafè M, Barbieri M, Marchegiani F, Olivieri F, Ragno E, Giampieri C, Mugianesi E, Centurelli M, Franceschi C, Paolisso G. Polymorphic variants of insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) receptor and phosphoinositide 3-kinase genes affect IGF-I plasma levels and human longevity: cues for an evolutionarily conserved mechanism of life span control. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003;88:3299-304.

Braig M, Schmitt CA. Oncogene-induced senescence: putting the brakes on tumor development. Cancer Res 2006;66:2881–2884.

Brunet A. The multiple roles of FOXO transcription factors. Med Sci (Paris) 2004;20:856.

Bürkle A, Caselli G, Franceschi C, Mariani E, Sansoni P, Santoni A, Vecchio G, Witkowski JM, Caruso C: Pathophysiology of ageing, longevity and age related diseases. Immun Ageing. 2007;4:4

Campisi J. Senescent cells, tumor suppression and organismal aging: Good citizens, bad neighbors. Cell 2005;120:513–522.

Campisi J, Andersen JK, Kapahi P, Melov S. Cellular senescence: a link between cancer and age-related degenerative disease? Semin Cancer Biol 2011;21:354–359.

Campisi J, d'Adda di Fagagna F. Cellular senescence: when bad things happen to good cells. Nature Rev Molec Cell Biol 2007;8:729–740.

Candore G, Bulati M, Caruso C, Castiglia L, Colonna-Romano G, Di Bona D, Duro G, Lio D, Matranga D, Pellicanò M, Rizzo C, Scapagnini G, Vasto S. Inflammation, cytokines, immune response, apolipoprotein E, cholesterol, and oxidative stress in Alzheimer disease: therapeutic implications. Rejuvenation Res 2010;13:301-13.

Candore G, Caruso C, Colonna-Romano G. Inflammation, genetic background and longevity. Biogerontology 2010;11:565-73.

Capri M, Salvioli S, Monti D, Caruso C, Candore G, Vasto S, Olivieri F, Marchegiani F, Sansoni P, Baggio G, Mari D, Passarino G, De Benedictis G, Franceschi C. Human longevity within an evolutionary perspective: the peculiar paradigm of a post-reproductive genetics. Exp Gerontol 2008;43:53-60.

Capri M, Salvioli S, Sevini F, Valensin S, Celani L, Monti D, Pawelec G, De Benedictis G, Gonos ES, Franceschi C. The genetics of human longevity. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2006;1067: 252-63.

Caruso C, Passarino G, Puca A, Scapagnini G. "Positive biology": the centenarian lesson. Immun Ageing 2012;9:5.

Chien Y, Scuoppo C, Wang X, Fang X, Balgley B, Bolden JE, Premsrirut P, Luo W, Chicas A, Lee CS, Kogan SC, Lowe SW. Control of the senescenceassociated secretory phenotype by NF- κ B promotes senescence and enhances chemosensitivity. Genes Dev 2011;25:2125–2136.

Christensen K, Johnson TE, Vaupel JW. The quest for genetic determinants of human longevity: challenges and insights. Nat Rev Genet 2006;7:436–448.

Clement S, Krause U, Desmedt F, Tanti JF, Behrends J, Pesesse X, Sasaki T, Penninger J, Doherty M, Malaisse W, Dumont JE, Le Marchand-Brustel Y, Erneux C, Hue L, Schurmans S. The lipid phosphatase SHIP2 controls insulin sensitivity. Nature 2001;409:92–97.

Cole AR, Astell A, Green C, Sutherland C. Molecular connexions between dementia and diabetes. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2007;31:1046–1063.

Collado M, Serrano M. The power and the promise of oncogene-induced senescence markers. Nature Rev Cancer 2006;6:472–476.

Conneely KN, Capell BC, Erdos MR, Sebastiani P, Solovieff N, Swift AJ, Baldwin CT, Budagov T, Barzilai N, Atzmon G, Puca AA, Perls TT, Geesaman BJ, Boehnke M, Collins FS. Human longevity and common variations in the LMNA gene: a meta-analysis. Aging Cell 2012;11:475-81.

Corona G, Spencer J, Dessi M: Extra virgin olive oil phenolics: absorption, metabolism, and biological activities in the GI tract. Toxicol Ind Health 2009;25:285-293.

Craft S. The role of metabolic disorders in Alzheimer disease and vascular dementia: Two roads converged. Arch Neurol 2009;66:300–305.

de la Torre JC. Is Alzheimer's disease a neurodegenerative or a vascular disorder? Data, dogma, and dialectics. Lancet Neurol 2004;3:184–190.

de la Torre-Carbot K, Chavez-Servin JL, Jauregui O, Castellote AI, Lamuela-Raventos RM, Fito M, Covas MI, Munoz-Aguayo D, LopezSabater MC: Presence of virgin olive oil phenolic metabolites in human low density lipoprotein fraction: determination by high-performance liquid chromatography–electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry. Anal Chim Acta 2007;583:402-410.

Di Bona D, Vasto S, Capurso C, Christiansen L, Deiana L, Franceschi C, Hurme M, Mocchegiani E, Rea M, Lio D, Candore G, Caruso C. Effect of interleukin-6 polymorphisms on human longevity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ageing Res Rev 2009;8:36-42.

Dorman JB, Albinder B, Shroyer T, Kenyon C. The age-1 and daf-2 genes function in a common pathway to control the lifespan of Caenorhabditis elegans. Genetics 1995;141:1399-406.

Dyson JM, Kong AM, Wiradjaja F, Astle MV, Gurung R, Mitchell CA. The SH2 domain containing inositol polyphosphate 5 phosphatase-2: SHIP2. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2005;37:2260–2265.

Elks CM, Francis J. Central adiposity, systemic inflammation, and the metabolic syndrome. Curr Hypertens Rep 2010;12:99–104. Estruch R, Ros E, Salas-Salvadó J, Covas MI, Corella D, Arós F, Gómez-Gracia E, Ruiz-Gutiérrez V, Fiol M, Lapetra J, Lamuela-Raventos RM, Serra-Majem L, Pintó X, Basora J, Muñoz MA, Sorlí JV, Martínez JA, Martínez-González MA. Primary prevention of cardiovascular disease with a Mediterranean diet. N Engl J Med 2013;368:1279-90.

Ferreira IL, Resende R, Ferreiro E, Rego AC, Pereira CF. Multiple defects in energy metabolism in Alzheimer's disease. Curr Drug Targets 2010;11:1193–1206.

Flachsbart F, Caliebe A, Kleindorp R, Blanchè H, von Eller-Eberstein, Nikolaus S, Schreiber S, Nebel A. Association of FOXO3A variation with human longevity confirmed in German centenarians. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009;106:2700-5.

Fontana L, Weiss EP, Villareal DT, Klein S, Holloszy JO. Long-term effects of calorie or protein restriction on serum IGF-1 and IGFBP-3 concentration in humans. Aging Cell 2008;7:681-7.

Fontana L, Partridge L, Longo VD. Extending healthy life span--from yeast to humans. Science 2010;328:321-6.

Frisardi V, Solfrizzi V, Capurso C, Imbimbo BP, Vendemiale G, Seripa D, Pilotto A, Panza F. Is insulin resistant brain state a central feature of the metabolic-cognitive syndrome? J. Alzheimers Dis 2010;9:399–417.

Gems D, McElwee JJ. Aging: Microarraying mortality. Nature 2003;424:259–261.

Gilmore TD, Wolenski FS. NF- κ B: where did it come from and why? Immunol Rev 2012;246:14–35.

Gonzalez-Santiago M, Fonolla J, Lopez-Huertas E: Human absorption of a supplement containing purified hydroxytyrosol, a natural antioxidant from olive oil, and evidence for its transient association with low-density lipoproteins. Pharmacol Res 2010;61:364-370.

Gundmundsson H, Gudbjartsson DF, Frigge M, Gulcher JR, Stefànsson K. Inheritance of human longevity in Iceland. Eur J Hum Genet 2000;8:743–749.

Hayflick L. Entropy explains aging, genetic determinism explains longevity, and undefined terminology explains misunderstanding both. PLoS Genet 2007;3:e220.

Herskind AM, McGue M, Holm NV, Sorensen TI, Harvald B, Vaupel JW. The heritability of human longevity: A population-based study of 2872 Danish twin pairs born 1870–1900. Hum Genet 1996;97:319–323

Honda Y, Honda S. The daf-2 gene network for longevity regulates oxidative stress resistance and Mnsuperoxide dismutase gene expression in Caenorhabditis elegans. FASEB J 1999;13:1385–1393.

Kagawa S, Sasaoka T, Yaguchi S, Ishihara H, Tsuneki H, Murakami S, Fukui K, Wada T, Kobayashi S, Kimura I, Kobayashi M. Impact of SRC homology 2-containing inositol 5¢-phosphatase 2 gene polymorphisms detected in a Japanese population on insulin signaling. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2005;90:2911–2919.

Kaisaki PJ, Delepine M, Woon PY, Sebag-Montefiore L, Wilder SP, Menzel S, Vionnet N, Marion E, Riveline JP, Charpentier G, Schurmans S, Levy JC, Lathrop M, Farrall M, Gauguier D. Polymorphisms in type II SH2 domaincontaining inositol 5-phosphatase (INPPL1, SHIP2) are associated with physiological abnormalities of the metabolic syndrome. Diabetes 2004;53:1900–1904.

Kenyon C. The plasticity of aging: Insights from long-lived mutants. Cell 2005;120:449–460.

Kerber RA, O'Brien E, Smith KR, Cawthon RM. Familial excess longevity in Utah genealogies. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2001;56:B130–B139.

Khymenets O, Fito M, Covas MI, Farre M, Pujadas MA, Munoz D, Konstantinidou V, De la Torre R. Mononuclear cell transcriptome response after sustained virgin olive oil consumption in humans: an exploratory nutrigenomics study. OMICS 2009;13:7-19.

Kirkwood TB. Time of our lives. What controls the length of life? EMBO Rep 2005;6:S4-8.

Konstantinidou V, Covas M-I, Munoz-Aguayo D, Khymenets O, De la Torre R, Saez G, Tormos MdC, Toledo E, Marti A, Ruiz-Gutiierrez V, Ruiz Mendez MV, Fito M. In vivo nutrigenomic effects of virgin olive oil polyphenols within the frame of the Mediterranean diet: a randomized controlled trial. FASEB J 2010;24:2546-2557.

Koshiyama H. Explanation of the Insulin Paradox From the Evolutionary Point of View. Jpn Clin Med 2012;3:21–24.

Kuro-o M. Klotho and aging. Biochim Biophys Acta 2009;1790:1049-58

Invidia L, Salvioli S, Altilia S, Pierini M, Panourgia MP, Monti D, De Rango F, Passarino G, Franceschi C. The frequency of Klotho KL-VS polymorphism in a large Italian population, from young subjects to centenarians, suggests the presence of specific time windows for its effect. Biogerontology 2010;11:67-73.

Ljungquist B, Berg S, Lanke J, McClearn GE, Pedersen NL. The effect of genetic factors for longevity: a comparison of identical and fraternal twins

in the Swedish Twin Registry. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 1998;53:M441–M446.

Lipsitz LA. Physiological complexity, aging, and the path to frailty. Sci Aging Knowledge Environ 2004;21;2004:pe16.

Lobo A, Launer LJ, Fratiglioni L, Andersen K, Di Carlo A, Breteler MM, Copeland JR, Dartigues JF, Jagger C, Martinez-Lage J, Soininen H, Hofman A. Prevalence of dementia and major subtypes in Europe: A collaborative study of population-based cohorts. Neurologic Diseases in the Elderly Research Group. Neurology 2000;54:S4–S9.

Lombard DB, Chua KF, Mostoslavsky R, Franco S, Gostissa M, Alt FW. DNA repair, genome stability, and aging. Cell. 2005;120:497–512.

Longo VD, Finch CE. Evolutionary medicine: from dwarf model systems to healthy centenarians? Science 2003;299:1342–1346.

Longo VD, Fontana L. Calorie restriction and cancer prevention: metabolic and molecular mechanisms. Trends Pharmacol Sci 2010;31:89-98.

Luchsinger JA. Insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes, and AD: Cerebrovascular disease or neurodegeneration? Neurology 2010;75:758–759.

Malovini A, Illario M, Iaccarino G, Villa F, Ferrario A, Roncarati R, Anselmi CV, Novelli V, Cipolletta E, Leggiero E, Orro A, Rusciano MR, Milanesi L, Maione AS, Condorelli G, Bellazzi R, Puca AA. Association study on long-living individuals from Southern Italy identifies rs10491334 in the CAMKIV gene that regulates survival proteins. Rejuvenation Res 2011;14:283-91.

Marçano AC, Burke B, Gungadoo J, Wallace C, Kaisaki PJ, Woon PY, Farrall M, Clayton D, Brown M, Dominiczak A, Connell JM, Webster J, Lathrop M, Caulfield M, Samani N, Gauguier D, Munroe PB. Genetic association analysis of inositol polyphosphate phosphatase-like 1 (INPPL1, SHIP2) variants with essential hypertension. J Med Genet 2007;44:603-5.

Majumdar V, Nagaraja D, Christopher R. Association of the functional KL-VS variant of Klotho gene with early-onset ischemic stroke. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2010;403:412-6. McCay CM, Crowell MF, Maynard LA. The effect of retarded growth upon the length of life span and upon the ultimate body size. J Nutr 1935;10:63–79.

Milionis HJ, Florentin M, Giannopoulos S. Metabolic syndrome and Alzheimer's disease: A link to a vascular hypothesis? CNS Spectr 2008;13:606–613.

Mitnitski AB, Mogilner AJ, Rockwood K. Accumulation of deficits as a proxy measure of aging. Scientific World Journal 2001;1:323-36.

Montesanto A, Dato S, Bellizzi D, Rose G, Passarino G. Epidemiological, genetic and epigenetic aspects of the research on healthy ageing and longevity. Immun Ageing 2012;9:6.

Murabito JM, Yuan R, Lunetta KL. The Search for Longevity and Healthy Aging Genes: Insights From Epidemiological Studies and Samples of Long-Lived Individuals. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2012;67:470-9.

Novelli V, Viviani Anselmi C, Roncarati R, Guffanti G, Malovini A, Piluso G, Puca AA. Lack of replication of genetic associations with human longevity. Biogerontology 2008;9:85-92.

Newton K, Dixit VM. Signaling in innate immunity and inflammation. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 2012;4:1–19.

Oeppen J, Vaupel JW. Demography. Broken limits to life expectancy. Science 2002;10;296:1029-31.

Omodei D, Fontana L. Calorie restriction and prevention of age-associated chronic disease.FEBS Lett 2011;585:1537–1542.

Perls TT, Wilmoth J, Levenson R, Drinkwater M, Cohen M, Bogan H, Joyce E, Brewster S, Kunkel L, Puca A. Life-long sustained mortality advantage of siblings of centenarians. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002;99:8442–8447.

Pitozzi V, Jacomelli M, Catelan D, Servili M, Taticchi A, Biggeri A, Dolara P, Giovannelli L. Long-term dietary extra-virgin olive oil rich in

polyphenols reverses age-related dysfunctions in motor coordination and contextual memory in mice: role of oxidative stress. Rejuvenation Res 2012;15:601-12.

Plum L, Schubert M, Bru[•] ning JC. The role of insulin receptor signaling in the brain. Trends Endocrino Metab 2005;16:59–65.

Porte D Jr, Baskin DG, Schwartz MW. Insulin signaling in the central nervous system: a critical role in metabolic homeostasis and disease from C. elegans to humans. Diabetes 2005;54:1264–1276.

Rakyan VK, Down TA, Maslau S, Andrew T, Yang TP, Beyan H, Whittaker P, McCann OT, Finer S, Valdes AM, Leslie RD, Deloukas P, Spector TD. Human aging-associated DNA hypermethylation occurs preferentially at bivalent chromatin domains. Genome Res 2010;20:434–439.

Rovillain E, Mansfield L, Caetano C, Alvarez-Fernandez M, Caballero OL, Medema RH, Hummerich H, Jat PS. Activation of nuclear factor-kappa B signalling promotes cellular senescence. Oncogene 2011;30:2356–2366.

Salminen A, Kaarniranta K. Genetics vs. entropy: longevity factors suppress the NF-kappaB-driven entropic aging process. Ageing Res Rev 2010;9:298–314.

Salminen A, Kaarniranta K. SIRT1: regulation of longevity via autophagy. Cell Signal 2009;21:1356-60.

Salminen A, Kauppinen A, Kaarniranta K. Emerging role of NF- κ B signaling in the induction of senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP). Cell Signal 2012;24:835–845.

Sanz C, Andrieu S, Sinclair A, Hanaire H, Vellas B; REAL.FR Study Group. Diabetes is associated with a slower rate of cognitive decline in Alzheimer disease. Neurology 2009;73:1359–1366.

Sebastiani P, Bae H, Sun FX, Andersen SL, Daw EW, Malovini A, Kojima T, Hirose N, Schupf N, Puca A, Perls TT. Meta-analysis of genetic variants associated with human exceptional longevity. Aging (Albany NY) 2013;5:653-61.

Skytthe A, Pedersen NL, Kaprio J, Stazi MA, Hjelmborg JV, Iachine I, Vaupel JW, Christensen K. Longevity studies in GenomEUtwin. Twin Res. 2003;6:448–454.

Soeda Y, Tsuneki H, Muranaka H, Mori N, Hosoh S, Ichihara Y, Kagawa S, Wang X, Toyooka N, Takamura Y, Uwano T, Nishijo H, Wada T, Sasaoka T. The inositol phosphatase SHIP2 negatively regulates insulin/IGF-I actions implicated in neuroprotection and memory function in mouse brain. Mol Endocrinol 2010;24:1965–1977.

Soerensen M, Dato S, Christensen K, McGue M, Stevnsner T, Bohr VA, Christiansen L. Replication of an association of variation in the FOXO3A gene with human longevity using both case-control and longitudinal data. Aging Cell 2010;9:1010-7.

Sofi F, Cesari F, Abbate R, Gensini GF, Casini A. Adherence to Mediterranean diet and health status: meta-analysis. BMJ 2008;337-344.

Sonnega A. The future of human life expectancy: have we reached the ceiling or is the sky the limit? Research Highlights in the Demography and Economics of Aging 2006 2006;8.

Steen E, Terry BM, Rivera EJ, Cannon JL, Neely TR, Tavares R, Xu XJ, Wands JR, de la Monte SM. Impaired insulin and insulin-like growth factor expression and signaling mechanisms in Alzheimer's disease–is this type 3 diabetes? J Alzheimers Dis 2005;7:63–80.

Suh Y, Atzmon G, Cho MO, Hwang D, Liu B, Leahy DJ, Barzilai N, Cohen P. Functionally significant insulin-like growth factor I receptor mutations in centenarians. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2008;105:3438-42.

Tanaka M, Sawada M, Yoshida S, Hanaoka F, Marunouchi T. Insulin prevents apoptosis of external granular layer neurons in rat cerebellar slice cultures. Neurosci Lett 1995;199:37–40.

Trichopoulou A, Orfanos P, Norat T, Bueno-de-Mesquita B, Ocké MC, Peeters PH, van der Schouw YT, Boeing H, Hoffmann K, Boffetta P, Nagel G, Masala G, Krogh V, Panico S, Tumino R, Vineis P, Bamia C, Naska A, Benetou V, Ferrari P, Slimani N, Pera G, Martinez-Garcia C, Navarro C, Rodriguez-Barranco M, Dorronsoro M, Spencer EA, Key TJ, Bingham S, Khaw KT, Kesse E, Clavel-Chapelon F, Boutron-Ruault MC, Berglund G, Wirfalt E, Hallmans G, Johansson I, Tjonneland A, Olsen A, Overvad K, Hundborg HH, Riboli E, Trichopoulos D. Modified Mediterranean diet and survival: EPIC-elderly prospective cohort study. BMJ 2005;330:991.

Troen BR. The biology of aging. Mt Sinai J Med 2003;70:3-22.

Vasto S, Candore G, Duro G, Lio D, Grimaldi MP, Caruso C. Alzheimer's disease and genetics of inflammation: A pharmacogenomic vision. Pharmacogenomics 2007;8:1735–1745.

Vasto S, Candore G, Listi` F, Balistreri CR, Colonna-Romano G, Malavolta M, Lio D, Nuzzo D, Mocchegiani E, Di Bona D, Caruso C. Inflammation, genes and zinc in Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res Rev 2008;58:96–105.

a: Vasto S, Rizzo C, Caruso C: Centenarians and diet: what they eat in the Western part of Sicily. Immun Ageing 2012;9:10.

b: Vasto S, Scapagnini G, Rizzo C, Monastero R, Marchese A, Caruso C: Mediterranean diet and longevity in Sicily: survey in a Sicani Mountains population. Rejuvenation Res 2012;15:184-8.

van den Berg E, Biessels GJ, de Craen AJ, Gussekloo J,Westendorp RG. The metabolic syndrome is associated with decelerated cognitive decline in the oldest old. Neurology 2007;69:979–985.

Vaupel JW, Carey JR, Christensen K, Johnson TE, Yashin AI, Holm NV, Iachine IA, Kannisto V, Khazaeli AA, Liedo P, Longo VD, Zeng Y, Manton KG, Curtsinger JW. Biodemographic trajectories of longevity. Science 1998;280:855–860.

Wang C, Li Y, Wible B, Angelides KJ, Ishii DN. Effects of insulin and insulin-like growth factors on neurofilament mRNA and tubulin mRNA content in human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 1992;13:289–300.

Wang Y, Sun Z. Current understanding of klotho. Ageing Res Rev 2009;8:43-51.

Weindruch R, Naylor PH, Goldstein AL, Walford RL Influences of aging and dietary restriction on serum thymosin alpha 1 levels in mice. J Gerontol 1988;43:B40–B42.

Wilcox G. Insulin and Insulin Resistance. Clin Biochem Rev 2005;26:19–39.

a: Willcox BJ, Willcox DC, He Q, Curb JD, Suzuki M. Siblings of Okinawan centenarians exhibit lifelong mortality advantages. J Gerontol A Biol Med Sci 2006;61:345–354.

Willcox BJ, Donlon TA, He Q, Chen R, Grove JS, Yano K, Masaki KH, Willcox DC, Rodriguez B, Curb JD. FOXO3A genotype is strongly associated with human longevity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2008;105:13987-92.

b: Willcox DC, Willcox BJ, Hsueh WC, Suzuki M Genetic determinants of exceptional human longevity. AGE 2006;28:313–332.

Wozniak M, Rydzewski B, Baker SP, Raizadai M. The cellular and physiological actions of insulin in the central nervous system. Neurochem Int 1993;22:1–10.

Xie L, Gong YY, Lian SG, Yang J, Yang Y, Gao SJ, Xu LY, Zhang YP. Absence of association between SNPs in the promoter region of the insulinlike growth factor 1 (IGF-1) gene and longevity in the Han Chinese population. Exp Gerontol 2008;43:962-5.

Yashin AI, Iachine IA, Harris JR Half of variation in susceptibility to mortality is genetic: Findings from Swedish twin survival data. Behav Genet 1999;29:11–19.

Yates FE. Complexity of a human being: changes with age. Neurobiol Aging. 2002;23:17-9.

Zimmet P, Alberti K G, Shaw J. Global and societal implications of the diabetes epidemic. Nature (London) 2001;414:782–787.

Zimmet P Z. Diabetes epidemiology as a tool to trigger diabetes research and care. Diabetologia 1999.42:499–518.

Ziv E, Hu D. Genetic variation in insulin/IGF-1 signaling pathways and longevity. Ageing Res Rev 2011;10:201-4.

Desidero ringraziare la Prof. ssa Candore e il Prof. Caruso per avermi guidata, aiutata e spronata durante questi tre anni di dottorato.

Un ulteriore ringraziamento va ai miei colleghi con i quali ho condiviso le "gioie e i dolori" di questa esperienza.

Infine, vorrei ringraziare il mio compagno e la mia famiglia che mi hanno sostenuta moralmente (e non solo) e sopportata durante i miei studi.